
South Hams Executive

Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 14th October, 2021

Time: 3.00 pm

Venue: Repton Room - Follaton House

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Pearce

Vice Chairman Cllr Bastone

Members: Cllr Baldry
Cllr Hawkins

Cllr Holway
Cllr Hopwood

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's register or local non pecuniary 
interest which they have in any item of business on the agenda (subject to the 
exception for sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Minutes 1 - 16

to approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held 
on 16 September 2021;

2.  Urgent Business

brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

3.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is likely to lead to the 
disclosure of exempt information;

4.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable pecuniary interests, 
including the nature and extent of such interests they may have in any items to 
be considered at this meeting;

5.  Public Question Time 17 - 18

a period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with questions submitted to the 
Council in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules;

6.  Executive Forward Plan 19 - 22

7.  Response to the Housing Crisis 23 - 56

8.  Tenancy Strategy Review 2020/21 57 - 92

9.  Planning Improvement Plan - Phase 2 Resources 93 - 100

10.  Write-Off Report 101 - 108

11.  Enhancing Biodiversity on Council Green Spaces - Consultation Feedback 109 - 162

12.  Garden Waste Service

To follow.



Executive 16.09.21

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE EXECUTIVE

HELD IN THE REPTON ROOM ON THURSDAY, 16 SEPTEMBER 2021

Members in attendance:
* Denotes attendance

Ø Denotes apologies for absence
* Cllr K J Baldry * Cllr T R Holway (part)
* Cllr H D Bastone (Vice Chairman) * Cllr N A Hopwood
* Cllr J D Hawkins * Cllr J A Pearce (Chairman)

Also in attendance:
Cllrs Hodgson, Long, Pannell, Smerdon and Taylor

Officers in attendance and participating:
All items Chief Executive; Section 151 Officer; Director of Place 

and Enterprise; Monitoring Officer; Director of 
Governance and Assurance; Head of Strategy and 
Projects; Senior Specialist – Parking; Senior Specialist – 
Place Making; Specialist – Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation; Case Management Team Leader; Business 
Management Case Management; Head of Practice – 
Commissioning and Contracts; and Democratic Services 
Manager

E.31/21 MINUTES

The minutes of the Executive meeting held on 9 September 2021 were 
confirmed as a true and correct record.

E.32/21 URGENT BUSINESS

The Chairman advised that she had no items of urgent business for 
consideration at this meeting.

E.33/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items 
of business to be considered during the course of this meeting but there 
were none made.

E.34/21 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

It was noted that six public questions had been received in accordance 
with the Executive Procedure Rules for consideration at this meeting.

Question 1 from Caroline Snow:

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Executive 16.09.21

“South Hams Council agreed in passing a recent motion to write to local 
MPs asking them to support the CEE Bill, and to the CEE Bill Alliance 
expressing its support and to inform the local media. Have these 
communications been sent and what did you write?”

In reply, the Leader advised that, following the meeting of Full Council 
on 15 July 2021 at which a Motion was passed to send letters of 
support for the Climate and Ecological Emergency (CEE) Bill to our 
local MPs and to the CEE Alliance, letters were duly sent on 23 July 
2021 to Sir Gary Streeter MP and Anthony Mangnall MP outlining the 
debate held at Council and requesting their support for the Bill in 
Parliament.  In addition, a letter registering the Council’s support was 
sent by email, also on 23 July 2021, to the CEE Alliance.

In response, a message of thanks was received on 28 July 2021 from 
the CEE Alliance.

Question 2 from Julia Ford

“What financial penalties are written into the contract with FCC and 
have they been applied yet; if not, why not?

In response, the lead Executive Member stated that the deductions 
were set out in Schedule 5 (the performance standards and remedies) 
of the waste and cleansing contract.  In addition, the Council had been 
rigorous in calculating the financial deductions and these were being 
deducted from the invoices from FCC.

Question 3 from Julia Sanders

“Will the Waste Collection Service run smaller vehicles on a permanent 
basis, to collect waste from small rural lanes?”

The lead Executive Member replied by stating that larger vehicles were 
used for efficiency wherever possible.  However, owing to the rural 
nature of the South Hams, there would always be a need for a number 
of smaller collection vehicles on the service.

Question 4 from Julia Sanders

‘Will the service run smaller vehicles to access drives for ASSISTED 
COLLECTIONS.  These are often long private drives (which are 
accessible by the smaller oil tankers for instance)?  These are the 
people who need help the most.’

In his response, the lead Executive Member informed that there were 
many long private drives in the district and, in most instances, waste 
was presented at the kerbside at the end of the drives.  This was to 
ensure that vehicles did not cause damage to residents’ drives as most 
were not to a standard suitable for heavy waste vehicles.  In some 
instances, smaller vehicles were used to access the lanes, or a part of 
them, for efficiency or if there was nowhere suitable to leave the waste 
near the highway.

Page 2



Executive 16.09.21

The Member also responded that assisted collections were assessed 
on an individual basis in consultation with the resident, contractor and 
Council to make sure that the solution was appropriate for the particular 
circumstances.

Question 5 from Julia Sanders

‘If the answer to Question 4 is negative, will they collect on foot and 
return bins to same?  Bearing in mind elderly and infirm and disabled 
cannot possible carry all these bins any distance.’

The lead Executive Member replied by referring the questioner to his 
response to Question 4.

Question 6 from Sue Burkill

‘Many Shaugh Prior residents live on private lanes and are experiencing 
frequent missed collections.  Is it true that private roads cannot be 
collected by FCC as they are not insured and, if so, as a SHDC vehicle 
has recently collected and co-mingled their waste, should they stop 
sorting it?

In his response, the lead Member advised that there were many long 
private drives in the district and, in most instances, waste was presented 
at the kerbside at the end of the drives.  This was to ensure that vehicles 
did not cause damage to residents’ drives as most were not to a standard 
suitable for heavy waste vehicles.

There were however a number of private lanes that had been traditionally 
collected from and unless the resident had been notified by the Council 
in advance, these should continue to be collected from.

Due to a number of reasons, including making sure collections take place 
on scheduled days and congestion at the sorting facility, the Contractor 
has changed the type of some of the collection vehicles and was now 
collecting recycling in a co-mingled manner from around 15,000 
households in the district.  This waste was then taken to a more 
sophisticated sorting facility before being hauled to reprocessing 
facilities.

Finally, the Member added that whilst it may not currently seem useful 
for residents to sort their waste between the recycling containers 
provided, it would ensure a quick and smooth transition back once the 
kerbside sort vehicles were operating in these areas again.  The Council 
therefore required residents to continue to sort their waste into 
appropriate containers.

 

Page 3



Executive 16.09.21

E.35/21 EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN

Members were presented with the most recently published version of the 
Executive Forward Plan that set out items on the agenda for Executive 
meetings for the next four months.

In discussion, it was noted that the next published version of the Forward 
Plan would be including a report on the Trade Waste service that was 
intended to be presented to a meeting of the Executive during early 2022.

E.36/21 BETTER LIVES FOR ALL – DRAFT STRATEGY

Members considered a report that summarised the responses to the 
public consultation exercise on the draft strategy and recommended that 
Council adopt the ‘Better Lives for All’ Strategy.  Furthermore, the report 
also set out the resource requirements to deliver the plan.

During her introduction, the Leader made particular reference to:-

- her pride at the outcome of the draft Strategy;
- the draft Strategy being ambitious but fully costed;
- the consultation response received from Devon County Council 

(DCC) informing that the draft Strategy was very closely aligned to 
the equivalent plan being developed by DCC.  The Leader felt this to 
be very encouraging; and

- performance management being a key aspect of the draft Strategy.

When proposing that the Council adopt the draft Strategy, the Leader 
asked for the following revision to be made to the ‘Improving Homes’ 
thematic delivery plan:

Specific deliverable:

Amend: ‘delivery of 100 homes per year across the South Hams and 
West Devon Joint Local Plan (JLP) area’ to say: ‘delivery of 300 homes 
over three years across the South Hams and West Devon Joint Local 
Plan (JLP) area.’

This proposal was subsequently seconded and when put to the vote was 
declared CARRIED.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the results of the consultation on the draft ‘Better Lives 
for All’ Strategy be noted;

Page 4



Executive 16.09.21

2. That Council be RECOMMENDED to adopt the ‘Better Lives 
for All’ Strategy and the thematic delivery plans at its meeting 
to be held on 23 September 2021, subject to the following 
revision being made to the ‘Improving Homes’ thematic 
delivery plan:

- ‘delivery of 300 homes over three years across the South 
Hams and West Devon Joint Local Plan (JLP) area.’

3. That the allocation of existing funding (as set out in paragraph 
7.2 of the published agenda report) be noted; and

4. That Council be RECOMMENDED to approve the additional 
cost pressure (amounting to £110,000) for 2022/23 and 
2023/24.

E.37/21 DELIVERY OF ELECTRIC CHARGING POINTS IN COUNCIL CAR 
PARKS

Consideration was given to a report that sought to recommend that the 
Council agreed to enter into a collaboration agreement with the Devon 
and Torbay Residential Chargepoint Scheme for the installation of 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points.-

In debate, the following points were raised:-

(a) With regard to timescales, officers informed that the procurement 
process would commence imminently and it was intended that the 
Charging Points would be installed during 2022.  Whilst recognising 
the extent of the challenges associated with delivering Charging 
Points, Members still emphasised the importance of them being 
installed as soon as was practically possible.  Specifically regarding 
the recent Deletti Project, officers committed to provide a progress 
update to all Members outside of this meeting;

(b) The Executive highlighted the reference in the published agenda 
report to Town and Parish Councils having the ability to apply for 
funding to install Charging Points on their own land and urged the 
wider membership to promote this opportunity amongst their local 
Town and Parish Councils.  In addition, whilst the current emphasis 
within the towns was acknowledged, Members requested that parish 
provision was also important;

(c) Local Ward Members felt that the current Charging Points provision 
along the A38 Corridor was insufficient and questioned the intentions 
of National Highways in this respect.  In reply, officers advised that 
they would contact National Highways outside of this meeting and 
provide an update to interested Members in the upcoming weeks;

Page 5



Executive 16.09.21

(d) When questioned, officers recognised the growing trend for usage of 
electric bikes and, whilst minimal consideration had been given to 
date for charging points provision, surveys were soon to be 
undertaken that would include reference to electric bikes;

(e) A number of Members welcomed the proposals and highlighted the 
close linkages to both the Better Lives For All Strategy and the 
adopted Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy.

It was then:

RESOLVED

That Council be RECOMMENDED to:

1. enter into a collaboration agreement with the Devon and 
Torbay Residential Chargepoint Scheme for the installation of 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points;

2. approve the potential site locations (as listed in paragraph 1.3 
of the presented agenda report) for the installation of Electric 
Vehicle Charging Points; and

3. enter a lease with the appointed supplier for a ten year period.

E.38/21 EXPENDITURE OF SECTION 106 CONTRIBUTIONS

The Executive considered a report that provided details of Section 106 
contributions received by the Council and how it is proposed to spend 
these contributions to enable the delivery of affordable housing, open 
space, sport and recreation and community facilities.

In discussion, reference was made to:-

(a) the quality of the agenda report.  Members wished to thank the lead 
officers for producing an excellent report and particularly welcomed 
the recent instances of investment in open space and play areas;

(b) recommendation 3.  A number of Members reiterated the role to be 
played by all Members in actively encouraging their local town and 
parish councils to bring forward projects that would facilitate the 
expenditure of Section 106 contributions;

(c) air quality modifications.  It was agreed that discussions would be 
held with Development Management officers regarding the ability for 
section 106 contributions to be used to make air quality modifications.

Page 6



Executive 16.09.21

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the amount of Section 106 contributions held at 31 March 
2021 (as set out in Appendix A of the presented agenda report 
(totaling £5.879 million) and the future expenditure proposals 
be noted;

2. That the process for consulting and informing Town and Parish 
Councils regarding Section 106 contributions be noted; and

3. That all Members be actively encouraged to continue to 
engage with their Town and Parish Councils to facilitate the 
expenditure of Section 106 contributions to enable the delivery 
of affordable housing, open space, sport and recreation and 
community facilities in their areas.

E.39/21 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2022/23 TO 2024/25

Consideration was given to a report that presented the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy from 2022/23 to 2024/25.

In discussion, Members were of the view that the recommendations 
constituted a sensible set of proposals for the three-year period from 
2022/23 to 2024/25.

It was then:

RESOLVED

That the Medium Term Financial Strategy has been considered 
and Council be RECOMMENDED to:

1. set the strategic intention to raise Council Tax by the 
maximum allowed in any given year, without triggering a 
Council Tax referendum to endeavour to continue to deliver 
services.  (NB. the actual Council Tax for any given year will 
be decided by the Council in the preceding February; 

Page 7



Executive 16.09.21

2. adopt the principle of using funding in the Business Rates 
Retention Reserve to smooth out the anticipated volatility in 
Business Rates income over the next three years, as set out 
in section 3.19 of the published agenda report.  The volatility 
is due to the business rates baseline reset anticipated in 
2023/24 (this will result in the Council having a negative 
Revenue Support Grant) and the predicted loss of Business 
Rates pooling gain at the same time.  It is recommended that 
funding held in the Business Rates Retention Reserve is 
retained for the purpose of smoothing out the business rates 
volatility / negative revenue support grant and should not be 
used for unrelated purposes, other than commitments already 
made or as part of one-off funding for the Corporate Strategy, 
for at least the next three years;

3. continue to respond to Government consultations on 
Business Rates Reform;

4. continue to actively lobby and engage with the Government, 
Devon MPs, South West Councils and other sector bodies 
such as the District Councils’ Network and the Rural Services 
Network, for a realistic business rates baseline to be set for 
the Council for 2023 onwards, when the business rates reset 
happens;

5. continue to lobby in support of the Government eliminating 
Negative Revenue Support Grant in 2022/23 (and thereafter) 
and continue to lobby for Rural Services Delivery Grant 
allocations which adequately reflect the cost of rural service 
provision; and

6. that the forecast budget gap for 2022/23 of £79,587 (0.8% of 
the current Net Budget of £9.68 million) and the position for 
future years be noted.  

E.40/21 MONTH 4 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22

Members considered a report that enabled them to monitor income and 
expenditure variations against the approved budget for 2021/22 and also 
provided a forecast for the year-end position.

In discussion, the following points were raised:-

(a) The fees and charges income that had been generated was 
welcomed;

(b) Whilst working in very difficult circumstances, Members wished to 
formally record their thanks to the Dartmouth Lower Ferry staff for 
operating an excellent service;

Page 8



Executive 16.09.21

(c) The finance team was thanked for the rigorous and diligent manner 
in which it had submitted the Council’s Delta Returns that had arisen 
as a result of the COVID-19 Pandemic.

It was then:

RESOLVED

That the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 
2021/22 financial year and the overall projected surplus of 
£92,000 (1% of the total Budget of £9.677 million) be noted.

E.41/21 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING

Consideration was given to a report that advised of the progress made 
on individual schemes within the approved Capital Programme, including 
an assessment of their financial position.

In discussion, Members regretted the time that it took for affordable 
housing sites to be developed and stressed the dire housing need 
throughout the South Hams.  The Leader informed that she was of the 
view that the Council needed to look at modular builds as a potential 
solution.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the content of the Monitoring Report be noted; and

2. That Council be RECOMMENDED to fund the overspend of 
£31,816 on the Dartmouth Ferry Workshop from the Capital 
Programme Contingency Reserve.

E.42/21 PLANNING IMPROVEMENT PLAN

Consideration was given to a report that sought to:

- update Members on the progress of the Development Management 
and Planning Enforcement review;

- seek adoption of the Planning Improvement Plan (‘the Plan’); and
- recommend approval of the use of the additional planning income to 

cover the cost of temporary staff within the Development 
Management service.

During discussion, particular reference was made to:-

(a) the planning portal on the Council website.  A Member highlighted 
some of the limitations associated with the current portal and hoped 
that these would be rectified when the new system was rolled out 
during the Autumn months;Page 9



Executive 16.09.21

(b) the Plan being an evolving document.  As the Plan evolved, Members 
were advised that a further report on the Planning Enforcement 
service was to be presented to a future Executive meeting and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee was to receive six-monthly 
progress updates against the adopted Plan;

(c) the Planning Enforcement service.  Members wished for 
improvements to be made quickly to the Planning Enforcement 
service and, whilst recognising the staffing issues that had been 
experienced, it was hoped that the service was now in a steadier 
position and could begin to combat the perception that the service did 
not have any power or influence to act.  Furthermore, the request was 
made to re-introduce the: case meetings between Enforcement 
Officers and local Ward Members; the publication of the monthly list 
of cases; and the current names and contact details for the officers;

(d) negotiations and extensions of time for planning applications to be 
determined.  In instances where extensions had been agreed for out 
of time applications, Members asked that this was cross-referenced 
(and evidenced) on the planning portal.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the Planning Improvement Plan (‘the Plan’) (as set out at 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report) be adopted;

2. That the ongoing performance of the Plan be monitored on a 
six-monthly basis with an update report being presented no 
later than March 2022; and

3. That Council be RECOMMENDED to fund the cost of 
temporary planning staffing resources of £171,900 (SHDC 
share of the cost), from the additional planning income 
generated in 2021/22 (as set out in Section 2.4 of the 
published agenda report).

E.43/21 FOLLATON HOUSE ACCOMMODATION USAGE

The Executive considered a report that set out some of the 
improvements that had been made to date at Follaton House and that 
highlighted opportunities to make further improvements.

In discussion, the following points were raised:-

(a) The overriding wish of the report being to make the best use of 
Follaton House whilst recognising the obligations of the Council to 
maintain the Listed Building;

Page 10



Executive 16.09.21

(b) Officers agreed to ask their Devon County Council colleagues to 
review their risk assessments in relation to the maximum number of 
attendees at a wedding held at Follaton House;

(c) The general appetite for hybrid meetings was stated by a number of 
Members.  In addition, it was confirmed that aspects of the equipment 
would be transportable should the need arise for meetings to be held 
outside of the Council Chamber and/or off-site;

(d) Once the works had been completed, it was hoped that Follaton 
House could be promoted again as a venue that could cater for and 
host external community groups.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That approval be given to the adaptation of the Council 
Chamber to support greater transparency of our democratic 
processes and embed, through technology, positive outcomes 
of the pandemic, leading to improved public engagement and 
accessibility;

2. That ongoing modernisation and uplift of the Old House 
(including the Council Chamber) be noted to meet the 
requirements of a modern Council;

3. That authority be delegated to the Head of Assets, in 
consultation with the Leader of Council and the lead Executive 
Member, for the selection of specific furniture and furnishings;

4. That Council be RECOMMENDED to fund the cost of a new 
Audio Visual system (of an estimated £130,000) from the New 
Burdens Revenue Funding received from the Government for 
the administration of the recent Business Grants (as set out in 
Section 4.3 of the published agenda report).  In addition, 
Council also be RECOMMENDED to fund up to £30,000 for the 
cost of furniture from the Repairs and Maintenance Earmarked 
Reserve; and

5. That the continuing strategy of increasing rental income from 
Follaton House by securing lettings throughout the building to 
meet demand of businesses and partners, including areas 
previously utilised by Council staff and Members be endorsed.  
(NB. this will lead to an increased use of the Old House by 
Council staff and Members). 

Page 11



Executive 16.09.21

E.44/21 WASTE AND RECYCLING UPDATE

The Executive considered a report that provided an update on:

- the actions of the Council to hold its waste and recycling contractor 
(FCC) to account for the poor performance experienced by some 
residents over the last six months;

- the temporary suspension of the Garden Waste collection service and 
FCC’s actions taken to ensure that it had sufficient staff to deliver all 
elements of the waste and recycling contract; and

- the current contractual performance of FCC.

In discussion, the following points were raised:-

(a) Members’ recognised external factors may be having a detrimental 
impact on service performance, but lamented service failures that 
were wholly within the control of FCC, for example repeat missed 
collections and missed assisted collections.  

Such were the failures and the apparent lack of any improvements, 
that an additional recommendation was PROPOSED and 
SECONDED and when put to the vote was declared CARRIED:

‘That Council be RECOMMENDED to RESOLVE that the waste and 
recycling collection service provided still falls below the standard 
required to meet the expectations of local residents.  Councillors were 
given assurance that the service would return to a ‘steady state’ by 
mid-July.  In the Council’s view, this is not the case.  We appreciate 
the efforts of officers and FCC to try and rectify the situation.  
However, if a solution cannot be found to deliver the ‘super recycling’ 
service as specified at the Full Council meeting on 6 December 2018 
by the end of 2021 the Council will be forced to consider exercising 
any available contractual rights in order to ensure that, going 
forwards, arrangements are in place which are capable of delivering 
a waste and recycling collection service that is fit for the 21st Century.’

(b) On behalf of the Council, Members and officers wished to put on 
record their unreserved apologies for the poor service that was being 
experienced by residents.  In so doing, Members and officers 
emphasised their commitment to rectifying the current problems;

(c) When reflecting on the extent of the problems that were being 
incurred, the lead Executive Member confirmed his belief that the 
round review exercise carried out by FCC had been a significant 
contributory factor;

(d) With regard to the initial suspension of the garden waste collection 
service, FCC had confirmed that there was insufficient time to delay 
the decision to enable for correspondence to be sent to all residents.  

Page 12



Executive 16.09.21

In the event of the service being suspended for a further period, some 
Members made the point that there were willing town and parish 
councils who could be utilised to support (and police) a green waste 
collection service.  As a consequence, officers were asked to 
consider the feasibility of such alternative means of collecting green 
waste.  In addition, a Member highlighted that there was plentiful 
desire amongst residents for home and/or community composting 
schemes and steps should therefore be taken to exploit this wish;

(e) In the event of a residents’ waste not being collected, a Member 
questioned whether they would be eligible for a Council Tax discount 
or refund.  In reply, the Section 151 Officer advised that the Council 
was unable to offer a discount as there was nothing within Council 
Tax legislation that would allow for a refund to be made.  This was 
due to Council Tax being a form of general taxation where the cost of 
public services was spread across all Taxpayers in the same way.  
Furthermore, Council Tax was not a charge for services provided and 
therefore was not a service charge.  In reply to a further question, the 
Section 151 Officer confirmed that the amount of Council Tax that 
was paying for the waste and cleansing services in the South Hams 
amounted to approximately £1 per week per household.  Finally, 
Members noted that this information was also set out for residents on 
the Council website as part of the ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ 
section;

(f) Some Members could not see any justification for the disparity in 
service delivery that was being witnessed between the Council and 
West Devon Borough Council and proceeded to question why best 
practice was not being shared;

(g) In respect of the reporting functionality on the Council website, it was 
felt that some minor revisions would not only improve the efficiency 
of the customer experience but would also reduce the involvement of 
Members having to continually contact officers;

(h) Members highlighted the weekly performance meetings with FCC 
representatives and stated their ongoing frustrations that the 
contractor was seemingly unable to both communicate effectively in 
advance and deliver on their promises;

(i) The lead Executive Member was thanked for his tireless efforts in 
such challenging circumstances.  In reply, the Member thanked his 
Executive colleagues for their unwavering support and also wished to 
put on record his thanks to the Head of Practice – Commissioning 
and Contracts and wished her well for her imminent retirement.

It was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the actions taken to ensure that the Council meets its 
statutory service requirements with regard to waste and 
recycling be noted;

Page 13



Executive 16.09.21

2. That the temporary suspension of the Garden Waste service 
be extended pending a further review at the next meeting of 
the Executive to be held on 14 October 2021;

3. That the Executive continue to hold FCC to account in relation 
to its performance and continue to monitor FCC’s resources 
and recruitment to ensure that the non-statutory garden waste 
collection service can resume as soon as is practically 
possible;

4. That all available options, including those options available 
under the contract, be considered to improve the performance 
of the waste and recycling service; and

5. That Council be RECOMMENDED to RESOLVE that the 
waste and recycling collection service provided still falls 
below the standard required to meet the expectations of local 
residents.  Councillors were given assurance that the service 
would return to a ‘steady state’ by mid-July.  In the Council’s 
view, this is not the case.  We appreciate the efforts of officers 
and FCC to try and rectify the situation.  However, if a solution 
cannot be found to deliver the ‘super recycling’ service as 
specified at the Full Council meeting on 6 December 2018 by 
the end of 2021 the Council will be forced to consider 
exercising any available contractual rights in order to ensure 
that, going forwards, arrangements are in place which are 
capable of delivering a waste and recycling collection service 
that is fit for the 21st Century.

E.45/21 REPORTS OF BODIES

(a) Audit Committee – 1 July 2021:

A.4/21 Internal Audit Annual Report

RESOLVED

That an extra 0.05 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) of Internal Audit 
resource be procured from the Devon Audit Partnership for the 
2021/22 Financial Year to backfill for the loss of Internal Audit 
staff time that has been used to administer the Business Grants 
for the Council to be funded from the New Burdens Funding 
received from the Government for administering the Business 
Grants.  (NB. this will ensure a robust Internal Audit environment 
by enabling the internal audit service to fully complete its Audit 
Plan for 2021/22.

A.5/21 Bi-Annual Strategic Risk Update

Page 14



Executive 16.09.21

RESOLVED

That the Leisure Services report that is to be presented to a 
future Executive meeting address the risk that the capacity of the 
Leisure Centres is significantly reduced whilst many overheads 
and operating costs remain the same and the mitigation for this 
risk.

(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF MINUTES E.36/21 
PARTS 2 AND 4, E.37/21, E.39/21, E.41/21 PART 2, E.42/21 PART 3, E.43/21 
PART 4 AND E.44/21 PART 5 (WHICH ARE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE 
COUNCIL MEETING TO BE HELD ON 23 SEPTEMBER 2021) WILL BECOME 
EFFECTIVE FROM 5.00PM ON MONDAY, 27 SEPTEMBER 2021 UNLESS 
CALLED IN, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18).

(Meeting commenced at 10:00 am and concluded at 1.25 pm)

______________________
Chairman

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC QUESTIONS AT EXECUTIVE MEETINGS

There is a period of 15 minutes at meetings of the Executive during which 
members of the public can ask questions about items on the agenda.

Any member of the public who wants to ask a question should ensure that the 
question:

a) is no more than 50 words in length;

b) is not be broken down into multiple parts;

c) relates to an item included on the agenda; and 

d) is suitable to be considered.  A question will not be suitable if, for example, 
it is derogatory to the Council or any third party; relates to a confidential 
matter; it is about a specific planning matter; or it is substantially the same 
as a question asked in the past six months.

Questions should be sent to Democratic Services 
(Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk) by 1.00pm on the Monday before the 
meeting (the deadline will be brought forward by a working day if affected by a 
bank holiday). This will allow a detailed response to be given at the meeting. If 
advance notice of the question cannot be given the Chairman of the meeting 
has the discretion to allow questions on matters that are felt to be urgent;

For any further advice on questions to the Executive, or to request a copy of 
the full Public Questions Procedure Rules, please contact Democratic Services 
(Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk)

Page 17

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – October 2021 | 1 

Executive Leader’s Forward Plan 

About the Forward Plan 

This is the Leader of Council’s provisional forward plan for the four months starting October 2021. It provides an 

indicative date for matters to be considered by the Executive. Where possible, the Executive will keep to the 

dates shown in the plan. However, it may be necessary for some items to be rescheduled and other items added.  

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Executive and all 

councillors, the public, and other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 

planning their contribution to policy development and holding the Executive to account.  

Local authorities are required to publish updated forward plans on a regular basis. The Plan is published on the 

Council’s website (www.southhams.gov.uk) 

About the Executive 

The Executive consists of six Councillors. Each has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s work. 

 Leader of the Council – Cllr Judy Pearce 

 Deputy Leader – Cllr Hilary Bastone 

 Lead Executive Member for Environment – Cllr Keith Baldry 

 Lead Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Jonathan Hawkins 

 Lead Executive Member for Climate Change and Biodiversity – Cllr Tom Holway 

 Lead Executive Member for Customer Service Delivery – Cllr Nicky Hopwood 

Further information on the workings of the Executive, including latest information on agenda items, can be 

obtained by contacting Democratic Services on 01803 861105 or by e-mail to 

democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk  

All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise 

indicated with * 

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

mailto:democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk


 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – October 2021 | 2 

Forward Plan from October 2021 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Homes Title:  Housing Options Paper 

Purpose:  To present a report 
that sets out some potential 
options in response to the 
Housing Emergency in the South 
Hams. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director 
of Place and 
Enterprise 

14 October 
2021 

 

Homes Title: Implementation of a New 
Tenancy Strategy 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that seeks to implement a new 
Tenancy Strategy that will 
supersede the current out of 
date version. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Cassandra 
Harrison 

Report of the 
Specialist – 
Affordable Housing 

14 October 
2021 

 

Environment Title: Garden Waste Service 

Purpose: In line with the 
Executive resolution arising 
from the meeting held on 16 
September 2021, to consider a 
report that reviews the current 
suspension of the Garden Waste 
service. 

Cllr Baldry / 
Steve 
Mullineaux 

Report of the 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

14 October 
2021 

 

Homes Title: Planning Service 
Improvement – Phase 2 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents a performance 
update on the Planning Service. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Drew Powell 

Report of Director 
of Governance and 
Assurance 

14 October 
2021 

 

Council Title: Write Off Report for 
Quarters 1 and 2 

Purpose: The Council is 
responsible for the collection of: 
Housing Rents, Sundry Debts 
including Housing Benefit 
Overpayments, Council Tax and 
National Non-Domestic Rates. 
The report informs Members of 
the debt written off for these 
revenue streams. 

Cllr Bastone /  
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Strategic 
Finance Lead 

14 October 
2021 

 

Page 20



 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – October 2021 | 3 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Environment Title: Meeting Our Biodiversity 
Target 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that sets out the Council’s 
recommendations in meeting its 
Biodiversity Target. 

Cllr Holway / 
Chris Brook 

Report of the 
Director of Place 
and Enterprise 

14 October 
2021 

 

Council Title:  Draft Revenue Budget 
Proposals 2022/23 

Purpose:  To consider a report 
that presents for consultation a 
set of draft Revenue Budget 
proposals for 2022/23. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Strategic 
Lead of Finance 

2 December 
2021 

 

Council Title:  Draft Capital Programme 
Proposals 2022/23 

Purpose:  To consider a report 
that presents for consultation a 
set of draft Capital Programme 
Budget proposals for 2022/23. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Strategic 
Lead of Finance 

2 December 
2021 

 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Title: Leisure Update 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that seeks to present a Leisure 
Update to the Executive. 

Cllr Hawkins / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director 
of Place and 
Enterprise 

2 December 
2021 

 

Health & 
Wellbeing 

Title: Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the results of the 
public consultation exercise on a 
revised Scheme and 
recommends its adoption. 

Cllr Hawkins / 
Issy Blake 

Head of Housing, 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

2 December 
2021 

 

Council Title: Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Report to Month 7 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Revenue 
Budget Monitoring Report to 
Month 7. 

Cllr Bastone / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Section 
151 Officer 

2 December 
2021 

 

Page 21



 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – October 2021 | 4 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Council Title: Community Housing 
Governance 

Purpose: to consider a 
governance report on the 
Community Housing initiative 

Cllr Pearce / 
Drew Powell 

Report of the 
Director 
Governance and 
Assurance 

2 December 
2021 

 

Council Title: Capital Programme 
Monitoring Report to Month 7 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Capital 
Programme Monitoring Report 
to Month 7. 

Cllr Bastone / 
Pauline 
Henstock 

Report of Head of 
Finance 

2 December 
2021 

 

Council Title: Draft Revenue Budget 
Proposals 2022/23 

Purpose: To recommend to Full 
Council for adoption a draft 
Revenue Budget for 2022/23 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Section 
151 Officer 

27 January 
2022 

 

Council Title: Draft Capital Programme 
Proposals 2022/23 

Purpose: To recommend to Full 
Council for adoption the draft 
Capital Programme for 2022/23 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Section 
151 Officer 

27 January 
2022 

 

Climate 
Change & 
Biodiversity 

Title: Climate Change & 
Biodiversity Action Plan: 6 
Month Review 

Purpose: in accordance with the 
Council resolution, to consider 
the six-month review of the 
Climate Change & Biodiversity 
Action Plan 

Cllr Holway / 
Drew Powell 

Report of the 
Director for 
Governance and 
Assurance 

27 January 
2022 

 

Environment Title: Trade Waste Service 

Purpose: To consider an options 
paper on the future of the Trade 
Waste Service 

Cllr Baldry / 
Steve 
Mullineaux 

Report of the 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

27 January 
2022 

 

 

Page 22



Report to: Executive 

Date: 14 October 2021

Title: Response to the Housing Crisis

Portfolio Area: Leader – Cllr Pearce

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  

Author: Chris Brook Role: Director, Place and 
Enterprise

Contact: Chris.Brook@swdevon.gov.uk

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That the Executive:

1. Approves the proposed measures to address the housing 
crisis as set out in Section 4.

2. Adopts the revised downsize incentive policy in Appendix 1.

3. Formally recognises and support a needs based, not proximity 
based principle for the spending of affordable housing 
contributions (within the legal framework of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, the governing 
regulations for planning agreements).

4. Recommends to Council to agree to form a Community Benefit 
Society (CBS); and delegates authority to the Director of 
Place and Enterprise in consultation with the Chief Executive; 
Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer; and with the 
Leader of the Council to undertake full due diligence and the 
necessary steps to set up the CBS.

5. Sends the letter in Appendix 2 to Rt Hon Michael Gove 
Secretary of State for  Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities.

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Chris.Brook@swdevon.gov.uk


1. Executive summary 

1.1. A Housing crisis was declared by South Hams District Council at its 
meeting held on 23rd September 2021.  A motion proposed by the 
Leader Cllr. Judy Pearce achieved unanimous support from those 
members present. The motion is set out in Section 3 below.

1.2. This report is the response to that crisis setting out the steps that 
will be taken to tackle the issues set out in the motion.

1.3. They include lobbying for:

1.3.1. Change in legislation to promote fairness between primary 
and second home council taxation.

1.3.2. Proposals to stimulate the delivery of homes once planning 
has been achieved.

1.3.3. A review of Local Housing Allowance (LHA) Rates for Housing 
Benefit purposes and Broad Market Area boundaries to better 
align them with the real cost of rented accommodation.

1.4. A needs based approach to spending of S106 off site affordable 
housing contributions, instead of being exclusively geographic

1.5. Revision to the Downsizing policy, to create movement in the 
market

1.6. Maximising the delivery of affordable homes through JLP policy.

1.7. Seeking to deliver low carbon high quality modular homes, such as 
Zedpods, aimed at the social rented market.

1.8. The work required to complete the formation of a housing company 
(as previously approved by Executive – reference Appendix 3) will 
be undertaken so as to support that delivery and other wider 
objectives.

2. Background

2.1. Affordability of housing in England, the South West, Devon and in 
particular in the South Hams has become an acute issue for our 
communities and those aspiring to become part of them. Not only 
is the issue of affordability felt by those looking to purchase but 
there is a severe lack of rented stock in the private rented market 
and high demand in the affordable/social rented category .

2.2. At a recent South West regional meeting of Homes England, NHS 
and Local Authorities, the NHS stated that their lower paid staff 
couldn’t afford homes nor can they get a home through the 
housing waiting list which continues to get longer (see Figure 2).  
Their consultants, who can afford homes, can’t take new jobs in 
the area as they can’t rent whilst they find a house to buy (see 
Figure 3).  So the issue is one of both affordability and supply of 
rented stock and it is affecting the fabric of the region.

2.3. Since 2002, the ratio of median house prices to median earnings in 
the South Hams has gone from 6.8 to over 10 (see figure 1).  The 
amount a bank or building society will lend has not materially 

Page 24



changed over that period, leading to the need for greater deposits 
required for those looking to acquire a home.

2.4. The average (median) salary in the South Hams in 2020 was £31k 
and the average house price was £310k.  A typical mortgage would 
therefore require a deposit of £170.5k, which is beyond the means 
of the vast majority of local people to save.  

2.5. All of this is set against a Joint Local Plan (JLP) that is exceeding its 
housing delivery targets (653 more than forecast by 2020), has a 
6.1 year land supply and the delivery of 87 more affordable homes 
than our policy position requires since the start of the plan period. 
The current market-led system for delivering homes simply is not 
working. So what is driving this crisis?

2.6. As with all structural problems, it is a combination of numerous 
interrelated issues for which there is no silver bullet:

 Foreign investment (pension funds etc.) account for as much as 
half of all new homes bought in prime London areas.  The 
commodity price is of no interest to these funds, only the increase 
in value and return they generate, pushing up London prices.

 London’s housing market and high salary earners who are cash rich 
buyers are recognising more value in alternative, desirable 
locations elsewhere in the Country. This ripples outwards and sets 
the cost of housing across England.

 Living preferences have changed, away from urban areas putting a 
disproportional pressure on rural housing markets. A trend 
accelerated during the post-Pandemic period.

 Rural planning constraints limit the locations and volumes of 
houses that can be built to meet this demand.

 The visitor economy provides a strong commercial driver towards 
holiday lettings. A crackdown on financial incentives for traditional 
landlords, whilst the holiday let market has been largely ignored, 
has further reduced availability of long term rented accommodation 
(see Figure 3),  

 The rich continue to get richer1 ensuring a continuous flow of 
money into second homes.  This further restricts the supply of 
accommodation for people who live, work or have family 
connections within our area. Whilst this has started to be 
addressed with principal resident policies on new homes, existing 
properties do not have such constraints.

 Land prices for new homes reflect the wider sales trends for 
existing homes, which continually lifts the baseline price for a new 
home.

 Developers prefer to build larger homes that sell for more money.  
This results in higher levels of under occupation and excess living 
space.  Without smaller homes being built there is little opportunity 

1 https://www.ucl.ac.uk/culture-online/ask-expert/your-questions-answered/why-
do-rich-keep-getting-richer-and-poor-keep-getting-poorer

Page 25



for downsizing and limited options for younger people and working 
age families.

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022
5.00

6.00

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

11.00

England South West Devon South Hams

Median House Price / Median Earnings Ratio

Figure 1 

310

330

350

370

390

410

430

450

Housing Waiting List - Band D
2018 - 2021

Figure 2

Page 26



Figure 3

2.6.1.Responding to such a complex set of issues will be 
challenging and require a multifaceted approach.  

3. Declaration of a Housing Crisis

3.1. The Council declared a housing crisis on 23rd September 2021.  The 
motion that was carried included twelve points, set out in full 
below.  This report will set out the proposed response to each of 
these points in turn, exploring what can be done, by whom and 
what impact it will have.  

3.2. The actions are wide-ranging, encompassing the need to lobby for 
legislation change to address structural problems as well as direct 
actions that the Council can take to address acute problems on the 
ground.

“In response to the almost complete lack of any rented 
accommodation available for six months or longer that local people 
and those working in the area can access, and the excessive rise in 
house prices locally due to second home-owners and those moving 
in from other areas since the pandemic, which has made house 
prices completely inaccessible for the great majority of local people, 
South Hams District Council resolves to declare a Housing Crisis.

It is fortunate that we have a new Housing 5 year Housing Strategy 
and Housing Actions in Better Lives for All, but as an expansion of 
them South Hams District Council should:

Page 27



3.2.1.Lobby government through our MPs and the LGA to allow 
council tax to be charged on plots with planning permission 
after a determined period, even if they haven’t been built out, 
so that developers are encouraged to build out sites without 
delay.

3.2.2. Lobby government through our MPs and the LGA to review 
the regulation of holiday accommodation, to ensure all holiday 
accommodation is suitably regulated and made subject to local 
planning policies and taxes.  We should appeal to Airbnb for a 
90-day rule as applicable in London and lobby DLUHC for a 
separate planning class for short term lets and a proper 
licensing system to cater for them.

3.2.3. Institute an immediate thorough review by the council of all 
holiday lettings in the District, including, but not restricted to, 
whether they have planning permission, whether they are 
paying council tax or business rates, as appropriate, for the 
accommodation, whether they comply with safety regulations, 
and to ensure they are paying appropriately for waste disposal.

3.2.4. Ask the JLP Team to review the thresholds and percentages 
of affordable housing on sites, and whether it would be 
appropriate at the Plan Revision to increase these so that the 
percentage of First Homes imposed by the government 
becomes in addition to the present 30% affordable homes 
rather than part of it.

3.2.5. Promote regular Landlord Forums and run a further campaign 
to publicise the advantages to landlords of Seamoor Lettings.

3.2.6. Work closely with our main Registered Providers to ensure 
best occupancy of stock, so that where tenants are prepared to 
downsize, not only are they given a priority banding to be able 
to access a smaller property but support to help them move 
available.

3.2.7. Use some of the affordable housing reserve to increase 
payments made to anyone downsizing to help make moving 
more attractive and affordable.

3.2.8. Use any Section 106 affordable housing contributions as soon 
as possible to help fund developments anywhere in the District 
where the terms of the Section 106 Agreement permit this.

3.2.9. Campaign for changes to the Broad Market Area to better 
reflect the costs of rents in the South Hams.

3.2.10. Promote the development of an exemplar site of low 
carbon modular housing such as ZEDpods, to show that 
developments like this can be both stylish and great to live in.  
They can offer many advantages over traditional build and 
could help, amongst other things, to alleviate the shortage of 
one bedroomed accommodation in the District.” 

3.2.11. To actively seek opportunities to invest in Council 
owned social housing with high sustainability specification, to 

Page 28



support those on a low income who are unable to afford 
‘affordable’ rental housing; and

3.2.12. To lobby Government to allow local councils to be able 
to charge up to 200% Council Tax on second / holiday homes 
as they do in Wales.

4. The response to the Crisis

Lobby for positive change & fairness

4.1. The first two and last points in the declaration (3.2.1, 3.2.2 and 
3.2.12) focus on lobbying government for regulatory changes.  
Point one seeks to address the supply side of this crisis, to ensure 
that consented dwellings get delivered.  

4.2. At the 2020 monitoring point there were planning permissions in 
place for 7,643 new homes in the South Hams.  Of these, 7,116 
homes had not yet started to be built.  While there are a number of 
reasons for this, we would like to ‘incentivise’ developers to 
implement their planning permissions as soon as practicable, and 
using a council tax mechanism provides a clear pathway for 
enabling consistent delivery.  Any income generated should be 
used toward the delivery of affordable schemes that are 
progressing.

4.3. Points 3.2.2 , 3.2.3 and 3.1.12 represent the need for fairness.  
The visitor economy provides £260m into the local South Hams 
economy each year and is one of the largest employment sectors.  
It is possible to support and enhance this, yet ensure that those 
whose businesses prosper from it within the accommodation sector 
contribute to the cost of providing the services they depend on.

4.4. By way of example, if all of the second homes in Salcombe that 
currently avoid council tax by electing to pay for business rates (if 
they are available to let for more than 140 days) and then 
benefitting from small business rates relief, were to switch back to 
council tax, it would raise an additional £655,000 in council tax 
(average band E property).  Across the district, the same change 
would generate an additional £3.5million in council tax income 
collected (average Band D property), of which the District Council 
would get its share (8%) which could be pumped back into tackling 
the housing problem. This would require a change to Section 66 
(2B) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

4.5. The Council also has a role to play to ensure that the 
accommodation is fit for purpose in its widest sense; safe, 
regulated and planning approved.  The quality of accommodation 
in the visitor market is rarely a problem, but the use of 
accommodation that doesn’t have the right planning approval is 
more common.  Within the resources the Council has (including the 
changes proposed through the planning improvement reports to 
Executive), it will seek to rectify this position.  

Page 29



4.6. It will undertake a pilot project in a discrete coastal area, to 
compare and analyse the data streams it holds and determine what 
effective action can be undertaken.  This will include all of the data 
held across, planning, business rates, domestic and commercial 
waste streams.  This pilot project will start with immediate effect.

Maximising the delivery of affordable homes through policy

4.7. 3.2.4 – the JLP affordable housing threshold – is a very powerful 
tool.  As set out in the background section the existing policy is 
being very effective and delivering 30% of new homes as 
affordable, but rightly the ambition of this Council is to do more 
and go further.  

4.8. To be successful to implement the members expectation in two 
years time when the JLP is reviewed, officers commit to working up 
the necessary evidence base and housing need analysis to ensure 
that the members will have a choice in the future to go further 
than the JLP currently does.  It will remain a choice, because the 
cost of delivering affordable housing has to be balanced against all 
of the other requirements and to increase delivery of one area will 
reduce another. 

4.9. The Council has recently appointed a housing need data analyst on 
a temporary contract to start this work, which will inform both the 
Housing Strategy, S106 negotiations, and the JLP review at the 
required time.

Working with our key partners

4.10. 3.2.5, looks to promote further landlords forums. Our past 
experience has shown limited appetite for attendance and 
engagement at these events, and those landlords in attendance 
were already well engaged.  We have surveyed our local landlords 
and as a result propose the following actions:

  Establish a registration opportunity for landlords to sign up for 
updates

 Promote our own Seamoor Lettings option through social media, 
Localities van livery, envelope advertising during mailshots and via 
website. 

 Producing a bi annual information update bulletin – to include 
Environmental Health, licencing, deposit, Energy performance 
certificate information etc. to be emailed to all registered landlords

 Create ‘Tenancy Packs’ with check lists and advice on how to start 
and end a tenancy lawfully to be provided via the website and/or on 
registration. 

 Promote landlord/tenant advice service to encourage tenants to 
suggest the registration scheme to their Landlords

Page 30



4.11. This work will be facilitated by a temporary 6 month post currently 
being advertised.

4.12. Downsizing – 3.2.6 & 3.2.7 – and the need to create movement in 
the housing chain can be addressed though engagement and 
through direct action. There are currently 70 households registered 
on Devon Home Choice who would like to downsize. The Council 
already has a policy of providing one off payments to encourage 
downsizing, which is included in Appendix 1.  

4.13. It is recommended as part of this report that the payment is 
increased from £1000 plus £500 per bedroom to up to £5000 in 
areas of high demand and the amendments to the policy in 
Appendix 1 are adopted. 

4.14. The existing policy has been invoked 28 times in the past three 
years to 2021 at a cost of £48,000; an average of £16,000 / yr.  
The new policy is hoped to be sufficiently attractive to increase 
downsizing and so may run to a cost to the Council of in excess of 
£20,000 per year.

4.15. Following the adoption of the policy, targeted communication will 
be sent to these households, including offering home visits and 
other targeted measures to overcome the barriers to downsizing.

4.16. This will be coupled with closer interaction and engagement with 
our Registered Providers (RPs) at both a strategic and operational 
level. We have arranged to meet with the RP’s with stock in our 
area and discuss the priorities they have made collectively as the 
Homes for the South West Group and how we can align with them 
to ensure delivery in our area.

Providing capital funding where it is needed; taking a big 
picture view – S106 agreements (3.2.8)

4.17. Affordable housing is often delivered on site as part of new 
development, but sometimes offsite contributions are taken in lieu.  
This is a case by case decision taken at the time of the planning 
application and informed by the housing team.  

4.18. The S106, the legal contract that enables the financial contribution, 
will be worded in such a way as to ensure that the money can be 
spent where there is need across the District, based on an audit 
trail showing the relationship to the development and need. 

4.19. That need is well understood and as set out above, will continue to 
be refined and updated by further the housing need analysis and 
the emerging future JLP evidence base.  

4.20. Members are asked to formally recognise a principle that supports 
the allocation of affordable housing contributions based on need 
first, proximity to the planning application location second, and 
support it within their communities (within the legal framework of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, the 
governing regulations for planning agreements). 

Page 31



Seek broad market area boundary reforms (3.2.9)

4.21. A Broad Market Area (BMA) is an area ‘within which a person could 
reasonably be expected to live having regard to facilities and 
services for the purposes of health, education, recreation, personal 
banking and shopping, taking account of the distance of travel, by 
public and private transport, to and from those facilities and 
services.’ 

4.22. In the South Hams there are 2 Broad Market Areas which are 
South Devon, which incorporates the majority of the District and 
Plymouth, which includes Ivybridge, Modbury, South Brent and 
surrounding areas. The Local Housing Allowance (LHA) is a rate 
within the BMA which is the 30th centile of all the rents – including 
RP’s affordable and social rents.

4.23. In 2012 the Government delinked the LHA rates from prevailing 
rent levels and then were frozen for 4 years from 2016. In 2020 
there was an inflationary increase, but this did not address the 
rises in rents during that period. 

4.24.  The LHA rates are strongly influenced in the east of the District by 
South Devon (Torbay) and in the west by Plymouth. For example, 
the 2 bed housing allowance in the eastern side of the District is 
£598.35 (South Devon BMA) and in the west £583.39 (Plymouth 
BMA) yet on the 23rd September the 2 properties available in the 
District of this size, were both flats priced at £850 per calendar 
month. 

4.25. It is incredibly challenging to rent privately if you require 
assistance through Housing Benefit or Universal Credit. 

4.26. The Council will actively lobby to request a reassessment of the 
LHA annually and an annual inflationary increase and to further 
explore  the impact of a Broad Market Area specifically for the 
South Hams.

Delivery of modular low carbon homes by the Council (3.2.10)

4.27. The quality, sustainability and environmental benefits of modular 
(off site construction) housing is well understood.  It has not been 
adopted by the volume house builders because building regulations 
and the codes governing the environmental and sustainable 
standard to which houses must be built in England have remained 
very low.  As a direct result of this, it is still cheaper for volume 
house builders to use traditional construction. 

4.28. In low volumes, the economics paint a better picture but the 
market is still slow to respond. It needs brave Councils and other 
socially focused aspiring landlords to promote, deliver and drive 
market shift.

4.29. As an appropriate response to the climate emergency declaration 
we need to show real leadership and drive the standard of new 
homes significantly higher, and achieve this in the short-term.  

Page 32



4.30. The formation of a housing company, a decision previously agreed 
by the Executive [Housing Company: Executive Agenda item 14 of 
the 6th Feb 2020, see Appendix 3], will be concluded to support 
this and wider corporate housing delivery.  The company will be 
formed as a Community Benefit Society.  The Society is to be 
formed for the benefit of the community and to meet the following 
charitable objectives: 

4.31. The business of providing and managing housing, including Social 
Housing (3.2.11), and providing assistance to help house people 
and the provision of associated facilities, amenities and services for 
those in financial hardship or for the relief of aged, disabled 
(whether physically or mentally) or chronically sick people.

4.32. Such other charitable purposes beneficial to the community 
consistent with the objects above as the board shall in its absolute 
discretion determine.

4.33. The formation of the company will specifically enable the delivery 
of affordable and social rental units to local families, let on an 
assured shorthold bases through: 

 Accommodation purchased or developed using Local Authority 
capital funding. 

 Management of Section 106 and Windfall property contributions 
 Development and purchase using grant funding 
 Provision of specialist accommodation 

4.34. Accommodation leased to the Community Benefit Society will be 
managed through the SeaMoor Lettings management service.  An 
additional benefit of the increase in management portfolio is to 
raise the profile of SeaMoor lettings with a view to becoming the 
preferred letting agency for the South West; resulting in additional 
private let provision for local households. 

5. A holistic approach

5.1. Better Homes, Better Lives is the Council’s 5 year plan setting the 
ambition around how we can tackle the issues set out in this paper.  
It includes a number of specific actions in the accompanying Action 
Plan (AP) that will address the concerns raised.  Of particular note 
are the following:

5.2. Seek to expand our own in house private letting service, Seamoor 
Letting (AP page 18)

5.3. Develop and promote an intermediate housing register specifically 
for key workers (AP page 18)

5.4. Support encourage and offer management services to HMOs (AP 
page 19)

5.5. Address under occupation and overcrowding in social housing stock 
through the Tenants Incentive scheme (AP page 20)

5.6. Purchase land to support strategic housing delivery (AP page 3)

Page 33



6. Proposed Way Forward 

6.1. That the Executive support the recommendations associated with 
this report, so as to enable officers to respond to the housing crisis 
motion declared at Council 23rd September 2021.  

7. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Legal/Governance Y The Council has powers across all of its functions to 
help shape and boost housing provision whether by 
providing houses itself (Housing Act 1985 section 
17) or through a housing company (Local 
Government Act 2003 section 95 or Localism Act 
2011 section 1); facilitating delivery by others by 
land assembly (Local Government Act 1972 and 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 section 226); 
bringing vacant properties back into use (Housing 
Act 2004); or more strategically, through planning 
policy; and the grant of planning permissions and 
planning agreements (Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 section 106).  

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money

Y The Downsizing policy if successful will continue to 
require funding, up to an estimated £20k per 
annum from the affordable housing reserve.

The formation of a housing company will incur a 
cost from the approved budget of £40k (see 
appendix 3).

Direct delivery of Zedpods or other modular 
housing schemes will be the subject of further 
reporting and business case.

Risk Y
Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Y Homes

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

Y Positive impact should the Council deliver low 
carbon, high quality homes.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

No implications.

Page 34



Safeguarding No implications.  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

No implications.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

No implications.

Other 
implications

None at this stage.

Supporting Information
None

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Downsizing policy
Appendix 2 – Letter to Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities, Michael Gove MP.
Appendix 3 – Previous report to Executive on Housing Company 

Background Papers: 
Better Homes, Better Lives – South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 
2021-2026

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Tenant’s Incentive Scheme Policy                                

1         Introduction

1.1 There is a shortage of affordable housing, particularly family housing, in South 
Hams.  This situation is clearly evidenced by both district wide and Parish 
housing needs surveys.

1.2 One of the priorities of the Homes Strategy is to meet affordable housing need.  
To maximise the use of the existing social rented housing stock is a key element 
within this, as seen in other Council Policy e.g. the allocations policy and 
banding under the Choice Based Lettings Scheme.  

1.3 It is recognised that moving house, particularly for the elderly, can be difficult, 
stressful and costly and that barriers to moving to more appropriate 
accommodation can often be emotional as well as practical or financial.

2 Key Objectives

2.1 To maximise the use of the existing social rented housing stock in the South 
Hams.  

2.2 To free up family sized units within the existing social rented housing stock by 
offering an incentive to move to smaller accommodation.  The incentive to 
include a package of support where appropriate.

2.3 To increase the amount of family sized accommodation available. 

2.4     To find out more about barriers to tenants moving from large accommodation. 
To find out more about their rehousing needs.

3 Policy

3.1 The Council will offer the Tenant’s Incentive to households seeking to move 
within RPs (Registered Providers) housing stock who meet the following criteria:

 Are an existing Housing Association tenant on an Assured tenancy, 
living in the South Hams District area and whose Housing Association 
landlord confirms that the nomination rights for the property being 
vacated will be given to South Hams District Council.

 Are in a family sized house  – 2 bedrooms or larger 
 Want to move to a property that is at least 1 bedroom less
 Are registered on Devon Home Choice
 Where the move will not result in overcrowding

3.2 The Scheme will be administered via the Housing Register. Those tenants 
indicating that they wish to move to a smaller property will be awarded a high 
housing need or medium housing need band dependent on the number of 
bedrooms being released, to enable them to apply for suitable properties 
advertised with Devon Home Choice. It will be made clear that the band will only 
apply if they bid for appropriate smaller properties.  

3.3 The Incentive will be set at a standard rate of: 
Page 37



 
 £1,000 fixed payment, and
 £500 per bedroom released

For example:
 Household A who moves from a 3 bedroom house to a 1 bedroom 

property will receive £2,000 in total. This is made up of the £1,000 fixed 
payment and £1,000 for releasing 2 bedrooms.

 Household B who moves from a 2 bedroom house to a 1 bedroom 
property will receive £1,500 in total. This is made up of the £1,000 fixed 
payment and £500 for releasing 1 bedroom.

These incentive payments could be used by the household in any way they 
wish but are intended to help with removal expenses. 

3.4 Where recognised local pressures on existing housing stock exists discretionary 
payment may be offered to increase the award total to up to £5000.  The 
decision on whether a tenant is offered this discretionary top up will be agreed 
by two officers.

3.5 The scheme will be administered via Housing Association’s internal transfer 
policies, with tenants indicating that they wish to move to a smaller property 
being prioritised. All units freed up by the scheme will be allocated to people on 
Devon Home Choice, in accordance with the usual procedures.

3.6 The Scheme will be marketed locally and within RPs to maximise take up from 
existing tenants who are under occupying. It will be made clear that this is a 
limited offer until the remainder of the budget is spent. 

4        Monitoring

4.1 Outcome monitoring will take place at in order to meet the objective of learning 
about the barriers to moving, especially for the elderly – feedback to be sought 
following the move by a housing officer.

4.2 The scheme is financed through the Housing Investment Programme Budget 
and will be monitored quarterly.

5         Policy Review

5.1     The policy will be reviewed annually.

5.2      Feedback will be sought from RPs and the support agencies.

6         Diversity and Equal Opportunities

6.1 South Hams District Council is committed to reflecting the full diversity of the 
community it serves and to promoting equality of opportunity for everyone.

6.2 This policy and all associated documentation and leaflets can be made 
available in large print, Braille, tape format or in any other languages, on 
request.

September 2021

Page 38



  

 

Direct telephone: 01803 61488 
E-Mail: Judy.Pearce@swdevon.gov.uk  

Rt Hon Michael Gove MP Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities 
By Email: michael.gove.mp@parliament.uk   

Our ref:  Leader/CB/SW 
6 October 2021 

 

Dear Michael Gove MP 
 
As Leader of South Hams District Council I would like to congratulate you on your 
appointment as Housing Secretary and head of the newly formed Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities.   
 
Our Council has declared a housing crisis in response to the continued failure of the 
market to provide accommodation at the right price and tenure to support our resident 
communities.  The issue is understandably acute in our coastal areas, where millions of 
visitors come to enjoy the beaches and beauty of South Hams each year, increasing 
demand for short term holiday lets and second homes (over 50% in some communities).   
 
I write to you now to seek the following four actions that will have a significant, timely and 
targeted positive impact for our residents: 
 

1) Stimulating housing delivery post planning 

2) Second home regulation and closing the business rates loop hole 

3) The ability to charge up to 200% council tax on second homes / holiday homes 

4) A review of the Broad Market Area boundaries 

Stimulating housing delivery post planning 
 
As of 2020 monitoring point, 7,643 homes had planning permission of which 7,116 homes 
had not yet started to be built.  The supply of homes, if left to the market, will always strike 
a balance to support house price inflation and this is an area where I believe we have a 
duty to influence market conditions to encourage supply, even though housing delivery 
exceeds the target set through our Joint Local Plan. 
 
Council tax should be levied on consented homes that have not been constructed after two 
years up to the point that the planning permission expires.   
 
 
 

Page 39

mailto:Judy.Pearce@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:michael.gove.mp@parliament.uk


 
 
Second home regulation and closing the business rates loop hole 
 
Nationally we have an established philosophy centred on local taxation to fund local 
services through Council tax.  The current business rates loop-hole for second homes acts 
in opposition to that philosophy allowing second homes to avoid paying council tax and 
business rates and therefore contributing nothing towards the cost of public services upon 
which they place a significant strain. 
 
Domestic properties should be treated in the same way as all council taxpayers and pay 
council tax, irrespective of whether they are let for part of the year or not.  On behalf of our 
Council, I ask you to close that loop hole by amending Section 66 (2B) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 as a matter of urgency. 
 
We also wish to go further and have the ability to charge up to 200% council tax on second 
/ holiday homes. 
 

Separately, mirroring in areas outside of London like ours, the provisions in Section 25 of 
the Greater London (Powers) Act 1973 so that planning permission would be required if a 
property was to be let out on a short-term basis for more than 90 nights per calendar year, 
would drive a re-balance in the rental market ensuring that both holiday accommodation 
and long term rental accommodation is available in the market. 
 
A review of the Broad Market Area boundaries 
 
The cost of living in rural South Hams is significantly higher than that of its urban 
neighbours Torbay and Plymouth – rent being the most significant factor.  Unfortunately for 
our residents most in need, the Local Housing Allowance is significantly influenced by the 
lower rent to the east and west.   
 
A more regular review of the rates and the boundaries to reflect the rural and urban cost of 
living would ensure our communities are no longer deprived of a fair system of support, 
are truly accessible to all and can continue to thrive. 
 
I would welcome the opportunity to personally show you around my own ward of Salcombe 
and Thurlestone so you can see first-hand the impact that the housing crisis is having on 
our communities and driving an ever larger wedge between those that have and those that 
have not. 
 
Kind regards 
 

 
 
Cllr Judy Pearce 
Member Salcombe and Thurlestone Ward 
Leader, South Hams District Council 
 
 

Page 40



Report to: Executive

Date: 6th February 2020

Title: Housing Company

Portfolio Area: Homes- Cllr Bastone

Wards Affected: All Wards

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Date next steps can be taken:
Full Council 13 February 2020

Author: Chris Brook Role: Director Place and 
Enterprise

Contact: chris.brook@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

1) That the Executive endorse the setting up of a Housing 
Company in the form of a Community Benefit Society (CBS).

2) That the Executive approves a spend of up to £40,000 
funded from the Affordable Housing Earmarked Reserve, to set up 
the CBS.

3) That the Executive recommends to Council to:

a) Form a Community Benefit Society (CBS)

b) Delegate all authority needed to undertake full due 
diligence and establish the CBS in the form set out in this report, 
to the Director of Place and Enterprise, S151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

1 Executive summary 

1.1 This report sets out the options before the Council for the 
formation of a Wholly Owned Company to support the Council own 
and manage rented housing stock.

1.2 It looks at the different company structures, finance and 
governance position and confirms the legal powers available to 
undertake the work.

Page 41

mailto:chris.brook@swdevon.gov.uk


1.3 It recommends the formation of a Community Benefit Society, 
which as a result of its charitable status does not have to pay 
Stamp Duty Land Tax or Corporation Tax, but can’t pass profits 
back to the Council.

1.4 The CBS would be capable of holding the affordable housing 
developed by the community housing programme and also that 
purchased from developers.

2 Background 

2.1 Following a report to the Overview & Scrutiny Panel in November 
2019 discussing the challenges of the housing market in the South 
Hams, this report sets out why the formation of a housing 
company would be of benefit to the Council in tackling these 
challenges and recommends the form it should take.

2.2 Such a company would be wholly owned by the Council and 
closely controlled by it.  Councils have the legal power to set up 
wholly owned companies under their general power of competence 
(under the Localism Act 2011).

2.3 Councils are able to provide finance (lending) to wholly owned 
companies under their investment powers (set out in the Local 
Government Act 2003); and

2.4 In the case of a Local Housing Company (LHC), the power to 
provide financial assistance (set out in Section 24 Local 
Government Act 1988 (Section 24)).

3 The Strategic Case – Does the Council need an LHC?

3.1 The Community Housing Team have a forward delivery 
programme for 2020 – 2025.  On 21 March 2019, Council 
approved (Minute CM 74/18) Community Housing Development 
expenditure of up to £8.5 million, to build out four Community 
Housing schemes, delivering 55 residential units (as detailed in 
the report to the Executive on 14th March 2019). Houses will be 
constructed during 2020/21 and will be offered to the market in a 
range of tenures, affordable rent, discount sale and open market 
sale. 

3.2 Separately the Council is considering the acquisition of affordable 
rented homes from developers on a case by case basis where it 
delivers improved place making and home delivery outcomes. 

3.3 It is anticipated therefore that in 2020 the Council will become the 
owner of new rented housing stock, which will need managing, 
maintaining and letting to tenants.

3.4 The Council is better placed to manage into the long term rented 
housing stock if it is held in a housing company.

3.5  The Council will develop the community housing schemes in-
house and transfer only the completed rental units to the LHC and 
sell the market and sub-market sale homes itself.

Page 42



3.6 The benefits of holding rented stock in a housing company are:

3.6.1 The Council would otherwise be required to form a Housing 
Revenue Account once more than 50 units are developed

3.6.2 Development activity and financial returns are ring fenced (in 
the company)

3.6.3 Easier to form an exit strategy or sell in the future

3.6.4 Less susceptible to difficulties due to central government policy

3.6.5 Profit making activities are permitted 

3.6.6 A company structure can create the ability to lever in additional 
financing, skills or resources.

3.6.7 Any additional resource / activity does not have to be paid for 
from existing Council revenue budgets (although some costs 
may be capitalised).

3.6.8 Procurement is likely to be less onerous than in other delivery 
models

3.6.9 The company can be structured so that it does not need to pay 
Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT).

3.6.10 A Company can also be structured such that it does not need to 
pay corporation tax.

3.6.11 It can still be closely controlled by the Council

3.7 In some company structures any profit has to be retained within 
the company and can only be spent furthering the aims of that 
company (housing delivery).  This in effect protects any future 
capital and reserves from being used for other Council functions 
and maximises its ability to make a positive difference in the 
sections of the housing market that need the most help.

3.8 This would align with our developing housing strategy which sets 
out a desire for this Council to proactively seek to deliver houses 
in the affordable sector to supplement and improve the choice and 
quality of life for communities in need of affordable housing.

Page 43



3.9 The strategic case therefore exists and would take the following 
form:

Council

LHC

Tenants

Loan

Wholly 
owned 
subsidiary

Housing 
management 
services

Assured 
Tenancies 

Loan
Repayment

4 The Economic Case – Is it value for money and what are the 
options?

4.1 The LHC itself can take a number of forms: 

4.1.1 Company Limited by Shares (CLS)

4.1.2 Company Limited by Guarantee (CLG) 

4.1.3 Community Benefit Society (CBS)

4.2 There is a fork in the road at this stage which is defined by the 
philosophy of the Council in its approach to direct housing 
delivery.  Is it primarily driven by the desire to improve the 
housing outcomes of the communities it serves or is it driven by 
the desire to make a profit, or perhaps both?

4.3 If:

4.3.1 the Council wants the LHC to be capable of distributing profits 
generated by its activities, a CLS would be the corporate form 
of choice;

4.3.2 if the ability to distribute profit to the Council is not an 
imperative but delivery of housing outcomes is a priority, the 
options of a CLG and a CBS warrant closer scrutiny. 

4.4 Both a CLG and a CBS are suitable corporate forms for not-for-
profit entities – i.e. entities that are incapable of distributing 
profits to their members/shareholders. Both forms are commonly 
employed in the social housing sector. 

4.5 CBS’s are registered with the Financial Conduct Authority and their 
objects must be focused on the benefit of the community. 

4.6 A CLG, like a CLS, only requires registration at Companies House. 
As such, the administrative burden (and the cost of establishment) 
associated with a CLG tends to be less than that for a CBS. 

Page 44



4.7 As a CBS, it will be required to submit an annual return each year 
which sets out its activities and demonstrates, to the FCA’s 
reasonable satisfaction, that it is complying with its community 
benefit purpose. 

4.8 There are only two circumstances in which a CBS or CLG would be 
recommended over a CLS for the housing company. Those are: 

4.8.1 Where the Council is minded to seek registration of the LHC as 
a Registered Provider. A Registered Provider is a provider of 
social housing that is registered with the Regulator of Social 
Housing. This is because of the restrictions, imposed by the 
Regulation of Social Housing (Influence of Local Authorities) 
(England) Regulations 2017, on the ability of a local authority to 
exert influence over a for-profit Registered Provider; and/or

4.8.2 Where the LHC is to seek charitable status. Charitable status for 
the LHC would offer it an exemption from stamp duty land tax 
on land acquisitions and an exemption from paying Corporation 
Tax in relation to its charitable activities; but it would restrict 
the activities of the LHC – a charity may only undertake 
activities that are necessary or expedient to enable it to further 
its charitable objects. 

4.9 If charitable status for the LHC is to be sought, one of the 
advantage that a CBS offers over a CLG is that a CBS does not 
require to be registered with the Charity Commission. It should be 
noted that once an entity has been established as a charity, it 
cannot cease to be one. Accordingly, the assets of a charitable 
entity are often referred to as asset-locked. On dissolution, a 
charity may only transfer its assets to an entity with similar 
purposes.

4.10 It is recommended that the Council progress with the LHC in the 
form of a CBS, so as to give it every competitive advantage to 
deliver high quality, low cost homes to its communities .

5 The Commercial Case – How would it be done?

5.1 The power to form a company rests with the Council. It can rely 
on the powers granted under the Local Government Act (2003) 
which enable the creation of Local Authority Trading Companies, 
and the general power of competence granted under the Localism 
Act (2011) which enables local authorities in England to do 
“anything that individuals generally may do.” It is an intentionally 
wide power which permits, for example, the Council to:

 Acquire, develop and dispose of land;
 Establish legal entities; and
 Subscribe for shares and/or providing loans.

5.2 It is necessary under the Council’s Constitution for the formation 
of an LHC to be granted permission by the Council, there are no 
delegated powers to officers to do it.  

Page 45



5.3 Should the Council, following an Executive recommendation, 
approve the formation of an LHC in any form and give officers 
delegated authority to proceed the following steps would be taken:

5.3.1 Devonshires / Altair (our legal and housing advisors) would be 
commissioned to draft the detailed “rules” of the LHC (see 
section 7 – the management case) setting out the powers of the 
LHC and what it can and can’t do.  

5.3.2 They would also undertake the legal and administrative work 
required to actually form the company and start it running.  The 
cost of this would be funded from the Affordable Housing 
Earmarked Reserve, of up to £40,000.

5.3.3 The Company would then remain “dormant” until such time as 
the first affordable house or flat is developed at which time the 
Company would buy it, using money loaned to it from the 
Council.

5.3.4 The Council has already approved £8.5 million in its capital 
programme for the delivery of Community Housing in line with 
its forward programme (see 3.1 of the Strategic Case).  It is 
part of this money that will be lent to the LHC.

5.3.5 The LHC can not simply take on debt from the Council, unless 
the Council has already approved it.

6 The Financial Case

6.1 The LHC will require funding to support its activities. The Council is 
able to rely upon:-

6.1.1 its investment powers (set out in the Local Government Act 
2003); and

6.1.2 in the case of the LHC, the power to provide financial assistance 
(set out in Section 24 Local Government Act 1988 (Section 
24)), to justify the provision of funding. 

6.2 The power to provide financial assistance under Section 24 is 
subject to a requirement that the relevant local authority obtains 
the Secretary of State’s consent (under Section 25 of the same 
Act). Financial assistance (for the purposes of Section 24) includes 
the subscription for shares, a loan, a grant, a guarantee and/or a 
land disposal at an undervalue. 

6.3 The Secretary of State has issued a number of General Consents 
which, if capable of being relied upon, obviate the need to seek 
specific consent. Paragraph C of the General Consents permits a 
local authority to provide any form of financial assistance to an 
entity for the purpose of providing privately let accommodation 
other than any related to a disposal of land. Accordingly, the grant 

Page 46



of a loan by the Council and/or any subscription for shares in a 
LHC established as a CLS would be covered by this consent. 

6.4 Assuming that any land to be transferred from the Council to the 
LHC is to be transferred at market value, there will be no further 
consent required under Section 25. A disposal at an undervalue by 
the Council to its LHC would require specific Secretary of State’s 
consent under Section 25 (as none of the General Consents will 
assist in these circumstances). Government’s stated policy is that 
it will not support applications for consent which are designed to 
circumvent Government policy (which includes its commitment to 
home ownership).

6.5 In addition to the consideration of the vires for the provision of 
funding to the LHC by the Council, the question of compliance with 
state aid rules must be considered. 

6.6 State aid may come in many guises and can include the provision 
of loans at a rate below a market rate, grant funding, lenient 
taxation regimes, sale of assets at an under value or the provision 
of certain types of guarantees. If unlawful state aid is deemed to 
have been provided, the powers of the EC Commission are 
extensive. Notably, it has the power to stop further transactions 
and order the repayment of any aid already paid, with interest.

6.7 There are two exemptions which are noteworthy in the context of 
this report:- 

6.7.1 Where financial assistance is provided on terms which are 
regarded as no more favourable than those that a private 
lending institution would supply (where there is a market for 
such lending) the provision of such investment may not be 
regarded as state aid. This is known as the Market Economy 
Investor Principle (MEIP). This asserts that a public body is not 
providing state aid when it is acting like a private investor in the 
market economy. The test is whether a private investor (who 
would want to make a financial return) would invest on those 
(or comparable) terms.

6.7.2 Where the financial assistance is provided to facilitate the 
provision of assets which are services of general economic 
interest (“SGEI”), that assistance may constitute permitted 
state aid. There is no formal definition of SGEI in the EC Treaty 
but it is generally understood to mean services which the 
market does not provide or does not provide to the extent or at 
the quality which the state desires and which are in the general 
interest. Social (or affordable) housing, provided that the 

Page 47



assistance is no more than is required to make the activity 
viable (allowing for a reasonable element of developer profit), is 
capable of benefitting from this exemption. 

6.8 Accordingly, the LHC funding will be capable of being structured 
on state aid compliant terms.

6.9 In practice, this means that the Council will lend money to the LHC 
at a market interest rate and on an acceptable term, which it will 
then use to purchase property from either the market (affordable 
housing from developers) or from the Council following 
development from community housing projects.

6.10 The LHC will receive the rent from tenants which will allow it to 
pay back repayments (capital plus interest) on the loan from the 
Council and manage the property. 

6.11 The selection of tenants for these properties will be in line with the 
Council’s allocation policy and Devon Home Choice. Management 
of the property will be undertaken by the Council’s in house ethical 
letting agents SeaMoorLettings.  Maintenance contracts will be set 
up to keep the property in good condition.  These contracts will be 
commissioned by the LHC and may well utilise the Council’s in 
house maintenance capacity.

6.12 A financial example is included in Appendix A, setting out how the 
finances could work between the Council and the LHC. The 
principle of this will be adopted for housing within the LHC.

6.13 Specialist tax advice would also need to be taken from tax 
advisers in advance of finalising the structure.

7 The Management Case (including Governance arrangements)

7.1 As explained above, the LHC would be a separate legal entity with 
its own directors.

7.2 The Council will retain control, through its shareholding / 
membership of the LHC, the right to appoint and/or remove all of 
the directors. It is this control mechanism that makes each LHC a 
subsidiary of the Council.

7.3 It is recommended that the Council looks to supplement those 
controls with an intra-group agreement which would, amongst 
other matters impose:

7.3.1 A requirement for the LHC to submit its business plan for 
approval each year and an obligation to operate within those 
approved business plans;

Page 48



7.3.2 Reporting requirements and compliance with audit 
arrangements;

7.3.3 Covenants not to bring the Council’s reputation in to disrepute 
and to ensure compliance with all laws;

7.3.4 Covenants restricting the activities of the LHC including 
prohibitions on:

7.3.4.1 acquiring subsidiaries or participating in joint ventures 
without consent;

7.3.4.2 the appointment of a company secretary or employees 
(or only senior employees) without prior approval; 

7.3.4.3 accepting any form of indebtedness without approval; 
and

7.3.4.4 entering into contracts that are material in nature 
without prior approval (unless such contract(s) are in 
the ordinary course of business or are compatible with 
the approved business plan).   

7.3.5 A requirement for the LHC to adopt standing orders approved 
by the Council and to operate within them.

7.4 It is recommended that the board of the company is kept small 
and recognising the existing skill set in the housing sector within 
the Council, kept to existing employees only.  The proposal for the 
Board is therefore:

 The S151 Officer
 The Director of Place and Enterprise
 MD of the LHC – Head of Housing

7.5 The LHC Board would commission services from the Council and 
the market to run the LHC.  This would include accountancy 
services from the Council.

7.6 The Council would also have to account for the LHC submitting 
annual returns.  

8 Proposed Way Forward 

8.1 It is recommend to create a wholly owned local housing company 
structured as a Community Benefit Society. For the reasons set 
out above this type of charitable structure will not require 
separate registration with the Charities’ Commission.

Page 49



8.2 The CBS will be capable of holding the affordable housing 
developed via the community housing programme and also that 
purchased from developers1.

8.3 So as to set up the CBS it is proposed to procure legal assistance 
from Devonshires LLP who have advised us to date.  They would 
draft the articles of association and advise and prepare all 
necessary company documentation so as to form the CBS. 
Detailed tax advice and accountancy advice on Group Accounts 
would also need to be procured. These costs are recommended to 
be funded from the Affordable Housing Earmarked Reserve, up to 
£40,000.

8.4 The delegation set out in this report would then allow the 
formation of the LHC, such that rented housing stock can be 
transferred into it.

9. Implications 
Implications Relevant 

to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance The Council has powers to set up a wholly owned 
company as detailed in the report. 

The proposed Governance Arrangements of the 
Local Housing Company (LHC) are set out within 
Section 7 of the report.

The LHC will require funding to support its 
activities. The Council is able to rely upon:-

 its investment powers (set out in the Local 
Government Act 2003); and

 in the case of the LHC, the power to provide 
financial assistance (set out in Section 24 Local 
Government Act 1988 (Section 24)), to justify 
the provision of funding. 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 

A simple financial example is included in Appendix 
A, setting out how the finances would work 
between the Council and the LHC.

1 The Council’s standard s106 wording is such that “Affordable Housing 
Provider” means a registered provider as defined in the Housing & Regeneration 
Act 2008 who is registered with Homes England or any other provider of 
Affordable Housing first approved in writing by the Council.

Page 50



to value for 
money So as to set up the CBS, it is proposed to procure 

legal assistance from Devonshires LLP who have 
advised us to date.  They would draft the articles of 
association and advise and prepare all necessary 
company documentation so as to form the CBS

Detailed tax advice on the structure and 
accountancy advice on Group Accounts would also 
need to be procured. These costs are included 
within the amount recommended to be funded from 
the Affordable Housing Earmarked Reserve, up to 
£40,000.

Risk There are no risks to setting up a LHC, the legal 
powers are set out in this report.
Risks from housing delivery, purchase, 
management and maintenance will need to be 
managed by the LHC. The Council will need to 
manage housing delivery risk, as it currently does 
and have oversight of the LHC in the future.

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Homes

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

To be reconciled as part of the Housing Strategy

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

N/A

Safeguarding N/A
Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N/A

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

N/A

Other 
implications

N/A

Supporting Information

Appendices:
Appendix A – Housing financial example

Background Documents
Executive March 2019 – Community Housing Programme

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY HOUSING - RESIDENTIAL INVESTMENT MODEL (APPENDIX A)

ASSUMPTIONS Based on illustrative  4 units for affordable rent in South Hams
Rented units - 3 x 2 bedroom and 1 x 3 bedroom
Rental at Local Housing Allowance rent for South Hams i.e. £128.19 / week (2 Bedroom) and £153.02 / week (3 bedroom) net of service charge
LHA increasing at 1.5% p.a. 
Management, maintenance, insurance, service charge - assume 15% of gross rent
Purchase Price of 4 x rental properties £670k (3 bed house £200k, 2 bed house £160k, 2 bed bungalow £150k)
Acquisition Costs - assume 4% to cover fees & SDLT (2% between £125k - £250k property value) 
Paying back 50% of the capital over the 50 years and 3% on Interest
PWLB annuity rate @ Jan 20 is 3%

INCOME
Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
2 bed LHA prior to management etc £6,665.00
3 Bed LHA prior to management etc £7,957.00
Man, maint, insur., service charge 15%
Rental Inflation 1.50%
Rent / 2 Bed 3 5,665            16,996          17,251          17,509          17,772          18,039          18,309          18,584          18,863          19,146          19,433          
Rent / 3 Bed 1 6,763            6,763            6,865            6,968            7,072            7,178            7,286            7,395            7,506            7,619            7,733            
Rent Total 1,750,645    23,759          24,116          24,477          24,844          25,217          25,595          25,979          26,369          26,765          27,166          

COSTS
Interest Rate PWLB (Jan 20) 3.0%
2 Bed House 2
2 Bed Bungalow 1
3 Bed House 1
Capital Amount £670k + 4% (Costs) 700,000       

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Interest and Capital Repayments (based on 50% repayment) 24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          

Net Surplus / Net (loss) 341-                16                  377                744                1,117            1,495            1,879            2,269            2,665            3,066            

P
age 53



11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26

19,724          20,020          20,320          20,625          20,935          21,249          21,567          21,891          22,219          22,553          22,891          23,234          23,583          23,936          24,295          24,660          
7,849            7,967            8,087            8,208            8,331            8,456            8,583            8,711            8,842            8,975            9,109            9,246            9,385            9,525            9,668            9,813            

27,574          27,987          28,407          28,833          29,266          29,705          30,150          30,602          31,061          31,527          32,000          32,480          32,967          33,462          33,964          34,473          

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          

3,474            3,887            4,307            4,733            5,166            5,605            6,050            6,502            6,961            7,427            7,900            8,380            8,867            9,362            9,864            10,373          

P
age 54



27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42

25,030          25,405          25,786          26,173          26,566          26,964          27,369          27,779          28,196          28,619          29,048          29,484          29,926          30,375          30,831          31,293          
9,961            10,110          10,262          10,416          10,572          10,730          10,891          11,055          11,221          11,389          11,560          11,733          11,909          12,088          12,269          12,453          

34,990          35,515          36,048          36,589          37,138          37,695          38,260          38,834          39,416          40,008          40,608          41,217          41,835          42,463          43,100          43,746          

27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42
24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          

10,890          11,415          11,948          12,489          13,038          13,595          14,160          14,734          15,316          15,908          16,508          17,117          17,735          18,363          19,000          19,646          

P
age 55



43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50

31,762          32,239          32,722          33,213          33,712          34,217          34,730          35,251          
12,640          12,829          13,022          13,217          13,415          13,617          13,821          14,028          
44,402          45,068          45,744          46,431          47,127          47,834          48,551          49,280          1,750,645      

43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50
24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          24,100          374,100        1,555,000      

20,302          20,968          21,644          22,331          23,027          23,734          24,451          324,820-        195,645         

P
age 56



Report to: Executive

Date: 14 October 2021

Title: Tenancy Strategy Review 2021

Portfolio Area: Homes / Cllr Judy Pearce

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Upon the expiry of 
the Call-in period – 5.00pm on Monday, 25 October

Author: Cassandra 
Harrison

Role: Housing Specialist

Contact: 01803 861234 email: 
cassandra.harrison@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Executive:

1.  Approves the reviewed Tenancy Strategy 2021- appendix 2; and

2. Authorises the Head of Housing, in consultation with the portfolio 
holder for Homes, to make any necessary minor amendments to 
the Tenancy Strategy 2021.

1. Executive summary

1.1. The purpose of this report is to seek Member approval of the reviewed 
Tenancy Strategy 2021, attached at appendix 2.

1.2. The Localism Act 2011 places a duty on all local authorities to produce a 
Tenancy Strategy, to sit alongside its Housing Strategy and Allocations 
Policy.  On 8th November 2012 this Council adopted a Tenancy Strategy, 
minute reference E.53/12. Minor amendments were made in 2016 
delegated to the Head of Place Making (see appendix 1).  This is now out 
of date.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8

mailto:cassandra.harrison@swdevon.gov.uk


1.3. The implementation of a new Tenancy Strategy, to supersede the current 
out of date version, is a key action in the Housing Strategy Action Plan 
2021.  

1.4. The Localism Act 2011 also requires local authorities to review their 
tenancy strategies from time to time. In line with the latest good practise 
and legislation changes, we have updated our Tenancy Strategy (see 
appendix 2). This went through a period of consultation with our partner 
Registered Providers between 4th June 2021 and 9th July 2021. 

1.5. The main change to the revised Tenancy Strategy 2021 is that we are 
asking Registered Providers to charge no more than 2 weeks rent in 
advance.  We also emphasise that we now seek Social Rent tenure on 
new housing developments in accordance with the adopted JLP 
Supplementary Planning Document 2020. 

2. Background

2.1. Under Section 150 of the Localism Act 2011, Councils have a duty to 
prepare and publish a Tenancy Strategy.  The Strategy must set out the 
matters to which Registered Providers of social housing for their area are 
to have regard in formulating policies and these relating to:

 The types of tenancies they grant
 The circumstances by which they will grant a tenancy of a particular 

type
 The length of certain tenancies
 The circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the 

coming to an end of an existing tenancy

Registered Providers are expected to have due regard to the Council’s 
Tenancy Strategy in developing their tenancy policies, but do not have to 
comply with them if they do not wish to do so.  

2.2. A Devon wide Tenancy Framework was adopted in February 2012, 
following widespread consultation with Devon Local Authorities, Registered 
Providers and other stakeholders. The framework highlights those areas of 
tenancy policy where broad principles are shared by some or all of the 
Local Housing Authorities in Devon.  This Tenancy Strategy 2021 is 
informed by the Devon wide Tenancy Framework, but also reflects the 
current local context and priorities in the South Hams.  

2.3. On 8th November 2012 the Executive approved the current Tenancy 
Strategy. Minor updates were made to the document in 2016 (appendix 1) 
and these updates were delegated for approval to the Head of 
Environmental Health and Housing in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder. Since that time, there have been major changes in housing 
legislation and welfare reform, as well as increased affordability issues 
across the sector. Registered Providers’ “Rent in Advance” policies can 

Page 58



vary, with some charging 8 weeks rent in advance.  This is not affordable 
for many on low incomes. 

3. Outcomes/outputs

3.1 In response to these changes, the Council has reviewed its Tenancy 
Strategy to put forward a more holistic approach to managing social 
housing in the district to which local Registered Providers should have 
regard in formulating their policies.  In preparing the reviewed Tenancy 
Strategy, the following Council plans/strategies have been considered:

Corporate Strategy 
Housing strategy 2021 - 2026
Homelessness strategy 2017 - 2022
The Devon Home Choice allocation policy and partner agreement

3.2 In summary, the overarching aims of this revised Tenancy Strategy
Are to:

1. Comply with the legislation
2. Encourage a wide range of housing options 
3. Promote affordability
4. Make the best use of the available social housing stock
5. Ensure that vulnerable households are able to access appropriate 

accommodation
6. Promote mobility within social housing and other housing tenures
7. Promote clarity

More specifically Registered Providers are encouraged to:

1. Charge rents under the local housing allowance rate
2. Publish clear and accessible policies on tenancy management
3. Create clear and transparent advertisements on Devon Home Choice
4. Charge no more than 2 weeks rent in advance 
5. Co-operate with the Council to make the best use of stock
6. Bid for social grant where available
7. Assist the local authority to maintain tenancies and prevent homelessness
8. Limit the conversion of social rents to affordable 
9. Promote mobility within the sector
10.Take precautions to tackle tenancy fraud

3.3 Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council has a duty to consult with all 
Registered Social housing Providers in the District. This consultation 
opened on 4th June 2021 and ended on 9th July 2021.  A summary of the 
consultation responses can be found in appendix 3 and to which we have 
had regard in reviewing the Tenancy Strategy.

Page 59



4. Options available and consideration of risk

If we do not review and update the Tenancy Strategy, it will remain out of date 
and will not reflect current local issues of housing need and affordability.  The 
review of our Tenancy Strategy is a key action in our Housing Strategy Action 
Plan 2021 – 2026.

5. Proposed Way Forward 

Executive is asked to approve the reviewed Tenancy Strategy 2021 attached in 
Appendix 2.

Executive is also asked to delegate the making of future minor amendments to 
the Head of Housing in consultation with the portfolio holder for HOMES.

6. Implications

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The Council has a duty to prepare and publish a 
tenancy strategy that will be considered when 
exercising its housing management functions.  It is 
under a further duty to keep its tenancy strategy 
under review, and may modify or replace it from 
time to time.  The proposals in the report secure 
compliance with those duties.

Financial N There are no direct financial implications arising 
from this report. 

Risk Y Failure to review the Tenancy Strategy risks the 
Council being in breach of its statutory duty, but 
more importantly, risks decisions in respect of its 
housing management functions being based on 
inaccurate and out-of-date policies.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

Y An Equality Impact Assessment has been 
undertaken and no major change is required. It has 
not identified any potential for discrimination or 
adverse impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken.

Safeguarding Y

Page 60



Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

Y  Asking Registered Providers to charge no more 
than 2 weeks rent in advance, helps affordability 
pressures in the district.  Financial pressures 
adversely affect residents’ wellbeing. 

Other 
implications

Supporting Information

Appendices: 
Appendix 1: Tenancy Strategy 2016
Appendix 2: Reviewed Tenancy Strategy 2021
Appendix 3: Summary of consultation responses

Background Papers:
None

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

South Hams District Council & West 

Devon Borough Council 

 

 

 

 

  

Tenancy Strategy  

 
 

 

 

 

Page 63



2 
 

South Hams District Council & West Devon Borough 

Council  

 

Tenancy Strategy  

 

1. Introduction   

 

2. Devon Wide Framework  
 

3. The Local Housing Market 
 

4. Affordable Rent  

 

5. Types of Tenancy  

 

6. Disposal of Affordable Housing  

 

7. Registered Providers Tenancy Policies  

 

8. Monitoring and Review 

 
Appendix 1  Local Housing Allowance Rates  

 

Appendix 2  Registered Providers Tenancy Policies  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



3 
 

1. Introduction  

1.1  The Localism Act 2011 places a duty on all local authorities to produce a Tenancy 
Strategy that sits alongside its Housing Strategy and Allocations Policy. The strategy is 
required to set out what Registered Providers of Social Housing should take into 
consideration when making decisions about their individual tenancy policies. As the 
Council no longer has any housing stock, this strategy sets out how we expect 
Registered Providers with affordable housing in the area to respond to the relevant 
changes introduced by the Act.  

 

 In accordance with the Localism Act, this strategy sets out: 
 

 The kind of tenancies Providers should offer. 

 The circumstances in which Providers should grant a tenancy of a particular kind. 

 Where the tenancy is for a fixed term, the recommended length of the term. 

 Circumstances in which the Provider should grant a further tenancy on the 
ending of the existing tenancy. 

In addition to these, the strategy also outlines the Council’s position on the new 
‘affordable rent’ product.  
 

2. Devon Wide Framework  

This local tenancy strategy has been developed taking account of the Devon Wide 

Tenancy Framework. The framework highlights those areas of tenancy policy where broad 

principles are shared by some or all of the Local Housing Authorities in Devon. The 

purpose of the Devon wide framework is to provide more consistency for partners and 

customers.   

3. The Local Housing Market 

3.1 Affordability is a key issue for South Hams and West Devon and the demand for affordable 
homes continues to increase.  It is essential therefore that that the existing housing stock 
is used in the most effective way.  

 
 Affordable Housing Stock   
 
3.2 South Hams affordable housing stock comprises just over 4,600 homes.  West Devon’s 

affordable housing stock comprises just over 2,400 homes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



4 
 

Income and Affordability 
 
3.3 The affordability of the housing market is one of the key issues facing the area. An 

income of approximately £40,000 is required to purchase a lower quartile property in 
the area. There is a clear disparity between this and local household incomes. Data 
from the Office of National Statistics indicates that median earnings are approximately 
£23,795. The average house price in the South Hams is £331,625 and in West Devon it 
is £239,160. 

 
Housing Need  

3.5  The combination of high house prices and low incomes creates significant demand for 
affordable rented homes.  The number of applicants registered for affordable housing 
with Devon Home Choice is set out in the table below.  

 

 Number of Applicants in bands A-D 

South Hams 1139 

West Devon 374 

 

 Data source : Devon Homechoice - October 2016 

 

4. Affordable Rent  

Background  
 
4.1 As well as tenure reform, the Government has reformed the way in which affordable 

homes are funded and has introduced the ‘Affordable Rent’ product as its preferred 
model for new social housing. Registered Providers now have the flexibility to charge 
rents of up to 80% of local market rents to enable Registered Providers to secure 
additional financial capacity for new homes.   This applies to new homes and a 
proportion of re-lets, but only where this is part of their agreement with government 
to build new homes. The ceiling of 80% is inclusive of service charges.  

  
4.2 Affordability and rents are a major issue locally as a result of high house prices and 

low incomes. In addition, affordability has an important link to the local economy, 
particularly for low paid workers.  Whilst both South Hams and West Devon formally 
support Affordable Rent, it is important that rent levels are set having regard to 
specific local issues.  
 
 
 
Our expectations on Affordable Rent  

 
4.3 When developing their tenancy policies we expect Registered Providers to have regard 

to the following:  

Page 66



5 
 

 
 

 The Council recognises that developing associations will be charging affordable 
rents on new developments and on a proportion of re-lets.  
 

 The maximum rent charged for affordable housing should be no greater than the 
Local Housing Allowance.  
 

 The Council would also like to see Registered Providers carrying out an 
affordability assessment when letting properties at rents which are close to the 
current Local Housing Allowance, to ensure that the tenancy will be sustainable 
over time 

 

 
5. Types of Tenancy  
 

Background  
 
5.1 Historically, social housing tenants have been offered an assured or secure tenancy 

which granted them a home for life. Fixed term tenancies were introduced as part of 
the Localism Act with the aim of helping Registered Providers to offer more flexible 
tenancies that would enable them to make the best use of their housing stock and to 
better meet local housing needs.  

 
5.2 Registered Providers are able to offer fixed term tenancies on a minimum fixed term of 

five years, however in exceptional circumstances flexible tenancies can be for as little as 
two years. Social landlords will still be able to offer the types of tenancies they currently 
use, for example secure, assured and introductory tenancies. The new fixed term 
tenancies are in addition to those currently available and social landlords do not have to 
use them. Existing secure and assured tenants cannot have their tenancies converted to 
a fixed term tenancy and many are offered special protections if they transfer to 
another home.  

 

Our expectations on the Type of Tenancies  
 
5.3 When developing their tenancy policies we expect Registered Providers to have regard 

to the following:  
 

 To use five years as the minimum term for all fixed term tenancies. In exceptional 
circumstances Registered Providers may set out shorter fixed term tenancies of a 
minimum of two years. Such exceptional circumstances should be set out and 
justified in the provider’s tenancy policy. We expect Registered Providers to 
discuss with us the schemes where tenancies of less than 5 years are being 
considered; 
  

 To take into consideration recommendations from the Council and other partner 
organisations regarding the use of lifetime or longer term fixed tenancies for 

Page 67



6 
 

specific vulnerable households to ensure that they are not adversely 
disadvantaged;  

 

 We strongly recommend that Registered Providers actively encourage tenants to 
downsize to smaller accommodation where appropriate.  

 

 

 
Our expectations on Tenancy Renewal  

 
When developing their tenancy policies we expect Registered Providers to have regard 
to the following:  
 

 Circumstances in which the Council expects that the tenancies are not 
renewed but an alternative offer should be made:  

 
 Size - Tenancies should not normally be granted for properties that are 

significantly larger than the household requires unless set out in Local Lettings 
Policies. Exceptions might include examples such as where it is necessary to 
accommodate a full or part-time live-in carer, to enable access to dependent 
children where care is shared or to limit occupation because of local housing 
management issues.  Any under-occupation should have regard to local 
housing market conditions; examples might include remoter rural settlements.  

 

 Extensive Adaptations: Tenancies should not be renewed if the properties 
include the provision of extensive adaptations that are no longer required by 
anyone living in the household  

 

 Circumstances in which the Council expects the tenancy not to be renewed 
and no offer of alternative accommodation to be made are:  

 
 Income: Tenancies should not be granted if the income of the household is 

above the income limit as set out in Devon Home Choice policy, or a local limit 
set by the Local Housing Authority. The Registered Provider may choose to 
encourage the household to remain in the property but on different terms e.g. 
paying full market rent, part or full owner  

 

 Possession Proceedings: If breach of tenancy conditions is to be used as a 
ground for non-renewal of the tenancy it is expected that Registered Providers 
will have already started possession proceedings. This will help demonstrate 
that the Registered Providers believe that the decision not to renew is 
proportionate and in pursuit of a legitimate claim. We expect Registered 
Providers to have looked at all the options i.e. exhausted other remedies 
before withholding the renewal of a tenancy on these grounds. 
 

 DSHG is currently working towards a ‘common standard of advice and 
assistance’ and ‘notification of tenancy end’. We expect Registered Providers 

Page 68



7 
 

to adopt any common procedures and/or policies with regard to advice and 
assistance at the end of a tenancy. 

6. Disposal of Affordable Housing  
 

Background  
 

6.1  Given the high level of need for affordable housing, the Council would not generally 
wish to see the disposal of affordable housing stock. It is recognised however that 
disposals may be appropriate in certain circumstances.  This may for example include 
property which is uneconomic to maintain, or is not of a type or in a location which 
meets housing need.   

 
6.2  There is a very limited amount of supported housing for vulnerable people in the 

area. Therefore where possible, it is preferable that such accommodation is 
retained. If schemes become unviable to run, the Council will need to be assured 
that adequate alternative provision has been made for residents. Any Registered 
Provider will need to explore with the Council any opportunities to use these 
properties or retain the land for the purpose of delivering additional affordable 
housing in the future.  

 
6.3 There is an acute need for larger affordable family homes.  Registered Providers 

should not dispose of accommodation that has four or more bedrooms unless 
exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated. 

 
Our expectations on Disposal of Affordable Housing  

 
6.4 When considering the disposal of affordable housing stock we expect Registered 

Providers to have regard to the following:  
 

 

 The Council will not generally support the disposal of the following types of 
housing without a very strong case being made to the Local Housing 
Authority; 
 
 Larger homes, which are defined as three bedroom houses with 

potential for use as 4 bedroom homes. For example they may have a 
dining room and living room or they may have three double bedrooms,  

 

 Larger homes capable of accommodating 6 people or more. 
 
 Properties that may be suitable for ‘downsizing’ initiatives.  

 

 Homes in smaller, rural settlements i.e. as defined in Statutory 
Instrument 1997 No 621.  

 

Page 69



8 
 

 The Council may support disposals in certain circumstances.  This may 
include property which is uneconomic to maintain, or is not of a type or in 
a location which meets housing need.  

 

7. Registered Providers Tenancy Policies  
 

The Localism Act requires local authorities to signpost people to where Registered 
Providers’ tenancy policies can be found. A list of Registered Provides with Stock in our 
local authority area can be found at Appendix 2.  
 

8. Monitoring and Review  
 

We will monitor this Tenancy Strategy through annual updates and, where necessary, 
meetings with individual Registered Providers and/or key stakeholders.  
 
 
 

  

Page 70



9 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 - Local Housing Allowance Rates  

 

The table below shows the weekly Local Housing Allowance rates for the West Devon area 

Number of bedrooms  
 

Exeter weekly Plymouth weekly North Cornwall 
and 
Devon Borders 
 

Shared 
accommodation rate 

£74.34 £71.21 £66.70 
 

1 bedroom £ 116.52 £ 94.16 £93.23 
 

2 bedrooms £ 141.24 £ 122.36 £120.06 
 

3 bedrooms £ 164.79 £ 145.43 £139.84 
 

4 bedrooms £ 218.63 £ 182.45 £168.00 
 

 

 

The table below shows the weekly Local Housing Allowance rates for the South Hams area. 

Number of bedrooms  
 

Devon South Weekly 

Shared 
accommodation rate 

£ 63.50 

1 bedroom £ 96.91 

2 bedrooms £ 128.19 

3 bedrooms £ 153.02 

4 bedrooms £ 192.24 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



10 
 

Appendix 2 - Registered Providers Tenancy Policies  

 

The following provides the contact details of Registered Providers with stock in South Hams 

and West Devon.  Providers will be able to provide details of their tenancy policies.  

 

Registered Provider  Contact Number  Website  

DCH 0300 123 8080 www.dchgroup.com 

Westward Housing Group  0300 100 1011 www.westwardhousing.org.uk  

South Devon Rural Housing 

Association  

01803 863550 www.southdevonrural.co.uk 

Guinness Hermitage 0303 123 1890 www.guinnesspartnership.com  

Sanctuary Housing 0800 131 3348 www.sanctuary-housing.co.uk 

Spectrum Housing 0300 111 3600 www.spectrumhousing.co.uk 

South Western Housing 

Society 

0844 915 0025 www.swhs.org.uk  

Tamar Housing Society 01752 250902 www.tamarhs.org 

Anchor 0808 278 7275 www.anchor.org.uk 

Sovereign South & West 0800 587 2325 www.sovereign.org.uk 

Hastoe Housing Association 0300 123 2250 www.hastoe.com 

Magna 01305 216000 www.magnaha.org.uk  

Housing 21 0370 192 4000 www.housingandcare21.co.uk 

Aster  0333 400 8222 www.astercommunities.co.uk  

  

  

Page 72

http://www.westwardhousing.org.uk/
http://www.guinnesspartnership.com/
http://www.sanctuary-housing.co.uk/
http://www.swhs.org.uk/
http://www.tamarhs.org/
http://www.anchor.org.uk/
http://www.sovereign.org.uk/
http://www.hastoe.com/
http://www.magnaha.org.uk/
http://www.astercommunities.co.uk/


11 
 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 1
August 2021

South Hams & West Devon

Tenancy Strategy

P
age 75



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 20212

Contents
1. Introduction  3

2. Corporate Priorities 4

3. The Local Housing Market 5

4. Affordable Housing Stock 5

Our expectations on Affordable and Social Rent 6

5. Charge no more than 2 weeks rent in advance 7

6. Types of Tenancy  8

Our expectations on the Type of Tenancies  8

Our expectations on Tenancy Renewal  10

7. Co-operate with the Councils to make the best use of stock 11

8. Disposal of Affordable Housing  12

Our expectations on Disposal of Affordable Housing  12

Registered Providers Tenancy Policies  12

9. Equal Opportunities 13

10. Monitoring and Review  13

Appendix 1 - Local Housing Allowance Rates  14

Appendix 2 - Registered Providers Tenancy Policies  14

Advice if you are worried about paying rent in advance 15

P
age 76



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 3

The Localism Act 2011 placed a duty on all local 
authorities to produce a Tenancy Strategy that sits 
alongside its Housing Strategy and Allocations Policy. 

The strategy is required to set out what Registered Providers of 
Social/Affordable Housing should take into consideration when 
making decisions about their individual tenancy policies. As the 
Councils no longer have any housing stock, this strategy sets out 
how we expect Registered Providers with affordable housing in the 
area to respond to the relevant changes introduced by the Act. 

In accordance with the Localism Act, this strategy sets out:

 ¥ The kind of tenancies Providers should offer.

 ¥ The circumstances in which Providers should grant a 
tenancy of a particular kind.

 ¥ Where the tenancy is for a fixed term, the recommended 
length of the term.

 ¥ Circumstances in which the Provider should grant a further 
tenancy on the ending of the existing tenancy.

The 2021 Tenancy Strategy is the result of a review of the Councils 
2013 Tenancy Strategy and reflects current local issues of housing 
need and affordability. It has been revised alongside other key 
Council Strategies such as the Corporate Plan, Joint Local Plan,  
the Housing Strategy and the Homelessness Strategy. 

1. Introduction 

P
age 77



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 20214

2. Corporate Priorities

The Localism Act (2011) requires Local Authorities  
when preparing their strategies to take into account  
the council’s key corporate policies and strategies. 

This strategy considers these priorities and is complementary to  
the Council’s key corporate plans/strategies, which are:

 ¥ South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy 2021 - 2026

 ¥ South Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2017 – 2022

 ¥ South Hams and West Devon Local Allocation Policy

 ¥ Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034

Improving 
homes

P
age 78



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 5

Affordability is a key issue for 
South Hams and West Devon and 
the demand for affordable homes 
continues to increase. It is essential 
therefore that that the existing 
housing stock is used in the most 
effective way. 

Affordable Housing Stock

South Hams affordable housing stock comprises 
of 5041 properties. West Devon’s affordable 
housing stock comprises of 2583 properties. 11.3% 
of the households in the South Hams and 9.5% in 
West Devon live in the affordable rented sector; 
this is below the national average of 17.7%. 

Income and Affordability

The affordability of the housing market is one 
of the key issues facing the area. Over the last 
23 years, the average house price in the UK 
has increased from £58,854 in August 1996 
to £235,298 in November 2019, quadrupling 
the deposit needed to buy. An income of 
approximately £40,000 is required to purchase 
a lower quartile property in the area. There is a 
clear disparity between this and local household 
incomes. House prices are on average are 13 
times more than average earnings. In some 
areas, such as Tavistock it is more acute at a ratio 
of 14 and in Salcombe where the average house 
cost is £664,632, that ratio is 24. 

Private rented accommodation is also affected, 
as rental levels are often higher than Local 
Housing Allowance Rates. For those on lower 
incomes the requirements for a deposit, rent in 
advance and agents’ fees are significant barriers 
to accessing housing in the private rented sector. 
Benefit claimants and people with pets and 
children may face discrimination in accessing 
private rented housing. Insecurity of tenure in 
this sector continues to be an important cause of 
homelessness and of approaches to our housing 
options/advice services. 

Housing Need 

The combination of high house prices and 
low incomes creates significant demand for 
affordable rented homes. The number of 
applicants registered for affordable housing with 
Devon Home Choice is set out in the table below. 

Area Number of Applicants 
in bands A-D

South Hams 768

West Devon 482

Data source: Devon Home choice – July 2021

3. The Local Housing Market

13 x average 
annual income

(higher in  
some areas)

House Prices

FOR 
SALE

£59k
1996

Approx income 
required to buy

£40k

£235k

2019

Increase 
in Average 

House  
Prices

P
age 79



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 20216

Background 

Registered Providers now have the flexibility 
to charge rents of up to 80% of local market 
rents to enable them to secure additional 
financial capacity for new homes. This applies 
to new homes and a proportion of re-lets, but 
only where this is part of their agreement with 
government to build new homes. The ceiling of 
80% is inclusive of service charges. 

Affordability and rents are a major issue locally 
because of high house prices and low incomes. In 
addition, affordability has an important link to 
the local economy, particularly for low paid and 
seasonal workers. Whilst both South Hams and 
West Devon formally support Affordable Rent, 
it is important that rent levels are set having 
regard to specific local issues. 

With the adoption of the Plymouth & South West 
Devon Supplementary Planning Document in 
2020, we will now be seeking Social Rent tenure 
on new housing developments. Please see 
paragraphs 4.78 – 4.82 for more information. 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/
JLPSPD2020FINALred.pdf

Our expectations on 
Affordable and Social Rent

When developing their tenancy policies we 
expect Registered Providers to have regard to 
the following: 

The Councils recognises that developing 
associations will be charging Affordable and 
Social Rents on new developments and on a 
proportion of re-lets. The Councils defines 
Affordable Rent as:

‘a rent which does not exceed 80% of the Open 
Market Rent (inclusive of any service charges) 
for the relevant property type and in any event 
should not exceed the published Local Housing 
Allowance for the relevant property type and 
in the relevant property market area allowing 
for any modifications to a level of allowance as 
published from time to time by the Government 
SAVE THAT the rent charged under all lettings may 
be increased annually by a proportion equivalent 
to an increase by the Consumer Price Index plus 
1%, or any relevant increase determined from 
time to time by Homes England’

The Councils defines Social Rent as:

“Affordable housing units let at a rent which 
meets guideline target rents determined through 
the national rent regime.  Rent levels should 
not exceed target rent levels recommended for 
the area and the type of accommodation by the 
Homes and Communities Agency”

The Council expects Registered Providers to take 
the level of service charge payable on the property 
into account when looking at affordability. Rent 
and basic service charges, excluding water/waste, 
pull-chords/alarms etc., should be included 
in the rent setting, which should fall below 
the Local Housing Allowance rate. Extra Care 
accommodation is exempt from this requirement.

It is expected that Registered Providers will 
endeavour to keep increases for Universal Credit 
eligible service charges within the CPI + 1% 
Guideline Limit.

The Councils would also like to see Registered 
Providers carrying out an affordability 
assessment when letting properties at rents, 
which are close to the current Local Housing 
Allowance, to ensure that the tenancy will be 
sustainable over time.

4. Affordable & Social Rent 

P
age 80



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 7

The Councils would like to see 
households being able to transition 
smoothly into safe and secure homes, 
regardless of income. 

We support and encourage clients to prioritise 
paying rent, but we are increasingly concerned 
that there is a significant number of people who 
cannot afford upfront payments.

It is vital that homeless households, people 
on low incomes and people who cannot access 
other forms of housing can find a home they can 
afford. Social housing provides that safety net, 
but one month’s rent in advance is simply not 
affordable.

We wish to support the good work registered 
providers do on behalf of their tenants, including 
the ability to offer flexibility for those who 
may be struggling financially. However, it is the 
Councils opinion that access to social housing 
should be fair and equitable and that rent in 
advance is a barrier to those with little, or no 
income, or no savings.

A key function of social housing is to provide 
accommodation that is affordable to people 
on low incomes. However, it would appear that 
decisions about the amount of rent in advance 
are being made upon personal, protected 
characteristics and income and this could be 
seen as discriminatory practice. Furthermore, 
there is no regulation around what happens at 
the end of a tenancy when rent in advance is 
charged and fully paid up by Universal Credit.

Registered Providers should therefore charge 
no more than 2 weeks rent in advance, clearly 
stating the amount when advertising and 
not requesting payment above this upon 
shortlisting.

Additionally, we would like to see providers 
publish an online rent in advance policy. The 
policy should clearly set out how rent in advance 
will be used, how it is returned, the process 
should the tenancy transfer to another provider 
and that no damages, or court costs will be 
deducted from these payments.

Where delays to the housing element of Universal 
Credit has led to providers being unable to offer 
financial flexibility, the Councils are keen to work 
in collaboration to find solutions for providers and 
their tenants that will work to both reduce rental 
arrears and sustain tenancies.

The Councils recommend that:

 ¥ There should be better access to pre-
tenancy information for tenants, 
including budgeting and income 
maximisation.

 ¥ Introduce a financial assessment for 
potential vulnerability at the allocation 
stage.

 ¥ Providers should continue to improve 
their engagement with tenants and 
prioritise tenancy support, including 
helping tenants get online where 
appropriate.

 ¥ Joint working arrangements between 
the Council, the Department of Work 
and Pensions and registered providers 
should be maintained to ensure a 
holistic service is provided.

5. Charge no more than 2 weeks rent in advance

P
age 81



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 20218

Background 

Historically, social housing tenants have 
been offered an assured or secure tenancy, 
which granted them a home for life. Fixed 
term tenancies were introduced as part of the 
Localism Act with the aim of helping Registered 
Providers to offer more flexible tenancies that 
would enable them to make the best use of their 
housing stock and to better meet local housing 
needs. 

The Councils expect Registered Providers to 
offer tenancies in line with the new tenancy 
standards i.e.

“Tenancies which are compatible with the 
purpose of the accommodation, the needs of 
individual households, the sustainability of the 
community and the efficient use of their housing 
stock”

Registered Providers are able to offer fixed 
term tenancies on a minimum fixed term of five 
years, however in exceptional circumstances 
flexible tenancies can be for as little as two 
years. Registered Providers will still be able to 
offer the types of tenancies they currently use, 
for example secure, assured and introductory 
tenancies. The new fixed term tenancies are in 
addition to those currently available and social 
landlords do not have to use them. Existing 
secure and assured tenants cannot have their 
tenancies converted to a fixed term tenancy 
and many are offered special protections if they 
transfer to another home. 

Our expectations on the 
Type of Tenancies 

When developing their tenancy policies we 
expect Registered Providers to have regard to 
the following: 

 ¥ To use five years as the minimum term for 
all fixed term tenancies. In exceptional 
circumstances, Registered Providers may 
set out shorter fixed term tenancies of a 
minimum of two years. Such exceptional 
circumstances should be set out and 
justified in the provider’s tenancy policy. We 
expect Registered Providers to discuss with 
us the schemes where tenancies of less than 
5 years are being considered;

 ¥ To take into consideration recommendations 
from the Council and other partner 
organisations regarding the use of lifetime 
or longer term fixed tenancies for specific 
vulnerable households to ensure that they 
are not adversely disadvantaged; 

6. Types of Tenancy 

P
age 82



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 9

 ¥ We strongly recommend that Registered 
Providers actively encourage tenants 
to downsize to smaller accommodation 
where appropriate.  Downsizers are given 
additional priority under the Council’s 
allocation scheme and financial incentives 
may be available subject to budget 
demands. 

 ¥ The Councils are keen to promote mobility 
within social housing and expects landlords 
to actively promote schemes to facilitate 
mutual exchange.  Registered providers shall 
ensure the provider of the internet based 
mutual exchange service to which they 
subscribe is a signatory to an agreement, 
such as Home Swap Direct, under which 
tenants can access matches across all 
(or the greatest practicable number of) 
internet based mutual exchange services. 
They should also take reasonable steps 
to publicise the availability of any mutual 
exchange service that allows:

1. a tenant to register an interest in 
arranging a mutual exchange through 
the mutual exchange service without 
payment of a fee

2. the tenant to enter their current 
property details and the tenant’s 
requirements for the mutual exchange 
property they hope to obtain

3. the tenant to be provided with the 
property details of those properties 
where a match occurs

 ¥ Registered providers shall clearly set out, 
and be able to give reasons for, the criteria 
they use for excluding actual and potential 
tenants from consideration for allocations, 
mobility, or mutual exchange schemes.

P
age 83



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 202110

Our expectations on 
Tenancy Renewal 

 Circumstances in which the Councils expect that 
the tenancies are not renewed but an alternative 
offer should be made: 

 ¥ Size: Tenancies should not normally be 
granted for properties that are significantly 
larger than the household requires unless 
set out in Local Lettings Policies. Exceptions 
might include examples such as where 
it is necessary to accommodate a full or 
part-time live-in carer, to enable access to 
dependent children where care is shared or 
to limit occupation because of local housing 
management issues.  Any under-occupation 
should have regard to local housing market 
conditions; examples might include remoter 
rural settlements. 

 ¥ Extensive Adaptations: Tenancies should 
not be renewed if the properties include the 
provision of extensive adaptations that are 
no longer required by anyone living in the 
household.

Circumstances in which the Councils expect 
the tenancy not to be renewed and no offer of 
alternative accommodation to be made are: 

 ¥ Income: Tenancies should not be granted 
if the income of the household is above 
the income limit as set out in Devon Home 
Choice policy, or a local limit set by the Local 
Housing Authority. The Registered Provider 
may choose to encourage the household 
to remain in the property but on different 
terms e.g. paying full market rent, part or 
full owner.

 ¥ Possession Proceedings: If breach of 
tenancy conditions is to be used as a 
ground for non-renewal of the tenancy it is 
expected that Registered Providers will have 
already started possession proceedings. This 
will help demonstrate that the Registered 
Providers believe that the decision not to 
renew is proportionate and in pursuit of 
a legitimate claim. We expect Registered 
Providers to have looked at all the options 
i.e. exhausted other remedies before 
withholding the renewal of a tenancy on 
these grounds.

The Councils asks Registered Providers to notify 
the Housing Options service where a tenancy 
is being brought to an end and no alternative 
accommodation is being offered. A protocol for 
the notification process is in place.

P
age 84



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 11

Registered Providers shall co-operate 
with South Hams and West Devon 
Councils strategic housing function 
and our duties to meet identified local 
housing needs. This includes assistance 
with our homelessness duties, and 
through meeting obligations in 
nominations agreements. 

Local letting plans

The Councils expect Registered Providers work 
in partnership with the Council to develop 
local lettings plans to help create sustainable 
communities. The aim of a lettings plan would be 
to ensure that providers let homes in a way that:

 ¥ Develops balanced and mixed 
communities

 ¥ Promotes social inclusion

 ¥ Meets the needs of those in the  
greatest housing need

 ¥ Maximises the housing choice for 
applicants

 ¥ Minimises re-let periods

 ¥ Makes the best use of the stock,  
for example downsizing and better  
use of adapted homes

 ¥ Enables people to live and work  
in rural areas

Direct matches

The Councils would like to work with Registered 
Providers to set up direct matches on adapted 
homes that are fully wheel chair adapted and/
or have wet rooms. This may require attendance 
at our Disabled Adapted Needs Panel Meeting if 
appropriate. 

7. Co-operate with the Councils to 
make the best use of stock

P
age 85



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 202112

Background 

Given the high level of need for affordable 
housing, the Council would not generally wish to 
see the disposal of affordable housing stock. It 
is recognised that disposals may be appropriate 
in certain circumstances. This may for example 
include property which is uneconomic to 
maintain, or is not of a type or in a location which 
meets housing need. 

There is a very limited amount of supported 
housing for vulnerable people in the area. 
Therefore, where possible, it is preferable that 
such accommodation is retained. If schemes 
become unviable to run, the Council will need to 
be assured that adequate alternative provision 
has been made for residents. Any Registered 
Provider will need to explore with the Council 
any opportunities to use these properties 
or retain the land for delivering additional 
affordable housing in the future. 

There is an acute need for larger affordable 
family homes. Registered Providers should not 
dispose of accommodation that has four or more 
bedrooms unless exceptional circumstances can 
be demonstrated.

Our expectations on Disposal  
of Affordable Housing 

When considering the disposal of affordable  
housing stock we expect Registered Providers to  
have regard to the following: 

 ¥ The Councils will not generally support the 
disposal of the following types of housing 
without a very strong case being made to the 
Local Housing Authority;

 ¥ Larger homes, which are defined as three 
bedroom houses with potential for use as  
4 bedroom homes. For example they may 
have a dining room and living room or they 
may have three double bedrooms. 

 ¥ Larger homes capable of accommodating  
6 people or more.

 ¥ Properties that may be suitable for 
‘downsizing’ initiatives. 

 ¥ Homes in smaller, rural settlements i.e. as 
defined in Statutory Instrument 1997 No 621. 

 ¥ The Councils may support disposals in certain 
circumstances.  This may include property which 
is uneconomic to maintain, or is not of a type or in 
a location which meets housing need.

8. Disposal of Affordable Housing 

Registered Providers 
Tenancy Policies 

The Localism Act requires local authorities 
to signpost people to where Registered 
Providers’ tenancy policies can be found. A 
list of Registered Providers with Stock in in 
South Hams and West Devon can be found 
at Appendix 2. 

P
age 86



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 13

9. Equal Opportunities

The Councils are committed to equality 
of opportunity and anti-discriminatory 
practise in service provision and seeks 
to promote social inclusion.

Every effort will be made to ensure that housing 
applicants are treated fairly and sensitively. 
Applicants who are eligible to join Devon Home 
Choice will not be discriminated against on 
the grounds of race, colour, ethnic or national 
origin, disability, religion, age, gender, sexual 
orientation or marital status. All applicants will 
be asked to provide details of their ethnic origin. 
Devon Home Choice complies with the Equalities 
Act 2010.

10. Monitoring and Review 

We will monitor this Tenancy Strategy 
through annual updates and, where 
necessary, meetings with individual 
Registered Providers and/or key 
stakeholders. 

The Councils request that Registered Providers 
provide up to date copies of their Tenancy 
Policies and notifies the Councils of any 
proposed changes. 

This strategy will be amended and updated 
in order to conform to new housing and 
other relevant legislation and case law and to 
ensure that they do not operate in a way that 
discriminates against or disadvantages any 
particular group.

Registered Providers should adhere to their 
equality and diversity policies when monitoring 
an implementing this strategy and ensure they 
operate in compliance with the Equality Act. 

P
age 87



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 202114

Appendix 1 - 
Local Housing 
Allowance Rates 

This website shows the weekly  
Local Housing Allowance rates for  
the South Hams and West Devon 
areas depending on postcode.

https://lha-direct.voa.gov.uk/search.aspx

Appendix 2 -  
Registered Providers  
Tenancy Policies 

These are the contact details of Registered Providers with stock in South Hams and 
West Devon. Providers will be able to provide details of their tenancy policies. 

Registered Provider Telephone Website 

Advance Housing 0333 0124307 https://www.advanceuk.org/

Anchor 0808 1026795 www.anchorhanover.org.uk/

Aster 0333 4008222 www.astercommunities.co.uk

Guinness Hermitage 03031231890 www.guinnesspartnership.com

Hastoe Housing Association 03001232250 www.hastoe.com

Legal & General Affordable Homes www.legalandgeneral.com/affordable-homes 

Live West 03001238080 www.livewest.co.uk

Magna 01305 216000 www.magnaha.org.uk

Plymouth Community Homes 0808 2306500 www.plymouthcommunityhomes.co.uk

Sovereign South & West 0300 5000 926 www.sovereign.org.uk

South Devon Rural Housing Association 01803 863550 www.southdevonrural.co.uk

Sanctuary Housing 0800 1313348 www.sanctuary-housing.co.uk

Teign Housing 01626 322722 www.teignhousing.co.uk

Westward Housing Group 0300 100 1010 www.westwardhousing.org.uk

Willow Tree Housing Society 01752 250902 www.tamarhs.org

P
age 88



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 2021 15

Almost all of the partner landlords providing 
affordable housing in our area will require at 
least 2 weeks of rent in advance at the point of 
tenancy sign up. It is essential if you are looking 
to move into affordable housing that you 
consider setting up a savings plan to meet these 
initial costs. Any money you have saved toward 
the rent in advance is great – even if it is not quite 
enough to cover the full cost. If you are worried 
that you may not be able to raise enough money 
there are several options for you to consider. 

Building up a rent in advance 
sum after you have moved in

Many Housing Associations will allow you to 
pay a weekly or monthly contribution on top 
of your rent to build up a rent in advance sum 
on your rent account. Speak with your Housing 
Association Housing officer about setting up a 
payment scheme for your Rent in Advance. 

Financial Support options

Turn 2 Us is a free, accessible website offering a 
range of tools to help people access the money 

Advice if you are worried about paying rent in advance

available to them through benefits, grants and 
other financial help. The site has been designed 
to help people find appropriate sources of 
financial support, quickly and easily, based on 
their particular needs and circumstances 

Your local Authority Housing Advice team can 
often provide advice on local initiative to help 
people access funding to assist with a move

Credit unions 

Credit Unions are different from banks and other 
financial institutions. Members pool their savings 
to provide each other with credit at a low interest 
rate. Credit unions are community oriented 
and their purpose is to serve people rather than 
maximise profits which is why they offer loans 
at a lower interest rate than from Banks and 
other financial institutions. The services offered 
are similar to those offered by banks but they 
use different terminology e.g. share accounts 
instead of savings accounts. It is usually the case 
that you have to be a member of a credit union 
before you may deposit or borrow money. Find 
out more at: www.westcountry.org.uk

If you are Homeless or at  
Risk of Homelessness

South Hams and West Devon’s Housing Advice 
Service may be able to grant or loan you the 
funding you need to secure a tenancy and 
prevent you from being homeless. You can 
contact the Housing Advice team using the email 
housing.advice@swdevon.gov.uk

Budgeting Loan

To qualify for a budgeting loan you must be in 
receipt of certain benefits. Find out if you qualify 
for a Budgeting Loan from the DWP here:  
www.gov.uk/budgeting-help-benefits/ 
how-to-apply

Discretionary Housing Benefit

If you are already in receipt of housing related 
benefit or universal credit you may be able to 
apply for a Discretionary Housing Payment 
(DHP) to cover the cost of your rent in advance. 
These are managed by your Local Authority 
Housing Benefit team.

Further information on being sure you are Rent Ready can be found here: www.devonhomechoice.com/are-you-rent-ready

P
age 89



 South Hams and West Devon Tenancy Strategy - August 202116
www.southhams.gov.uk www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 90



Registered Provider contact details for consultation of Tenancy Strategy June/July 2021

Name Organisation Reply Comments
Heidi Hewett Guinness Partnership Yes Guinness will support the change, we currently request 2 weeks rent in advance, requesting that the 

remaining 2 weeks are repaid over an affordable arrangement post tenancy. 

Gary Pitman Devon Home Choice
Dan Janota Dartmoor National Park
Alison Golby Devon County  Council
Kerry Bate Live West Yes fixed term tenancies – we would usually offer a fixed term tenancy of 7 years (or 6 plus a 12 month 

starter period). In cases where there is limited leave to remain or pre-settled status, this may be less. We 
would not issue tenancies for less than 2 years.  - We issue fixed term tenancies on our larger property 
sizes in accordance with our tenure policy (3 plus bedrooms). If an application came through from 
someone with an existing secure tenancy or social housing tenancy from pre 2012, for a 3 or more 
bedroom property and that property was an affordable rent – they would only be offered a fixed term 
tenancy. However, if it were a social rent property, they would be offered an assured tenancy.  - LiveWest 
policy is for 4 weeks rent in advance across all of our geography. We would consider reducing this amount 
only by exception and on a case by case basis, but we would not agree to only asking for 2 weeks rent in 
advance as standard I’m afraid.

Christine South Devon Rural 
Housing Association

Gareth Fitzpatrick Rent Plus
Callum Turner Willow Tree Housing 
Steve Ford Plymouth Community 

Homes
Yes With regards to the proposed reduction of the RIA we’ve been able to support prospective residents in ensuring 

their ability to pay/afford the 4 weeks RIA requested. We have in extenuating circumstances further supported with 
repayment arrangements after the tenancy sign up. Given our tenancy sustainability and support regarding rental 
payments we wouldn’t be looking to amend our Board’s agreed pre tenancy requirements.

Andy Boon Aster
Rich Pillar Pillar Land Securities
Justine Murfin Westward Housing
Adria Brandon Clarion Housing Group

P
age 91



Lesley Metcalf Sovereign Housing
Chris Meadows Hastoe
Jon Cox Sovereign Housing
Claire Hooper Sanctuary Housing 
Ben Cane Legal & General 

Affordable Homes
Amanda Nicholls Teign Housing

P
age 92



Report to: Executive 

Date: 14 October 2021 

Title: Planning Improvement Plan – Phase 2 
Resources 

Portfolio Area: Built and Natural Environment – Cllr Judy 
Pearce, Leader of the Council 

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: any recommendations 
will be presented to the Council meeting to be held on 
25 November 2021 

Author: Drew Powell Role: Director of Governance & 
Assurance 

Contact: Drew.powell@swdevon.gov.uk 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
That the Executive:
1. RECOMMENDS to Council to employ six additional permanent 

posts (shared with West Devon Borough Council), being four 
planning specialists and two legal specialists, at an annual cost of 
£164,000 (the SHDC share of the costs), to be funded from 
additional planning income, and

2. RECOMMENDS to Council to increase the staffing budget by 
£164,000 and to increase the planning income target for 2022/23 
onwards by £164,000, and

3. Notes that a further phase 3 report will be presented to the 
Executive on 2 December 2021.

1. Executive Summary 

1.1.On 16 September 2021, the Executive adopted the Planning 
Improvement Plan and recommended that the Council allocate the 
sum of £171,900 of additional planning income for 2021/22, to cover 
the cost of temporary staff (South Hams share) within the 
Development Management (DM) and Enforcement Services until 
March 2022 (minute E.42/21 refers).  The funding recommendation 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Drew.powell@swdevon.gov.uk


was subsequently approved by Full Council at its meeting held on 
September 23rd 2021 (Minute 45/21 refers).

1.2. It was agreed that a further report would be brought back to 
Members setting out the need for any future increase in permanent 
staffing roles to support the future delivery of the planning service in 
light of the proven increase in demand.  

1.3.This report, which forms phase 2 of the improvement process, sets 
out the assessed need in terms of planning specialists and also 
additional legal specialists to support the planning and enforcement 
functions.

1.4.The report recommends that the new, permanent roles are funded 
from the additional planning income being generated as a result of 
the increase in applications and demand. 

1.5. In terms of case management support for the service, this will be 
considered at a later date as part of a wider look at corporate case 
management capacity and be included in phase 3.

1.6. It is also proposed that part of phase 3 of the improvement process 
will look in detail at the relationship between the DM and Planning 
Enforcement functions and the existing management arrangements 
for specialists and case managers to ensure that they are designed 
to deliver the best outcomes and service performance. This report 
however sets out some of the changes that are being implemented 
at this stage.

1.7.Phase 3 will also include an update on performance within the 
enforcement team plus feedback and learning from the Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS) led workshop held on 27th September. 

2. Strategic Context 

2.1.The Council’s new Corporate Strategy – ‘Better Lives for All’ - sets 
out a range of themes and associated aims supported by Thematic 
Delivery Plans which have now been adopted by Members. The DM 
and Enforcement Service forms part of the wider planning function 
alongside, for example, the Joint Local Plan, Strategic Planning and 
Neighbourhood planning teams, which are essential to deliver 
against our strategic aims.

2.2.The recently adopted Planning Improvement Plan sets out the 
Council approach to improving service performance and therefore 
supports ‘Better Lives for All’. A key part of this is establishing a 
stable and skilled team with the capacity to deliver the service 
efficiently and in line with demand. 

Page 94



3. Background

3.1.  Development Management and Planning Enforcement are key 
services delivered by the Council. The services can be highly 
complex and involve significant consultation and engagement with 
many different parties. As a result, the services are highly visible to 
many within our communities, businesses and for those that interact 
with these services.

3.2.The services are receiving year on year increases in applications 
and reported planning breaches; both services are struggling to 
meet the needs of service users and there have been a number of 
issues as a result of protracted timescales and/or quality issues.

3.3. It is recognised that the quality and speed of the service being 
provided at present needs to improve and hence the adoption of the 
Planning Improvement Plan. 

3.4.Whilst this report focusses on securing the additional posts needed 
to manage the increased demand on the services, it is recognised 
that this is only one strand of the improvement needed. It is equally 
important that each component part of the wider planning service 
works together. 

3.5. In view of this, it is proposed that part of phase 3 of the improvement 
process, which will be the subject of a further report to Members in 
due course, will focus on these relationships to ensure that the 
operational arrangements align with the broader strategic ambition 
whilst delivering effective and improved performance. 

3.6.The intention of this approach is to strengthen the strategic oversight 
and management of all aspects that contribute to the Council’s 
planning service.

3.7.At this stage, it is proposed that Senior Leadership Team oversight 
of Development Management and Planning Enforcement moves 
permanently to the Director of Governance and Assurance, Drew 
Powell, and the following organisational and operational measures 
are implemented:

 The integration of case management and specialists with 
business support managed as part of the service, with the Team 
Leader for DM and Enforcement Case Management sitting on the 
planning service management team;

 A regular planning service management team meeting chaired by 
the Director of Governance and Assurance, comprising the Head 
of Service, Business Manager (specialists), senior specialists (DM 
and enforcement), case management team leader plus relevant 

Page 95



planning policy colleagues. This would ensure the planning 
improvement plan is implemented and the core service operates 
to a consistently ‘good standard’; 

 A regular officer group to support the delivery of the ‘Built and 
Natural Environment’ theme of ‘Better Lives for All’, supported by 
the Directors of Governance and Assurance and Place and 
Enterprise, which would help ensure DM and other related areas 
are aligned to this and the other wider corporate objectives 
including climate change, housing and economy.

 The team remains focussed on the functionality of the new 
Planning IT system (which forms part of the wider corporate 
‘Future IT’ Project)

3.8. It is recognised that the planning and enforcement service does not 
operate in isolation. It is vital that the relationships with internal and 
external consultees are strengthened through, for example, the 
introduction of service level agreements, or similar, to secure and 
monitor, timely responses in line with the targets set by the service. 
The relationship with the legal service is a good example and, at 
present, it is clear that the legal service does not have sufficient 
capacity to support the service efficiently.

3.9. In view of the above, a comprehensive analysis has been 
undertaken comparing the increased demand on the service with the 
current, corporate capacity to deliver at the required standard. The 
analysis has identified capacity gaps that need to be closed if the 
service is to improve and deliver positive outcomes.

4. Demand and Capacity

4.1.The planning service has been operating for some years with 
temporary staff (whether because of a high turnover of staff or due 
to the increased demand) and whilst this has been helpful in terms 
of capacity, it can adversely impact on continuity, and consistency of 
decisions. 

4.2. Inevitably, the use of agency staff is a more expensive resource than 
permanent staff on the establishment and the shortfall has been met 
by additional planning income and staffing vacancies in previous 
years. Over the last 5 years, agency costs have averaged in the 
order of £120,000 per year.  This year that sum already amounts to 
£116,000 to the end of August (month 6). Continuing to utilise 
temporary and/or agency staff is clearly not the most cost-effective 
way to manage the increased demand. 

4.3.As set out in the report to the Executive on 16 September, there has 
been a significant rise in applications received over the past two 

Page 96



years which equates to a 12% increase. This trend has continued 
into 2021 and it is predicted that demand will continue to rise.

4.4.This increase in planning applications is reflected in the planning 
income received. Income is predicted to be in excess of £300,000 
over the budgeted planning income for 2021/22 of £920,000.

4.5.We have undertaken a detailed assessment of the capacity of the 
Development Management Team to deliver the service. The 
assessment has considered both the work of specialists (who 
determine the applications) and case managers (who provide 
support for the processes involved for example, registering 
applications).

4.6.The assessment has considered the number of applications 
received as well as other, non-application work that the service 
delivers for example, pre-applications, appeals, and complaints, 
management of performance data, management and mentoring of 
colleagues as well as the wider quality assurance of the planning 
process, together with the capacity to manage and deliver an 
effective and continuously improving service.  

4.7.The approach and calculations undertaken are supported by the 
Planning Advisory Service (PAS) and has evidenced that, in addition 
to the current staffing establishment, there is a need for additional 
permanent staff. For avoidance of doubt, this is not in addition to the 
temporary staff currently in post and funded to the end of March 
2022.  

4.8.With regards to the planning specialists, the assessment has 
identified a need for an additional 4 officers - one Level 5 and three 
Level 6’s – at a cost of £110,000 (SHDC share of costs – Planning 
specialists are split 76% SHDC and 24% WDBC). As detailed in 
paragraph 1.5 above, an assessment on the need for case 
managers will be considered during phase 3.

4.9. It is important to note at this stage that demand on the service may 
increase or potentially decrease. We will continue to monitor 
application numbers and will adjust staffing levels accordingly and in 
line with the available budget.

4.10. In addition, a detailed assessment has also been carried out in 
relation to the level of legal support required specifically for the DM 
and enforcement services.

4.11.Currently, Legal Services have contracted additional locum 
capacity to provide this support but in order to provide consistency 
and to develop the long term relationship between the services it is 
proposed that we recruit two additional specialist regulatory 

Page 97



lawyers, who will be focused on providing advice and legal support 
on development management, planning enforcement, and related 
court work and appeals.

4.12.The costs for the two additional regulatory lawyers – one at Level 4 
and one at Level 5 - is £54,000 (SHDC share of costs – Legal 
Specialists are split 60% SHDC and 40% WDBC).

4.13.The South Hams share of costs of the additional resource amounts 
to £164,000. It is proposed to fund this from the increased amount 
of Planning Income that we are receiving as set out in paragraph 
4.4 above. It is recommended to increase the staffing 
establishment budget by £164,000 and to also increase the 
planning income target for 2022/23 onwards by £164,000. 
Therefore the extra planning income currently being generated will 
finance the additional staffing resource required.  If approved by 
Members, this will be built into the next iteration and update of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

5. Proposed Way Forward
5.1.The demand on the Development Management and Planning 

Enforcement services continues to increase and detailed 
assessment has shown that the wider service does not have the 
capacity to deliver the services to the expected standard.

5.2. The addition of the posts identified in this report, funded by the 
additional income being generated by the increase in demand, will 
help secure measurable, sustained improvement in performance.

5.3. A further phase 3 report will be brought back to the Executive on 2nd 
December. 

8. Implications

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y It is a requirement of the Council Constitution for 
any increases to the staffing establishment to be an 
ultimate decision for Full Council. 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for money

Y The report recommends employing six additional 
permanent posts (shared with West Devon Borough 
Council), being four planning specialists and two 
legal specialists. The SHDC share of the costs 
would be £164,000.

It is recommended to increase the staffing budget 
by £164,000 and to also increase the planning 
income target for 2022/23 onwards by £164,000. 

Page 98



Therefore the extra planning income currently being 
generated will finance the additional staffing 
resource required.

If approved by Members, this will be built into the 
next iteration and update of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

Risk Y That the Council fails to deliver a Service that meets 
the expectations of Members and our Customers 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Y Council, Homes, Environment, Enterprise 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

N No direct carbon or diversity impacts arise from this 
report

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

N/A  

Safeguarding N/A  

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing

N/A

Other implications N/A 

Supporting Information
Appendices: 
None 

Background Papers:
None

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Executive

Date: 14th October 2021

Title: Write Off Report

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Cllr Bastone

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y / N

Date next steps can be taken: Upon the expiry of 
the O+S Call-in period (5.00pm on Monday, 25 
October)

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Section 151 Officer

Contact: Ext. 1413  lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Executive:

1. notes that, in accordance with Financial Regulations, the 
Section 151 Officer has authorised the write-off of individual 
South Hams District Council debts totalling £65,298.71 as 
detailed in Tables 1 and 2; and

2. approves the write off of individual debts in excess of £5,000 
totalling £41,165.18, as detailed in Table 3.

1. Executive summary 

The Council is responsible for the collection of: Housing Rents, Sundry 
Debts including Housing Benefit Overpayments, Council Tax and National 
Non-Domestic Rates.

The report informs Members of the debt written off for these revenue 
streams.  Debts up to the value of £5,000 can be written off by the s151 
Officer, under delegated authority.  Permission needs to be sought from 
the Executive to write off individual debts with a value of more than 
£5,000.        

This report covers the period 1st April 2021 to 30th September 2021.

The total of South Hams District Council debts to be written off is 
£106,463.89. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10

mailto:lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk


2. Background 

The Council’s sound financial management arrangements underpin delivery 
of all the Council’s priorities, including the commitment to providing value 
for money services. 

This report forms part of the formal debt write-off procedures included in 
these financial arrangements.

The Council’s collection rate for 2020/21 for Council Tax was 97.8% which 
is 2.1% higher than the National Average of 95.7%.  

The Council’s collection rate for Business Rates was 91.7% which is slightly 
below the National Average of 93%.  Debts outstanding for 2020/21 will 
continue to be pursued.  This compares to the collection rates for 2019/20 
which were 98.3% for Council Tax and 98.7% for Business Rates. 

Debts are recovered in accordance with the Council’s Recovery Policy which 
is published on our website.

3. Outcomes/outputs 

In accordance with good financial management principles, the Council 
makes appropriate bad debt provisions for all revenue streams detailed in 
this report.  This provision recognises that a proportion of the Authority’s 
debts will prove irrecoverable and ensures that the value of debtors within 
the Authority’s accounts is a fair reflection of the amount that will eventually 
be recovered. 

All debts, taxes and rates within the Service’s control are actively pursued, 
and in most instances are collected with little difficulty.  In cases where 
payment is not received on time, a reminder will be issued promptly to the 
debtor.  If this fails to secure payment, a final reminder and/or a summons 
will also be issued and if necessary the debt passed to an appropriate 
collection agent such as the Civil Enforcement Agents or the Council’s Legal 
Department in order to secure payment.  

Sometimes, however, if the debtor is having difficulty making the payment, 
special arrangements are used to effect recovery, and this may mean 
extending the period of time to collect the debt.

In some cases pursuit of an outstanding debt is not possible for a variety of 
reasons, such as bankruptcy or liquidation and such cases with arrears 
under £5,000 can be written off by the Section 151 Officer under delegated 
authority.  Cases where the debt exceeds £5,000 must, however, be 
approved by the Executive prior to the debt being written off.

A record is kept of debts written off, together with the reason for doing so, 
so that if there is a realistic chance of recovery in the future a debt may be 
resurrected and pursued again.

Page 102



The Service has access to Experian’s Citizenview database which is 
currently the most reliable means of tracing absconded debtors.  Each case 
is checked against this system before a decision is taken to write off the 
debt. A periodic review of write offs against this system may also be carried 
out to resurrect debts where appropriate.

4. Options available and consideration of risk 

The Executive can either approve the debt being written off or not.  Should 
the write off of an individual debt not be approved, it will remain on the 
appropriate system as an outstanding balance.  In cases of insolvency, 
there is no option available to the Council but to stop any action to collect 
the debt.  With any case where the debt remains on the appropriate Council 
system, it may result in additional time and cost spent to pursue the debts 
when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  

5. Proposed Way Forward 

The Executive approves the write off of individual debts in excess of £5,000 
as detailed in Table 3.

6. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance The relevant powers for this report are contained 
within the following legislation;
          
Section 151 Local Government Act 1972
Section 44 Local Government Finance Act 1988 
(Non Domestic Rates)
Section 14 Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(Council Tax)

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money

The Executive notes that, in accordance with 
Financial Regulations, the Section 151 Officer has 
authorised the write-off of individual South Hams 
District Council debts totalling £65,298.71 as 
detailed in Tables 1 and 2.
It is recommended that the Executive approves the 
write off of individual debts in excess of £5,000 
totalling £41,165.18, as detailed in Table 3.
The total debts to be written off are £106,463.89.

Risk Any risk to reputation is managed carefully by 
prompt recovery of amounts due wherever 
possible.

This risk is also mitigated by taking a balanced 
view and ensuring that resources are not expended 
on debts which are not cost effective to pursue.

Page 103



The obvious risk of debtors subsequently being 
able to pay a debt which has been written off is 
mitigated by the activity outlined in Part 3.  

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Delivering efficient and effective services

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

No direct carbon/biodiversity impact arising from 
the recommendations

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

All enforcement action that is taken prior to this 
point is undertaken in accordance with legislation 
and accepted procedures to ensure no 
discrimination takes place.

Safeguarding None  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

None  

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None

Other 
implications

A bad debt provision is built into the financial 
management of the Authority

Supporting Information

Appendices:
Table 1 – Council debt under £5,000 written off by the Section 151 Officer
Table 2 – Non-Domestic Rate debt under £5,000 written off by the Section 
151 Officer
Table 3 – Summary of items over £5,000 where permission to write off is 
requested
Table 4 – National & Local Collection Statistics re 2020/21 Collection Rates
Table 5 – Quarterly income in 2020/21 relating to all years
Table 6 – Previous Year Write Off Totals

Background Papers:
None

Page 104



TABLE 1   SUMMARY OF SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL DEBT UNDER £5,000 WRITTEN OFF BY S151 OFFICER

Financial Year 2021/22 Totals for Comparison purposes  NUMBER OF 
CASES Quarters 1 & 2 Total  Equivalent Quarters 

2020/21 Grand Total 2020/21
TYPE OF 

DEBT

<£1000 >£1000 N
o 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
/ b

us
in

es
s

REASON FOR W/OFF

Cases Amount Cases Amount Cases Amount
HOUSING 10 - Overpaid Entitlement 10 1,310.61 26 7,236.33 41 10,461.25
BENEFIT 2 2 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 4 £6,513.22 7 5,682.12 11 10,334.69

- - Absconded - - - - - -
2 - Deceased 2 236.75 3 1,143.39 7 5,099.18
4 - Not cost effective to pursue 4 11.21 9 56.79 18 183.19
3 1         Uncollectable old debt 4 2,199.62 16 2,922.94 26 9,444.46

Total 21 3 24 10,271.41 61 17,041.57 103 35,522.77
COUNCIL 8 1 Absconded 9 3,157.23 26 15,839.66 44 20,967.29

TAX 12 5 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 17 18,751.86 43 42,432.01 82 82,141.83
6 4 Deceased 10 12,820.01 - - 12 5,370.66

12 - Small balance 12 20.06 6 3.53 113 101.78
1 - Other (inc. CTR overpayment) 1 315.65 3 2,805.45 8 4,072.42
2 1 Uncollectable old debt 3 2,183.01 7 1,526.91 13 3,552.30

Total 41 11 52 37,247.82 85 62,607.56 272 116,206.28
SUNDRY 52 - 19 Absconded 52 6,191.57 2 283.17 4 1,013.32

DEBTS 6 1 4 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 7 3,011.07 2 1,013.00 5 1,857.70
9 - 3 Not able to receover 9 682.85 13 3,568.73 16 4,851.53
- - - Other - - 1 1,200.00 7 2,423.67

82 - 53 Not economical to collect 82 2,275.59 67 2,402.83 255 14,818.47
5 - 3 Deceased 5 499.06 - - - -

Total 154 1 155 12,660.14 85 8,467.73 287 24,964.69

Grand Total 216 15 231 60,179.37 231 88,116.86 662 176,693.74

P
age 105



TABLE 2     SUMMARY OF NON DOMESTIC RATE DEBT UNDER £5,000 WRITTEN OFF BY S151 OFFICER

Financial Year 2021/22 Totals for Comparison purposes  NUMBER OF 
CASES Quarters 1 & 2 Total Equivalent Quarters 

2020/21 Grand Total 2020/21TYPE OF 
DEBT

<£1000 >£1000

N
o 

of
 

pe
op

le
 / 

bu
si

ne
ss

REASON FOR W/OFF

Cases Amount Cases Amount Cases Amount
NON- - - - Absconded - - - - - -

DOMESTIC - 2 2 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 2 5,119.34 1 2,200.00 5 10,777.71
RATE - - - Other (inc. small balances) - - 1 0.01 4 0.94

- - - Uncollectable old Debt - - - - 1 143.81
- - - Deceased - - - - 1 135.23

Total - 2 2 2 5,119.34 2 2,200.01 11 11,057.69

TABLE 3     SUMMARY OF ITEMS OVER £5,000 WHERE PERMISSION TO WRITE OFF IS REQUESTED

Financial Year 2021/22 Totals for Comparison purposes  
Quarters 1 & 2 Total  Equivalent Quarter 2020/21 Grand Total 2020/21TYPE OF DEBT

NUMBER 
OF 

CASES
REASON FOR W/OFF

Case Amount Cases Amount Cases Amount
NON-DOMESTIC RATE 4 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 4 35,036.84 1 175,952.32 4 209,556.44

- Absconded - - - - - -
- Uncollectable old Debt - - - - - -
- Other - - - - - -

Total 4 4 35,036.84 1 175,952.32 4 209,556.44
HOUSING BENEFIT - Deceased - - - - - -

1 Overpaid Entitlement 1 6,128.34 - - - -
- Uncollectable - - - - - -
- Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - - - - -

Total 1 1 6,128.34 - - - -
COUNCIL TAX - Absconded - - - - - -

- Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - 1 6,657.17 1 6,657.17
- Other (inc. CTR overpayment) - - - - - -

Total - - - 1 6,657.17 1 6,657.17
SUNDRY DEBTORS - Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - 2 17,323.60 2 17,323.60

- Uncollectable old debt - - - - - -
- Absconded - - 1 7,869.74 1 7,869.74
- Deceased - - - - - -

Total - - - 3 25,193.34 3 25,193.34
Grand Total 5 5 41,165.18 5 201,802.83 8 241,406.95

P
age 106



TABLE 4     NATIONAL & LOCAL COLLECTION STATISTICS RE 2020-21 COLLECTION RATES

Total amount collected in 2020-21 relating to 2020-21 financial year only (net of refunds relating to 2020-21)

Council Tax Non Domestic Rates
Collectable Debit    

i.r.o. 20/21 - £000s
Net Cash Collected* 
i.r.o. 20/21 - £000s

Amount Collected 
i.r.o. 20/21 - %age

Collectable Debit    
i.r.o. 20/21 - £000s

Net Cash Collected* 
i.r.o. 20/21 - £000s

Amount Collected 
i.r.o. 20/21 - %age

       
All England 
(National Average) 33,101,727 31,678,072 95.7 16,001,106 14,883,986 93.0
 
Shire Districts 14,384,849 13,937,177 96.9 4,658,929 4,426,210 95.0
 
East Devon 118,232 116,694 98.7 18,816 17,500 93.0
Exeter 71,545 68,738 96.1 38,486 36,884 95.8
Mid Devon 59,258 57,456 97.0 8,766 8,486 96.8
North Devon 69,326 66,556 96.0 12,443 11,849 95.2
Plymouth 134,488 132,125 98.2 45,584 44,912 98.5
South Hams 77,296 75,601 97.8 17,657 16,198 91.7
Teignbridge 97,908 96,075 98.1 14,570 14,099 96.8
Torbay 87,550 83,248 95.1 11,929 10,498 88.0
Torridge 48,254 46,966 97.3 5,503 5,278 95.9
West Devon 42,737 41,596 97.3 5,172 4,734 91.5
* Net Cash Collected is total 2020-21 receipts net of refunds paid, in respect of 2020-21 only

TABLE 5     QUARTERLY INCOME IN 2020-21 RELATING TO ALL YEARS

Total amount collected in 2020-21 relating to any financial year (net of all refunds in 2020-21)

Council Tax 
Net Cash Collected*

£000s

Non Domestic Rates 
Net Cash Collected*

£000s
Quarter 1 - Receipts collected between 1st April – 30th June 22,365 4,629
Quarter 2 - Receipts collected between 1st July – 31st September 20,626 3,722
Quarter 3 - Receipts collected between 1st October – 31st December 21,525 2,855
Quarter 4 - Receipts collected between 1st January – 31st March 11,160 2,698
* Net Cash Collected is total receipts in 2020-21 net of refunds paid, irrespective of the financial year (previous, current or future years) to which they relate

P
age 107



TABLE 6     PREVIOUS YEAR WRITE OFF TOTALS

  2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016 - 17 2015 - 16
HOUSING BENEFIT Under £5,000 cases 35,522.77 100,182.18 71,150.67 151,891.76 68,357.34 57,038.07
HOUSING BENEFIT £5,000 or over cases 0.00 7,615.46 30,773.79 63,513.87 5,394.07 7,177.42
Total  35,522.77 107,797,64 101,924.46 215,405.63 73,751.41 64,215.49
        
COUNCIL TAX Under £5,000 cases 116,206.28 111,054.11 94,052.07 95,979.12 93,486.69 54,831.67
COUNCIL TAX £5,000 or over cases 6,657.17 14,327.98 17,985.43 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total  122,863.45 125,382.09 112,037.50 95,979.12 93,486.69 54.831.67
        
SUNDRY DEBTS Under £5,000 cases 24,964.69 22,296.30 38,131.86 102,792.98 1,321.50 9.03
SUNDRY DEBTS £5,000 or over cases 25,193.34 9,814.41 41,940.58 73,929.08 0.00 0.00
Total  50,158.03 32,110.71 80,072.44 176,722.06 1,321.50 9.03
        
HOUSING RENTS Under £5,000 cases * * 0.00* 128.29 270.00 0.00
HOUSING RENTS £5,000 or over cases * * 0.00* 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total  * * 0.00* 128.29 270.00 0.00
        
NON DOMESTIC RATES Under £5,000 cases 11,057.69 31,067.77 13,655.99 20,832.66 32,812.78 37,074.12
NON DOMESTIC RATES £5,000 or over cases 209,556.44 244,190.88 82,356.99 20,030.54 47,128.00 252,084.33
Total  220,614.13 275,258.65 96,012.98 40,863.20 79,940.78 289,158.45
        
GRAND TOTAL  429,158.38 540,549.09 390,047.38 529,098.30 248,770.38 408,214.64

*Housing Rents write offs now included within Sundry Debts figures

P
age 108



Report to: Executive 

Date: 14th October 2021

Title: Enhancing Biodiversity on Council green 
spaces – Consultation feedback 

Portfolio Area: Climate Change and Biodiversity

Cllr Holway

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Date next steps can be taken: After call in 
period for 
Executive

Author: Chris Brook Role: Director – Place and 
Enterprise

Contact: Chris.Brook@swdevon.gov.uk

1. Executive summary 

1.1 Further to the Council’s declared target of increasing the 
biodiversity value of its land by 10% by 2025, the Council 
undertook a public consultation in summer 2021 on the principle 

Recommendations:

That the Executive:

1. Notes the support shown through the public consultation for 
the principle of increasing the biodiversity value of Council 
owned land by the proposed approach to site management.

2. Notes that in response to this support, officers are drawing 
up a site by site Grounds Maintenance schedule which will 
be circulated to Members and Town and Parish Councils for 
comment.

3. Request a report be put on the forward plan for January 
2022 to consider the detailed proposals, equipment 
specification, revenue and capital expenditure to deliver the 
biodiversity gain.

Page 109

Agenda Item 11



of managing Council owned land to increase biodiversity and 
wildlife value, and inviting further comments and ideas.

1.2 The public engaged positively with the consultation resulting in 
over 1,000 responses, with over 700 respondents adding further 
comments or ideas. The responses to the questions posed were 
overwhelmingly supportive, with:

i. Over 97% in favour of general principle of improving 
biodiversity and wildlife value

ii. Over 90% in favour of:
 relaxation of cutting regimes
 leaving areas of long grass on verges and peripheries of 

parks
 new areas of wildflower planting. 

1.3 Less than 5% of the written comments presented a negative 
comment to the principles of relaxing cutting regimes and long 
grass. 

1.4 In response to this, officers are reviewing existing Council owned 
green spaces (namely ‘grass’ sites) District-wide to compile a 
proposed Grounds Maintenance map layer reflecting how the 
aspirations could translate on a site by site basis. 

1.5 This will be circulated first to Members, then shortly afterwards 
to Town and Parish Councils, inviting their comments and 
discussion on appropriate approach as required, for inclusion in a 
future report to the Executive. 

2. Public Consultation results 

2.1 Further to the recommendations of the July Executive, a public 
consultation, underpinned by a Consultation Plan and promoted 
via local press and social media, was undertaken on the 
principles of making changes to the approach to Grounds 
Maintenance on Council owned green spaces. 

2.2 The consultation has drawn the highest level of engagement yet 
to a Council consultation by a considerable margin. It might be 
reasonable to consider that this high level of response is 
reflective of a cross-section of South Hams residents - i.e. that 
given the emotive nature of both climate change/biodiversity on 
the one hand, and the aesthetics of green spaces on the other, 
that the consultation would naturally attract responses from 
those strongly supportive as well as those strongly opposed to 
the principles of relaxing grass cutting and letting grass grow 
long.

2.3 Accordingly, consultation has shown, that at least in principle, 
the majority of South Hams residents support moves to increase 
biodiversity and wildlife value of Council owned green spaces, by 

Page 110



relaxing the frequency of grass cutting where appropriate, and by 
introducing a more biodiversity focussed regime. 

2.4 The full consultation report can be reviewed at Appendix 1, this 
includes 40 pages of written comments to the question ‘Do you 
have any further comments or ideas about the Council 
proposals.’ 

2.5 Notwithstanding that there are many excellent, and varied 
comments for the Council to seek to act upon and incorporate 
into proposals as they evolve, the most commonly occurring 
comments can be grouped into the following broad points:
a. 10% Biodiversity Net Gain is not enough, it should be much 

higher and the Council should just get on with it. Managing 
for nature should be the default approach.

b. There is a need to ensure proposals do not compromise 
highways and junction visibility, and that pavements remain 
safe to use.

c. Glyphosate use should cease.
d. Trees (including fruit trees) should be planted wherever 

possible.
e. Communication is important – onsite signage, communicating 

positive outcomes, linking with existing initiatives and 
seeking to educate widely. 

2.6 Alongside the public consultation a more targeted consultation 
was undertaken with Town and Parish Councils including 
questions related to their own site management and appetite for 
engaging with a more biodiversity focussed Grounds Maintenance 
service, if the District Council offer this option commercially. 
Early feedback has been received with more to follow after officer 
meetings with Town and Parish Councils. This will be included in 
the January 2022 report to Executive. 

3. Proposed Way Forward 

3.1 To assist Members and the Town and Parish Councils, officers are 
compiling a proposed biodiversity focussed Grounds Maintenance 
layer on the Council’s Interactive Map. The link to the layer will 
be circulated first to Members, before being circulated shortly 
afterwards to Town and Parish Councils for review, with an 
invitation to comment on and discuss proposals.  In this way 
Members and Town and Parish Councils can see what the well 
supported principle means to each community and its green 
spaces and this will influence the approach the Council ultimately 
adopts.

3.2 The January 2022 report will also include information with 
respect to:
 Glyphosate use
 Tree planting on Council owned green spaces

Page 111



 Consideration of commercial aspects of Grounds Maintenance 
including the 2020 South Somerset review of the service

 Equipment required to deliver the proposed biodiversity site 
management

 Revenue implications including staffing and disposal of green 
waste arisings.

3.3 It is envisaged that, subject to the Executive supporting the 
detailed proposals in December, positive action towards meeting 
the 2025 10% Biodiversity Net Gain target can commence in 
2022.

 
6. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance The Council has a general power under the Local 
Government Act 1972 to maintain land that it owns 
either for the purpose of its functions or the 
benefit, improvement or development of the 
Council’s area.  

The Council also has a duty to have regard to 
conserving biodiversity as part of its policy and 
decision making under the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006.

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money

Detailed proposals will be set out in the report to 
December Executive.  

Risk A politically binding target of 10% net increase in 
biodiversity has been adopted by the Council. 
Inaction to meet the Council’s biodiversity target 
will undermine the Council’s credibility to deliver on 
this and other commitments.

Detailed proposals will be set out in the report to 
December Executive. 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Climate Change and Biodiversity 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

Measure to be detailed in a proposed new Grounds 
Maintenance layer would achieve the target set of 
10% increase in Biodiversity from our own land.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

No implications  

Page 112



Safeguarding No implications  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

No implications

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

No implications

Other 
implications

None at this stage

Supporting Information

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – South Hams Biodiversity Survey results

Background Papers:
None

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

1 / 48

97.31% 1,011

2.69% 28

Q1 Do you support the Council's commitment to enhance biodiversity by at
least 10% on our green spaces by 2025?

Answered: 1,039 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 1,039

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 115



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

2 / 48

97.40% 1,011

2.60% 27

0.00% 0

Q2 Do you support the Council in its aim to improve the opportunities for
wildlife at its existing green spaces?

Answered: 1,038 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 1,038

Yes

No

I'm not sure

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

I'm not sure

Page 116



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

3 / 48

93.64% 972

6.36% 66

0.00% 0

Q3 Would you like the Council to relax its cutting regime where it does not
conflict with formal and informal recreation?

Answered: 1,038 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 1,038

Yes

No

I'm not sure

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

I'm not sure

Page 117



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

4 / 48

91.40% 946

8.60% 89

Q4 Would you like areas of long grass to be left on some verges and on
peripheries of parks?

Answered: 1,035 Skipped: 4

TOTAL 1,035

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 118



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

5 / 48

84.61% 863

15.39% 157

Q5 Would you like to see framing of long grass with regularly cut borders
and cutting of paths through long grass?

Answered: 1,020 Skipped: 19

TOTAL 1,020

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 119



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

6 / 48

97.58% 1,006

2.42% 25

0.00% 0

Q6 Would you like to see areas of new wildflower planting on our green
spaces?

Answered: 1,031 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 1,031

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY HOW) DATE

 There are no responses.  

Yes

No

Other (please
specify how)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Other (please specify how)

Page 120



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

7 / 48

91.04% 925

8.96% 91

Q7 Do you think there is more the Council should do to enhance
biodiversity?

Answered: 1,016 Skipped: 23

TOTAL 1,016

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Page 121



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

8 / 48

Q8 Do you have any other comments or ideas about the Council
proposals?

Answered: 723 Skipped: 316

# RESPONSES DATE

1 It would be beneficial to see SHDC working in partnership with local groups / experts. 8/5/2021 11:11 PM

2 It would be beneficial if SHDC advertised their proposals to a wider audience in villages and
schools, as currently in East Allington, we are attempting to implement these proposals locally
and it would be beneficial to inform and educate everone in the village without formal help from
the Council.

8/5/2021 5:18 PM

3 This survey is too narrow, giving only 'yes/no' answer choices. With no indication as to
precisely which areas you are intending to include in this scheme it is impossible to consider
fully, and makes a huge assumption that all the South Hams' constituent towns and parishes
agree with the 'climate emergency' the District Council has signed up to.

8/5/2021 3:57 PM

4 The Council should re-wild as large an area as possible, and introduce wild-life ponds where
appropriate and anything else that would provide habitats for insects and animals. Where wild
flowers are introduced, they should be native species from this locality. As much as possible
needs to be done to enhance biodiversity. The situation is urgent.

8/5/2021 12:31 PM

5 Increase planting of native/appropriate trees on council land. Introduce ponds where possible
on council land. Reduce pesticide/herbicide use to a minimum/none. Maintain/develop wildlife
corridors, particularly around new housing (of which there is a lot atm). Appreciate some of this
will involve expenditure but some offset by reduced "maintenance" of verges etc. Use
expertise & labour of DWT, Rivers Trust & CPRE to achieve these aims.

8/5/2021 11:15 AM

6 Traffic sight lines and pedestrian safety is taken into account. Redundant churchyards must
not be left uncut if it is difficult for visitors to walk through and around them and they look
untidy.

8/5/2021 9:14 AM

7 This is a start to restoring biodiversity. I think more needs to be done to inform people about
the benefits then people will do similar in gardens etc but many people don't realise the
benefits. Other encouragement for privately owned areas would help. Most of all,
encouragement for better farming practices/ regenerative crops because it is clear much of the
soil in SH is depleting badly; you can see it doesn't hold the rain and runs all over the lanes. In
just a few years our soils will no longer be able to feed us.

8/5/2021 8:04 AM

8 I am very grateful that you are taking steps to protect biodiversity. 8/4/2021 4:18 PM

9 This is a great step forward in enhancing the number of bees, butterflies and all wildlife. I am in
total agreement .

8/4/2021 10:58 AM

10 I welcome the Council's proposals to increase biodiversity. Given the urgency of the situation, I
think that consideration should be given to a more ambitious target than an increase of 10% by
2025.I note that in another part of the document it mentions a net gain of around 12.5%.With
flexible thinking there may be other areas where planting could be increased, for example, we
have just redesigned our play area to incorporate species friendly planting and this seems to
be working well. It would be helpful to know which measures you are using to track biodiversity
gains. I note that in the Implications section of the Executive Report, there are no implications
noted for Health and Wellbeing. There is considerable research documenting the beneficial
effects of green spaces on wellbeing so this could be another factor to consider in future
measurement of impact. Our local wildlife action group and Parish Council looks forward to
working with SHDC to achieve positive results.

8/3/2021 8:40 PM

11 increasing biodiversity is great but to also look to increase wildlife corridors between managed
areas and provide information on these sites as to whats being done.

8/3/2021 6:18 PM

12 Improve biodiversity by not building loads of housing estates 8/3/2021 6:07 PM

13 Keep the spaces cut and tidy. All this planting of more wild flower areas is a mess when they 8/3/2021 5:34 PMPage 122



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

9 / 48

finish flowering. There is enough wild flowers in the hedges.

14 Love all of these ideas! I think you could also potentially do more to enable community groups
with training and funding to do the same in their own communities. In addition, I would love to
see thought given a greater variety of ecosystems, including wetlands.

8/3/2021 12:32 PM

15 10% seems like a modest target. Could we improve upon that? 8/3/2021 12:24 PM

16 Good for nature and good for people 8/2/2021 11:51 PM

17 10% increase in biodiversity seems a bit low, lets aim higher! Can we do more to put up bird
and bat boxes on SHDC buildings/trees? Can we try to link areas together to create nature
corridors?

8/1/2021 10:19 PM

18 A good start but there is so much more that could be done. Please increase the amount of
land put aside for meadows and drastically cut back on the mowing - for safety only, not to
'look neat' for some people. Thank you for giving us the chance to comment. .

8/1/2021 8:38 PM

19 It would be great if the council would stop using any chemicals at all (e.g. glyphosate or any
other such substance). Also, it would be great if strimming could be replaced with other
methods of mowing areas, because I have seen a few beheaded grass snakes and slow
worms on strimmed verges. Very sad.

8/1/2021 8:21 PM

20 rewilding is great 8/1/2021 12:21 PM

21 Animal awareness. I see too much road l Kill on our roads and litter. We need to be educating
ppl on this

8/1/2021 8:06 AM

22 Offer rewinding seeds and advice for the public to create their own spaces in their gardens. 8/1/2021 12:03 AM

23 I would like to see protection and preservation of all mature trees on council land, absolutely
zero use of glyphosate, more wildflowers and flowering shrubs, the creation of wildlife bridges
and highways in built-up areas, extreme environmental consideration regarding new build
housing estates and greater recognition of the vital importance of green spaces for community
physical and mental health.

7/31/2021 5:43 PM

24 Small ponds to create habitats for wetland creatures, I am always finding frogs/toads
wandering miles from water with a possibility eventually of the community helping keep the
areas encouraging young children to be aware from an early age

7/31/2021 5:13 PM

25 We need to take every opportunity to manage as much of the land accessible to local
council/schools/churches/verges/roundabouts/riparian zones etc for the benefit of biodiversity
and wildlife. Saw wonderful examples in Sussex recently.

7/31/2021 9:02 AM

26 We should be protecting out current wild spaces 7/30/2021 11:02 PM

27 , This is a great and important initiative. Great minds think alike and we have
(ModWAG) been able to persuade the PC and the Church PCC to leave certain verges (the
ones not overlooked by houses, so with no 'personal interest') and an area in the churchyard to
grow long this year. No mowing except for neatening the road edges has been done and of
course it both looks amazing and is a BNG! In the churchyard we have been doing a citizen
science survey over the summer to hopefully persuade the PCC to let more areas wild up
and/or be seeded next summer. We hope to do have a public forum to discuss the verges and
verge action in the autumn. All very interesting and the need to nudge and gently change
peoples expectation of 'neat' - its all about control and the human need for it! I think we may
have to think of other ways the public can take control if this wilding approach is going to work!
Good Luck!! Love to be involved or help in any way we can, best wishes

7/30/2021 11:19 AM

28 Working more closely with Devon CC to ensure your mowing regimes and biodiversity
strategies are aligned.

7/30/2021 9:56 AM

29 I think it is hugely beneficial to leave areas of uncut grass in parks & on roadside verges.
Planting of wild flowers in the same areas would further enhance the bio-diversity &
appearance of these areas.

7/28/2021 11:57 AM

30 Increase the diversity of hedge rows. 7/28/2021 9:17 AM

31 Brilliant idea,beautiful wildflowers encourages people to be inspired by their own areas 7/27/2021 7:55 PM

32 agree with wilder areas. Also our parks and open spaces are not gardens and not every verge 7/27/2021 7:53 PM

Page 123



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

10 / 48

needs to be treated as if it were. I would like to see more herbs and perennial plants that
encourage pollenating insects and less hybrid annuals which can be less attractive to
butterflies and insects .

33 Does this include Public Open Space? We have a small POS nextto our property which is
regularly missed by the grass cutters but the local kids need it cut to play on it. Also verges
that are on roads, particularly bends in roads will need to be cut on safety/visibility grounds!!!!

7/27/2021 3:47 PM

34 I think that you should be aiming much higher than 10% and to utilise as many people,
charities, trusts that you can that have the expertise to advise, such as Devon Wildlife Trust,
Woodland Trust etc.

7/27/2021 2:31 PM

35 It would be great for SH to be at the forefront of biodiversity protection and enhancement.
There is so much that can be done and these points here are just the beginning. There are
many people in the area with a wealth of knowledge on steps that can be taken, and a lot to be
gained from wider community and landowner/farmer engagement on this topic. Encouraging
people to see wild areas as beautiful and not "scruffy" or "unkempt". 100% support the
council's move to embrace rewilding.

7/27/2021 1:18 PM

36 This is an impressive proposal. I look forward to seeing more wild flowers. I have no specific
suggestion for further developments but I am sure that new ideas will develop as we see what
benefits these changes will bring. Thank you.

7/26/2021 6:02 PM

37 Very happy that you are proposing this & really hope it goes through. 7/26/2021 1:02 PM

38 I think what the Council is proposing is great, but does not go far enough. We need to re-wild
more than 10% of green areas: 30% would be better. The Council needs to support bringing
nature back into farming and abolish all industrial livestock production units as soon as
possible. This will have a much bigger effect here and globally than just rewilding small areas
(though that is positive).

7/26/2021 1:00 PM

39 People don't fully understand the difference between letting nature go (which include what
people classify as weeds) and planted/manager wild flower areas. In some areas, e.g, in the
entrance to housing estates, if just let to it can and will look unsightly. If however managed to
look more presentable then mor people would likely back plans. I support re wilding but openly
admit to only wanting it should it look good. That will no doubt cost more money though, which
councils rarely have. I suggest having areas done well and mor people will back the idea.

7/25/2021 8:59 PM

40 I am very much in support of your proposals for rewilding. Could planting trees and shrubs be
included within rewilding plans for the SHDC owned verges and parks. These offer cover and
have permanence through the whole year to benefit wildlife and people.

7/25/2021 2:18 PM

41 I think planting specifically targeted at certain insects. Despite agreeing to all above bracken is
becoming a problem in our hedges/lanes and controlling this benefits other species.

7/25/2021 12:48 PM

42 Clear information signs to explain purpose of rewilding more controversial areas. Also public
engagement activities planned in e.g. scavenger hunts. Simple baseline surveys and indicator
species-based monitoring to measure change and validate the scheme.

7/24/2021 10:14 PM

43 Although welcome this proposal is seriously lacking ambition 7/24/2021 7:41 PM

44 10 % is BARE MINIMUM ! 7/24/2021 7:19 PM

45 It's a good start. Having done a similar scheme at Ash Meadow in Ashprington, the public
feedback has been generally positive in terms of an appreciation of the enhanced quality of the
environment and contribution to biodiversity. The negatives have been around a fear that
playing field space would be lost, and that this is "the thin end of the wedge", so you need to
find proactive ways to reassure the sceptics on these points, rather than waiting for the
negative comments and then responding. We at Ash Meadow found it helpful to make public a
two pronged policy/set of aims that included a specific aim to maintain or enhance play areas
and facilities that had the same weight as the policy to change management to a more
ecological approach. I have also noted that the term "rewilding" causes difficulties with some
sections of the community. I have been looking for alternative forms of words, and am
favouring something along the lines of "managed recovery and diversification" to avoid
pressing the sceptics' buttons around images of neglect, penny-pinching, or hippy nonsense.

7/24/2021 4:39 PM

46 Strongly welcome these ideas 7/24/2021 12:22 PM

47 Stricter control on housing developers removing mature trees. Turn the stream area in the car 7/24/2021 12:10 PM
Page 124



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

11 / 48

park at Follaton House into a wildlife pond. Place a blanket TPO on all trees in Totnes

48 A good initiative but it would be great if you could do more 7/24/2021 11:38 AM

49 Make rewilding isnt an excuse for neglect. A wildflower meadow needs mowing after seeds
have formed. Cut grass needs to be collected of it forms a mat which blocks smaller plants
from growing snd encourages the nettle, hogweed and bramble. Im mentioning this because all
this happened at the arboretum till a couple of years ago, it is better managed now. Please use
the skills of the many people round here who know about these things and choose your
contractors very wisely, it will not be the cheapest option!

7/24/2021 9:08 AM

50 I have tried to follow these ideas myself at home but have realised its not just a question of
allowing wild areas to grow.Yes, I have been successful with wildflowers appearing but have
also( especially this summer) been overwhelmed,in amongst the long grass,by swathes of
dockleaves and hogweed.I have noticed in some of the areas left around Yealmpton, where I
live, masses of unwanted weeds have thrived.It appears, that to achieve success, i need to go
back to basics, clear the ground,plough up the grass areas and completely reseed.

7/23/2021 7:36 PM

51 Yes, please introduce any changes to enhance biodiversity ASAP after consultation. Perhaps
work on greening up public/ council owned transport systems asap too . Thankyou

7/23/2021 5:39 PM

52 There are already some road juctions which have become dangerous because of long grass
blocking sight-lines. Don't overdo the money saving !

7/23/2021 2:14 PM

53 Please enhance wildlife and wildflowers. Thanks 7/23/2021 2:06 PM

54 It's an excellent idea. Although the proposed land area allocated for biodiversity is relatively
small, it's a beginning, and an opportunity to take full advantage of. It would be good to try and
link areas to form 'wildlife corridors', if at all possible. Perhaps encourage farmers and
landowners to rewild parts of their land?

7/23/2021 12:51 PM

55 The introduction of 20mph speed limits in some areas would, in my opinion, help prevent road
kill.

7/23/2021 11:55 AM

56 Brilliant step forward. 7/23/2021 9:11 AM

57 Rhe measures given here are a start. I do not have the knowledge to suggest other actions; it
would be nice if the council had resources to research possible areas of gree development.
Thank you for whatyou've done.

7/23/2021 8:57 AM

58 Cutting of grass should continue on verges around road junctions 7/23/2021 7:36 AM

59 Whilst rewinding of verges is to be encouraged, cutting at least once a year is required to
increase the biodiversity on the verges. It is also important to cut and regularly clear the
vegetation that grows over the tarmac roads. If this is not done the roads become narrower and
narrower and walkers and cyclists are squeezed out. An balance should be struck which would
allow say the first metre or 0.75m of some verges to be cut back to allow safe walking areas.

7/23/2021 12:46 AM

60 Strong supporter of the idea. Use of verges on main roads for wildflowers seemed to work well
in Plymouth. This could be replicated here.

7/23/2021 12:31 AM

61 Leaving some trees to mature in hedgerows rather than cutting them back to a uniform height. 7/22/2021 10:34 PM

62 We live in a rural area . Not cutting grass in public spaces makes a minuscule difference and
looks a mess in our village . We pay council tax to pay for grass cutting

7/22/2021 10:31 PM

63 Just letting grass grow isn’t how to allow for more biodiversity. Biodiversity needs active
management. Not cutting grass is just a cost saving measure jumped on by councils as it’s in
vogue. My council tax pays for grass cutting - so cut it. We live in a rural area and there is
plenty of biodiversity.

7/22/2021 10:26 PM

64 Timing of cutting is essential. Many wild flowers particular orchids need to be left to set seed
before verges etc are cut. Cutting is still a requirement of a rewilding regime.

7/22/2021 7:59 PM

65 Really hope the council moves forward with this, we need more wild areas and space for nature
and wildlife. Great that the council is engaging with people about this issue.

7/22/2021 6:57 PM

66 Great, thankyou, but could you add more in the direction of wetlands please? massively
important for biodiversity. ponds plus...

7/22/2021 5:27 PM

67 Ensure there are wildlife corridors. Actively reduce the use of pesticides, herbicides and 7/22/2021 2:44 PMPage 125



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

12 / 48

insecticides used in the district. Work with local farmers and communities to improve this and
engage in meaningful dialogue and scientific study of impact of measures. Look at local rivers
in terms of run off and pollution from sewage works and farm land and hold people to account.

68 Ensure road safety by cutting grass regularly at dangerous junctions 7/22/2021 2:14 PM

69 by re wilding in suburban housing estates you are resricting play areas for children and walking
for adults i live in torr bridge park where there is plenty of wild areas yet you have started
wilding in our street firstly it was a childs play area secondly it is unsightly thirdly all the weeds
seeds bow onto our gardens and 4thly we want a reduction in rates if it continues

7/22/2021 1:05 PM

70 When council tax communications are posted, you could include advice to householders
discouraging the use of toxic garden chemicals, whilst encouraging more environmentally
friendly gardening practices together with positive info about their benefits.

7/22/2021 12:01 PM

71 Agree with most of it in principal, but at the moment the only thing being increased are the
weeds in the gutters, because cutting goes right to the edge of the grass and is then not
removed! The remaining grass becomes a thick tangled mess. We cleared an area near us and
filled a large dumpy bag and took to the tip. Otherwise one cut goes on top of another and
would be useless for any wild flowers to grow in. They would get totally choked. This
suggestion to re-wild must be done properly if it is going to succeed. It is not an excuse for the
council to save money on grass cutting! Also some areas MUST be kept looking tidy to
prevent the community looking a disgraceful unkempt mess.

7/22/2021 11:50 AM

72 10% is not enough. Not sure about cutting paths as regularly used paths tend to be cleared by
footfall. Roadside hedge cutting is done too early in the year and thus denudes the possibility
of blossom so important to insects. This was particularly worse this year 2021 with the very
cold spring adversely affecting breeding birds.

7/22/2021 11:37 AM

73 maybe firstly concentrate on cutting grass verges etc., some places are absolutely
disgraceful.

7/22/2021 10:56 AM

74 We’ve been admiring the beautiful and butterfly filled wildflower/wild roundabout in Plymouth,
small areas providing sanctuary/food in very built up urban environments. More like this
needed in Devon, perhaps with the odd cut through in larger area so walkers can get through
without wellies! Applaudable that the council is attempting to address the erosion of wild
habitats.

7/22/2021 10:37 AM

75 Well done for starting a beneficial plan 7/22/2021 9:55 AM

76 Lots more native tree planting 7/22/2021 9:45 AM

77 Beavers would help with flood resilience and defence, as well as increase biodiversity. There
are so many opportunities around the South Hams to reintroduce these amazing builders back
to the landscape.

7/22/2021 7:45 AM

78 Vital to cut back verges on junctions though, penquit across to sheepham, very dangerous 7/22/2021 12:01 AM

79 Cease use of petrol tools immediately. The 180mph blowers kill and maim insects etc + worse
polluters emissions/noise. Roadside verge junction Dukes Rd/Weston Lane, Bridgetown can be
wild. PS wildflowers just grow - don't spend money on them!

7/21/2021 10:37 PM

80 New builds....this need for biodiversity needs to be built into building projects. Play spaces,
open green areas, young people need space to run and play informally, not great in long grass
with hidden dog poo and possibly adders. Do more for hedgehogs, birdlife...

7/21/2021 10:28 PM

81 I think that people who complain about this are very shortsighted. There has been a noticeable
decline in insects and we need to urgently do something about it.

7/21/2021 9:53 PM

82 Go bold! 10 percent is very uninspiring. 7/21/2021 9:53 PM

83 More trees. Bushes. Bird houses on trees. More fish in the Dart. Promote allotments 7/21/2021 9:30 PM

84 we are heading to a point of no return a catastrophic climate and biodiversity loss we need
strong leadership and not consultation after consultation it will be too late. I also think get kids
involved Climate change impacts us all, but it is our children’s futures that will be most
affected by the decisions we make today, and more wiser than most Politician I hope the
council don’t listen to the negative comments and think of a brighter future 

7/21/2021 9:09 PM

85 Good for council to start addressing thos issues...funding local wildlife action groups within 7/21/2021 9:05 PM
Page 126



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

13 / 48

communities would gp a long wY to helping people have some ownership of the schemes
rather than being imposed on them...winning the neat edge brigade is not easy

86 I think you should be aiming to do it quicker,with a greater area and make sure as many wild
spaces as possible link up so that wildlife can move between areas safely.

7/21/2021 8:45 PM

87 I think you could be more ambitious about how much land is rewilded, and how quickly it is
done. The only areas which need assessment for a need for regular cutting are at some road
junctions and A38 slip roads where long grass would obscure visibility and therefore could be
dangerous.

7/21/2021 8:25 PM

88 If we do not enhance the insect population, the continued trend of catastrophic insect decline
will not be reversed, and will result in loss of food crops through lack of pollinating insects. The
Council, as a major landholder, with land in different locations is an important asset for wildlife,
and should include creating wildlife corridors, to link isolated sites and allow insect and
biodiversity to spread. Every existing tree should be treated as a valuable asset, & not
removed for spurious reasons. Newly planted trees are not able to support the diversity
existing in an old tree, and are not matched like for like by new planting, and many newly
planted trees will not survive with the extreme weather droughts we are currently experiencing.
The previous trend of the last 70 years of excessive tidiness has resulted in the catastrophic
insect decline, (along with bird & mammal life) and must not be allowed to prevail even when
the Council receives complaints from people overly obsessed with neatness.

7/21/2021 8:25 PM

89 Use more space than is proposed for rewilding. 7/21/2021 8:15 PM

90 We need to enforce the protection of protected species. In Modbury, EVERY SINGLE YEAR,
they cut down the Devon Banks, inhabited by hedgehogs and slowworms, with petrol
strimmers. I have tried desperately to stop it, they left it a little longer this year, then a parent
complained their child was stung by stinging nettles and the whole lot was cut down. I videoed
the pathway, it was not obstructed, clear way through and there were other routes that took no
more time. The child would have had to walk off the path to be stung. I still have the video. So
the bank was once more butchered. Modbury is alive with hedgehogs, slowworms, birds,
dragonflies. We need to protect, nurture and support. Enough damage has been done. We also
need more signage to make cars slow down for Hedgehogs (have asked councillor Rufus to
contact DCC re this, no replies as yet -weeks later, with more hedgehog road deaths) and we
HAVE to stop sat navs leading tourist vehicles, trailers, boats, caravans, workmen,, delivery
men, using our lanes as rat runs in innapropriate vehicles, chucking out their rubbish and
carving up the banks. Sheepham is destroyed by this. DCC refuse to help. WE have had to put
up our own signage. I would love to help locally to stop all this destruction that only residents
care about and Parish, County and (until now) District councils ignore. Thank you.

7/21/2021 7:41 PM

91 1) I think your plan to cut winding paths through the meadows is brilliant, especially if they are
made just wide enough for wheelchairs, so that everyone can enjoy them. You might make
them a little wider in a few places, to allow other people to walk past a wheelchair, for example,
or to stop to rest and admire the meadow, or read the species information signs. 2) Please
don't waste time, money & energy planting any more trees, because they are useless at
producing oxygen, absorbing all the oxygen they produce during the day back into themselves
at night. It is algae in the sea, and grasslands on land, that produce the most oxygen. So your
plan for more meadow grasslands is just what the planet needs. 3) Please declare a total ban
on the import, sale & planting of Leylandii trees, hedges or any other form. They are an alien
invasive species that cause terrible problems between neighbours, ruining many people's
enjoyment of their own property, and blocking out solar panels. 4) Please can we have a
council-wide cull of the herring gulls that have caused so much misery, attacking pensioners,
children, even killing pets, and damaging people's hearing by their high-decibel screams
echoing off the buildings. They have a thousand miles of sea coast and cliffs to nest on, and it
is outrageous that, while we are allowed to cull badgers, moles, foxes, deer, rats, insect pests
invading our homes, pheasants, quail and other animals, we are forbidden even to drive the
seagulls off the roofs of our own houses. This has got to change. 5) I do not agree that there is
any kind of "climate emergency", since many reputable scientists have said that we are
headed into a New Ice Age caused by the Grand Solar Minimum, the exact opposite of the
Global Warming claims. 6) Thank you for giving residents a chance to have our say.

7/21/2021 7:32 PM

92 The Council could also promote/explain the benefits of biodiversity, so that people see how
useful it is and don't just complain about grass not being cut.

7/21/2021 6:43 PM

93 Active encouragement of wildlife species wherever possible eg bird and bug houses, hedgehog
shelters etc Permanent posters about wildlife in the areas.

7/21/2021 5:33 PM

Page 127



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

14 / 48

94 Reintroduction of any species lost in the past 100 years. 7/21/2021 3:19 PM

95 It's a modest and overdue start. But glad you're getting there! 7/21/2021 3:18 PM

96 Could the council publish simple patterns on line for nesting boxes and insect homes, to make
and either erect at home or give to council to erect in rewilded areas?

7/21/2021 2:53 PM

97 Limit the ridiculous amount of building on greenfield sites. There is over development
everywhere in South Hams and most of the properties will be second homes and serve no
benefit to local residents. Its a complete disgrace.

7/21/2021 12:22 PM

98 Filham park is a great example of where biodiversity has been tested the grass has been left
to grow wild flowers have been planted, Filham could be a really good example to advertise
how amazing a space can be

7/21/2021 12:03 PM

99 As long as areas of visibility are kept clear on junctions etc, for road safety. 7/21/2021 10:37 AM

100 Over the last year I have started to think the piece land in Ivybridge on the south side of
Exeter road B3213 between the Cole lane and St Peters way (
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/osmaps/50.3901803292529,-3.906097897471767,16.0/pin/ )
would make a wonderful wild flower meadow with old hedge row and possibly pulling the
remains of the old fall oak tree out slightly to make it more a feature and possible home for
bugs and wildlife. I think this would make a great visual impact on people coming in to
Ivybridge from the east and If it went well I feel it could also continue down the other side of
the hedge heading down St Peter's way. 

7/21/2021 9:57 AM

101 My only concerns reading some of this, and the way questions are framed, is to ensure that
safety comes first eg always mowing verges where 'Line of sight' is very important. I would
similarly support allowing the grass at the edges of some (larger) parks to be allowed but a 'one
size fits all' approach should be avoided. The overall thinking is good, but there should be more
interactions with the specific local community on detailed plans for specific sites.

7/21/2021 9:30 AM

102 I think it is excellent that the council is putting plans on place to support the environment. I
love seeing uncut areas, and it is so important for the environment, wildlife and insects. Plus it
saves money for the council. I see absolutely no need to have pristine manicured areas of
grass everywhere. It is important though to be careful when using strimmers when cutting long
grass to look out for wildlife, especially hedgehogs and mice which might have made a nest. I
think more areas of wildflowers, maybe sowing them on verges, would increase the benefit to
the environment and also get more people to be in board as it would look prettier than just the
long grasses. Keep up the excellent work :)

7/21/2021 9:13 AM

103 Council should actively increase wild flower, native shrub and trees on verges, banks, green
spaces. Less grass cutting. More green corridors for wildlife.

7/20/2021 10:34 PM

104 Reduce use of chemical fertilisers and pesticide controls. Increase the volume of biota in the
soil (but admit I'm not sure how this can be done!)

7/20/2021 9:49 PM

105 No using of pesticides 7/20/2021 7:20 PM

106 I am definitely in favour of not cutting grass verges at leat until the end of June, late July
would be better. The only exceptions being near intersections and around signage. Increasing
the areas covered by native woodland should also be planned and resourced, working in
conjunction with the Woodland Trust and Devon Wildlife.

7/20/2021 5:02 PM

107 We would be happy to support further efforts and assist in getting the message across.
Thanks Storm Digital Marketing Devon’s only qualified sustainability and marketing agency

7/20/2021 4:58 PM

108 I think Councils should encourage villages/towns with existing green spaces, owned by said
villages/towns to create wild flower meadows with free advice and initial seeding to get started.
I speak from personal experience on this issue with an ideal open space which is cut to within
an inch of its life to look 'tidy'. Its been a dispute for 2 or 3 years now and this year there
seems to be more support for a flower meadow. There is a field nearby that gets left to 'go wild'
and though this is not ideal it does hold a variety of wildlife that the meadow over the road
does not. Not to mention the beauty of the flowers and grasses. I think little push from a higher
authority could have the desired effect.

7/20/2021 3:11 PM

109 Personally I think it's a fantastic idea, the more habitat we provide for our wildlife the better.
Well done you.

7/20/2021 2:52 PM

Page 128



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

15 / 48

110 Clear up litter more carefully Sep along the roadsides. It is often shocking to see 7/20/2021 2:06 PM

111 we need more wildflower meadows and habitats for nature. more bat and bird boxes. trees that
feed birds during the winter with berries.

7/20/2021 12:23 PM

112 I found that as a driver that at junctions I was unable to see due to the high grass verges
meaning I have to pull out into the road to see , also when joining the A38 the tall grass
blocked off my view of cars that are on the A38 making it a dangerous situation caused by non
cutting of grass, if a accident did occur would the council be liable?

7/20/2021 11:56 AM

113 I look at the areas alongside roads and elsewhere that have not been cut and it is mostly cow
parsley, nettles and brambles. I don’t see any wildflowers The wildflowers need a particular
type of meadow and as I understand the soil needs to be regularly disturbed by animals such
as pigs in order to propagate the wild flower seeds. Getting rid of the weeds such as cow
parsley, nettles and brambles has taken a long time using regular mowing and I can see that
after this fad has run it’s course we will see whole areas of what was pleasant verges and
grassland left to the weeds

7/20/2021 11:22 AM

114 I fully support the relaxation of mowing grass verges but am concerned about the lack of
visibility on so roads. There are many cross roads and slip roads that are becoming dangerous
due to tall grass. These would still have to be mowed to increase visibility

7/20/2021 11:07 AM

115 SHDC need to work with and demand parish councils do more in their area, on their land, on
the highway verges in their patch to work towards the same goals. There should be an
incentive perhaps for parishioners to for go mono culture lawns, to ditch weedkillers and
encourage natural fertilisers over artificial. SHDC could encourage with parish competitions or
incentives with small pockets of funding or loan expert knowledge to the parishes. I live in
Brixton and so far our Bee Friendly project is one tiny, overgrown, flowerless, badly made
wooden box right next to Otter Nurseries. It's an eyesore with very limited interest for bees or
any other wildlife. It's too embarrassing to mention and the lack of care and thought puts
people off even attempting to work with them to improve it because it's clearly just a tick box
exercise with no real value. We have so many grass verges in the village and along the A379
that would not impede visibility if they were to be left uncut. However we also have an older
population who will complain loudly at the unkempt and unruly growth and not want it on their
doorstep.

7/20/2021 9:33 AM

116 The proposals are fine as long as they’re not just a ploy to save money on grass cutting. You
also need to ensure that wildflower areas don’t impede car drivers when using
roads/roundabouts. I’m also concerned that these areas will end up as dog toilets.

7/20/2021 8:54 AM

117 Planting trees, flowers (wild and cultivated eg bulbs), signage to protect wild animals such as
hedgehogs, bird and bat boxes where appropriate, bee hotels, notice boards and signage to
give information about what to look for and recognise in the wild areas such as insects, flowers
etc, marked tours through areas highlighting points of interest.

7/20/2021 8:11 AM

118 yes - please get on with it! 7/20/2021 6:36 AM

119 Make sure you link in and work in partnership with neighbouring landowners. Don't just keep it
to council land.

7/19/2021 9:08 PM

120 We are very pro enhancing biodiversity and less cutting of verges, however visibility on road
junctions should not be compromised. Otherwise let it grow! As much as possible please

7/19/2021 7:35 PM

121 Very pleased the council is doing this 7/19/2021 4:30 PM

122 Stop building house this will cut down in CO2 emissions, plus wild flowers are good but this
causes for grass snakes to hibernate but not good for local pet owners. Wild flowers are good
but do not help at all in the long run, to cut down on CO2 emissions it takes 3 lorries to do
waste in the estate I live in!! How can you say you want to cut co2 but the same time you are
running more lorries for waste that are diesel powered !!!

7/19/2021 4:26 PM

123 It is a very good idea but I hope that it would mean the council would then cut the grass along
hedge rows of busy roads with pavement( ie New Road to Bickleigh from the Tavistock Road
at Roborough Village. It is a busy road but you cannot walk on the pavement because of the
greenry that is growing out over it). Also road junctions need to be cut back more often.

7/19/2021 3:35 PM

124 I think that you should work with Highways on leaving verges throughout the South Hams to
grow longer and support more wildlife. You should make a public pledge to stop using
herbicides such as glyphosate and to ensure that the Parish Councils stop too. It is really

7/19/2021 2:58 PM

Page 129



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

16 / 48

important that you educate and advise the Parish Councils to do the same. You should work
with other partners and landowners to increase biodiversity on land not owned by the Council to
increase biodiversity, this could include NHS buildings, schools and colleges, care homes,
railway, house builders, farmers, golf courses and other amenity sites, playing fields and
sports venues not owned by the Council. Some areas that are more remote and not used by
the public should be allowed to revert to scrub, this is a really valuable habitat for birds, and is
arguably more important than tree planting. You should educate residents on not using
chemicals in their gardens, on managing rainwater and creating habitats for wildlife. Work on
educating those who see wildflowers and natural landscapes as untidy, particularly supporting
the town and parish councils to educate local residents and 'rewild' their towns and villages.
Great for visitors and holidaymakers who want to see rural Devon full of wildlife and
wildflowers. This is a brilliant initiative, it will help wildlife, but will also bring joy to so many
people. Thank you for this new project, I hope that it is very well received, and is the beginning
of much more to improve the South Hams for nature and people.

125 Bee friendly and friendly bug houses/areas, no toxic pesticides and encourage with local
farmers.

7/19/2021 1:59 PM

126 It's critical that you stop any use of pesticides. Related to that, in terms of cut borders for
framing wild areas - I only support these if they will definitely be cut and pesticides won't be
used. Thank you.

7/19/2021 11:52 AM

127 This current proposal re. cutting and wild flow. sowing etc is, in my view long overdue. i hope
this goes through. One further idea would be reducing traffic on our roads, more cycle and foot
paths, more public transport and access to electric bike hire. lets reclaim our streets - i grew
up in Bovey Tracey and used to walk and later as a junior infant cycle to my primary school.
Shouldn't it be a birth right of our kids to choose to do this too? thank you.

7/19/2021 11:50 AM

128 Absolutely essential, I disagree with many of the other comments: do as little as possible!
Lots of plants that are considered by some as undesirable are great for many insects and
nature is an excellent at rebalancing itself. Many plants appear for a year or three, do their job
and then give way to others. In my opinion it is time to take hands off the steering wheel with
as much council land as possible: bring on the “wasteland” leave it to thorny scrub and all the
associated life. This is an important issue for all of our futures. There is no longer room in our
dying world for sterile urban ‘tidiness’ . Speaking out of considerable observation and
experience bring on messy natural life I say!!! Direct your funds where it’s needed and don’t
burn up fuel doing any mowing at all except the most essential to see signs etc. Please be
resistant to urban small mindedness, think forward to a South Hams with renewed biodiversity.
With the right approach (how about council funded beehives and periodic grazing by Dartmoor
ponies and South Devon cattle ... Devon Wildlife trust has a wealth of knowledge and expertise
to draw on as I’m sure you are aware...) Please stop any use of herbicide or insecticide and
plant lots of trees. People will definitely be grateful in the long term even if their narrow ‘tidy
views’ prevail at the moment. Here’s hoping you choose a more enlightened view than has
been generally prevalent up to now. I have been a teacher for 30 years and I speak for the
people of the future: it’s time to see that we are in the midst of ecological suicide and need to
act urgently!! This is reality, wake up. Best wishes 

7/19/2021 11:05 AM

129 Allow hedges to grow so that some trees can grow from within them - every 30 metres or so.
Inform the public about not cutting back until grasses and wild flower seeds have set, to
ensure similar growth next year.

7/19/2021 10:05 AM

130 The longer grass areas looks great, it's a shame the verge cutting goes well beyond the safety
for drivers, but glad to see the South Hams is trying to do more. Hopefully some volunteering
opportunities

7/19/2021 10:00 AM

131 Organise help for people who are managing their land for wildlife and bio diversity. And help to
manage bracken and brambles on public foot paths that run over people's land

7/19/2021 9:00 AM

132 Enhancing bio diversity is 110 per cent important! 7/19/2021 8:04 AM

133 Put it into action sooner rather than later 7/19/2021 7:44 AM

134 I think South Hams should take seriously with biodiversity in mind the amount of planning
permission applications they approve. You ask us to fill this survey and have amazing
biodiversity plans but yet there is planning permission application for the old quarry in Kiln
Lane where there are a host of wildflowers, fern, kestrels nesting, hedgehogs, the list is
endless. To my mind it is a little contradictory to demolish an already established biodiverse

7/19/2021 6:45 AM

Page 130



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

17 / 48

area and turn it into a profit of five large houses. Nature and biodiversity will always find a way
but we are not helping at all with extensive building works and developers that are only
concerned with profit margins and not respect for the environment, wildlife, local council or
people (ref: forest in Dartmouth raised to the ground by a developer before planning permission
application). Your intentions are well placed but I do not have much faith in your prioritising.

135 10% seems modest, although I don’t know enough about the issue to know whether more is
possible

7/18/2021 10:45 PM

136 Protect the urban trees from developers 7/18/2021 10:30 PM

137 It would appear that SHDC already has green space areas earmarked for policy change.
Nobody would disagree with the general principle, which is what you will no doubt quote in the
future from this 'monkey' of a survey, however each site warrants it's own consideration and
public feedback. Let's take North Sands Green-space in Salcombe as an example which was
recently predominantly left uncut. It is the only green space Salcombe really has where
children (adults too) can let off steam, play cricket, throw a Frisbee. Where afternoon shade is
available beneath the trees in the summertime. A haven at high tides when there is no beach,
and people exercise dogs year round. It is surrounded by woodland and fields and is already
overflowing with biodiversity, from dragonflies to buzzards and the miniature world that even a
regularly cut area provides habitat for. I know I get bitten. Areas of North Sands Green-space
have already been given back to nature. The sloping area which has now become mature
woodland and the diversion of the stream have both added to the splendour of the place and
increased habitat for wildlife. Please, please, keep the remaining grassland as it is, for locals
and visitors to enjoy equally.

7/18/2021 6:15 PM

138 Wild flower meadows and verges are a great idea and will cost the Council less money in
maintenance. I would like to see burial grounds and graveyards sown with wild flowers, with
just the edges and paths trimmed. More trees need to be planted at every opportunity. When
old trees die or are cut down, they should be replaced with the same number or more. I would
like to see more trees in towns and urban areas as our climate gets warmer, reducing pollution,
creating shade and a habitat for birds and wildlife. I would like to see less chopping of Devon
hedgerows on the lanes and in the fields.

7/18/2021 4:03 PM

139 Support community projects that want to encourage and support bio-diversity - this includes
the Atmos project on the old Dairy Crest site in Totnes. Totnes Community Development
Society included plans to develop wildlife and wetland areas - no commercial developer is
going to care - as evidenced already by the cutting down of trees on the site - which I
understand to be a crime. Help support to bring the site into community ownership to ensure all
the correct bio-diversity requirements are fully actioned.

7/18/2021 2:59 PM

140 Can the Council work with farmers and landowners to use more wildlife friendly methods of
land management, eg edges of fields left and reduce herbicides/pesticides ?

7/18/2021 2:19 PM

141 Planting of more hedges and Mini woods in the corners of Council Land and education of
park/recreation space users.

7/18/2021 10:03 AM

142 Please don't plant 'wildflowers' - this causes genetic pollution of existing wildflower populations.
If grassland management is appropriate, the genuine local wildflowers will colonise naturally.

7/18/2021 9:12 AM

143 Important to survey what is there already. Don’t loose good habitat for the sake of eye catching
annual flowers. Consider habitat corridors

7/18/2021 7:50 AM

144 Take over small areas and plant them. In totnes there is not enough greenery, so just plant up
any small corners, put planters on streets where there is little greenery. Pocket parks.

7/18/2021 6:15 AM

145 The council needs to take every opportunity to creative wild life corridors, wild flower
Meadows. I think 10 percent is a very small Target.When the biodiversity is so stress because
of climate change the target should be 50 percent.

7/17/2021 11:46 PM

146 Already appreciate the 'greener' verge-cutting regime 7/17/2021 10:32 PM

147 Please stop using pesticides and herbicides if they are..like round up etc. 7/17/2021 10:26 PM

148 Don’t use pesticides, keep everything as natural as possible. 7/17/2021 9:33 PM

149 Stop cutting down trees. Just stop. 7/17/2021 5:26 PM

150 Stop using pesticides. Stop allowing development which reduces biodiversity. Cut air pollution 7/17/2021 5:03 PM

Page 131



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

18 / 48

from traffic. Encourage farmers to prevent or reduce pesticides and sewage run-off. Protect our
rivers and seas from pollution. Encourage the planting of diverse indigenous species of plants.
Defend existing trees and hedgerows.

151 Any increase in biodiversity within the South Hams is great news!! 7/17/2021 4:41 PM

152 Yes by all means leave some verges long as the insects and fauna/flora that rely on them are
needed, however, don't use this as an excuse for not cutting back overgrown hedges, bushes
and grasseswhere they impinge on the safety of pavements and cycle lanes. Also without
some sort of monitoring such areas become a dog toilet and somewhere to flytip.

7/17/2021 4:16 PM

153 Yes. Verge cutting or lack there of must not compromise safety of vision. 7/17/2021 3:53 PM

154 Please rewild even more of the land. The more the better 7/17/2021 3:44 PM

155 This needs to be done in sensitive way, we do not want the town to look an untidy mess,
hedges still need to be cut, and maybe me could be redeployed clearing weeds from paths and
gutters and picking up litter and cleaning off graffiti.

7/17/2021 3:31 PM

156 Investing in public transport to cut emission and improve air quality will have huge biodiversity
benefits too. As will supporting efforts to force water companies to act responsibly to improve
water quality and aquatic biodiversity. Councils should also reconsider their investment
portfolios and give serious consideration to Green Finance initiatives.

7/17/2021 1:47 PM

157 Stop building housing estates on green land, redevelop existing sites instead. Pay farmers to
plant trees or let land rewild. Protect waterways from pollution. Build safe cycle tracks and
promote them. Etc etc But you know all that…what your looking for is tokenism to tick the
boxes! The wildflower thing is pretty, but is it really going to save the world?

7/17/2021 1:35 PM

158 Great . Well done! 7/17/2021 10:44 AM

159 Actively fighting for water quality of the Dart....... pollution/sewerage to be improved 7/17/2021 10:11 AM

160 I don't the council has responsibility for cutting roadside hedges, but has it any power to
enforce landowners to meet their responsibilities to do this? Some hedges have grown such
that 2 lane roads are reduced to single lane.

7/17/2021 9:41 AM

161 A welcome start! 7/17/2021 9:16 AM

162 Slow down for Hedgehog signage where hedgehogs are known to cross main roads. We live in
 we have hedgehogs in our garden, the hedgehogs cross St Peters

way from Barons Pyke, to get to 'the green' a large open park land the other side of the road. It
is heart-breaking to see them killed on the roadside. Also, when you left the verges uncut
alongside St Peter's Road, lots of Goldfinches, whole charms of them, came to feed on the
dandelion seeds (clocks). Apart from odd ones in our garden I had never seen so many at one
time. Then the verge was trimmed and not a goldfinch in sight. I thought the goldfinches must
be very confused, they had in one day lost their regular feeding area, during nesting time and
would now need to expend additional energy looking for food. We are told to support the birds
in our gardens by carrying on feeding them throughout the year and especially during the winter
and nesting time when the birds are using high levels of energy. The longer grass on the
verges also attracted lots of moths. we have bats living near us somewhere, that swoop over
our garden and 'the green' in the evenings. The longer grass would have supported the moth
population, which in turn would have supported the bats. Please, please return to not cutting
the verges; it doesn't look unkempt it look natural, and it's beautiful. Those who complain
simply need to be educated, even to the extent that leaving the grass long, in a very small way
helps to rectify their carbon footprint. Ps. The wild flower patch on St Peters Road, near the
garage block belonging to Pykes Down, currently looks absolutely beautiful.

7/17/2021 7:36 AM

163 Offer a less simplistic survey. Yes/No options are not good enough. There are layers of
subtlety to a number of the questions that should be explored.

7/16/2021 11:34 PM

164 Where possible more trees planted alon streets. 7/16/2021 10:28 PM

165 I agree for the grass verges and areas which are not used for recreation but places like Filham
need to be cut and just small areas around the trees left wild. It is a family space that now
families can’t use

7/16/2021 8:49 PM

166 I think much more land should be given over to wildflowers 7/16/2021 8:46 PM

167 No spaying of verges. Wildflower verges wherever possibly. 7/16/2021 8:06 PMPage 132



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

19 / 48

168 I already see brambles taking over where land such as churchyards and other public places
have been left to rewind.At what stage do these areas get taken back and the public be able to
use them again and who is going to clear them which is very hard work and expensive to carry
out

7/16/2021 7:21 PM

169 The Council should consider diverting some of its resources towards helping local based
groups who also share the Council's ambition to increase Bio Diversity with the South Hams
for example managing Churchyards for this objective.

7/16/2021 6:04 PM

170 There are far more pressing issues. If the council is so green why are we building so many
housing estates on fields and green spaces

7/16/2021 5:57 PM

171 Why aim to increase Biodiversity by only 10%? This seems meagre in the light of mass
extinction we are living through..

7/16/2021 5:24 PM

172 Thank you for giving this issue some priority 7/16/2021 5:21 PM

173 Substantial rewilding strategy 7/16/2021 5:20 PM

174 I fully support the Council’s quest to encourage wildlife and biodiversity. Thankyou 7/16/2021 4:21 PM

175 Cut & clear, ensure cut is at correct time of year after flowers have seeded, stop using
strimmers, additional proper native perennial wildflower meadows, not just areas of showy
annuals, native local wildflowers and local provenance trees only, add pollinator homes such
as for solitary bees etc.

7/16/2021 3:16 PM

176 Set your targets higher 7/16/2021 1:53 PM

177 Being a rural driver I feel even now some junctions you can't see if anything is coming at your
directions I do feel this is dangerous therefore needs to be cut back Apart from the rest it's fine

7/16/2021 1:41 PM

178 Thank-you, thank-you for acting practically on this important challenge the planet faces. I
would very much support further initiatives (and vote for councillors who do so) and I think
acting sooner rather that later is definately the way to proceed. What about support for
community based compost projects?

7/16/2021 12:10 PM

179 To consider very carefully the impact of housing developments on air quality and loss of green
space.

7/16/2021 11:56 AM

180 Thanks for running this survey. It is good you declared a climate emergency - this is urgent -
and I would encourage speed in your response. Please consider going further than you are
proposing - you have really outlined initiatives which should be the very minimum of the
council's response to this emergency.

7/16/2021 11:46 AM

181 Verges should be cut back where necessary so that there are no blind spots, ie.corners, exits
from other roads, particularly on country roads.

7/16/2021 11:17 AM

182 Nice move! 7/16/2021 10:03 AM

183 Fully support all work towards biodiversity etc. The more, the better! Thanks 7/16/2021 9:00 AM

184 Well done on this proposal, I just hope it's not too late, and I encourage you to continually look
for more ways to increase biodiversity and mitigate the effects of catastrophic climate change.
(Perhaps you could mandate all new builds needing either solar panels or wild flowers growing
on the rough at the planning stage? - as is common in France)

7/16/2021 7:20 AM

185 Good idea to restrict cutting of verges except for safety, and where road width is compromised.
However on A379 Elburton Road the Welcome to South Hams AND chevron signs are
completely covered in brambles !

7/15/2021 10:49 PM

186 I don’t fully understand the question in the survey which includes “framing of long grass”, it
would be useful to have included a picture or drawing to help describe this. I fully support these
proposals especially the wildflower planting which supports pollinators and can also really
improve the appearance of green areas.

7/15/2021 10:19 PM

187 I fully support all the efforts at rewilding but great care must be taken to ensure that what we
do today we regret tomorrow. eg no planting lofty trees in valued views.

7/15/2021 9:56 PM

188 I think we should be reducing the amount of land used for agriculture and aim to rewild more
agricultural land.

7/15/2021 9:42 PM

Page 133



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

20 / 48

189 Absolutely rewild, plant trees encourage all diversity of flora and fauna but please distinguish
between wilding with suitable maintenance for walkways, junction visibility etc and just letting
stinging nettles, docks and ragwort take over. Hedgehog highways should be automatically
built into any new properties and encouraged for all existing with any key areas (such as
cornwood by the bridge) evaluated for improvement - several dead hedgehogs here year round.
Also bare in mind what species are native and encourage those moreover invasive foreign
species. But let’s walk before we can run… refuse still needs properly addressing, especially
for rural properties where it’s a hazard to wildlife and grazing livestock, roads need repairs and
remarking, signage cleaning and much more.

7/15/2021 7:01 PM

190 The Council's plans are not ambitious enough. It should also engage with Parish Councils to
encourage the same plans on their land. Presumably the Council works closely with DCC who
are responsible for huge areas of land and have adopted a more enlightened attitude towards
verges.

7/15/2021 4:24 PM

191 Tree planting in green areas where possible. More requirement for planning applications of
large scale developments to have more tree planting. Add trees to some of the councils larger
carparks to provide additional shade (or continental style shade with solar on top) as shade will
be increasingly vital for animals and humans alike.

7/15/2021 4:18 PM

192 I completely support the increase of Biodiversity on council land, a really important resources
for insects and small animals and birds

7/15/2021 4:03 PM

193 I am very much in support. Please send a clear message that use of biocides is not routinely
acceptable and promote other options, e.g flame weeders where appropriate. Please also
promote off-road cycle and footpaths.

7/15/2021 3:40 PM

194 Good ideas - a start but so much more is needed! 7/15/2021 2:42 PM

195 I think we should make every possible space left to nature . I have left my lawn with a few cut
paths and it looks great . I think we need to speak to farmers to farm for wildlife and not use
pesticides and double size of hedges and avoid mono culture. I’m not adverse to paths cut into
long grass but doesn’t need to be religiously done. Save money and save wildlife win win

7/15/2021 2:31 PM

196 agree with everything - however road side safety must be maintained on our narrow roads 7/15/2021 2:30 PM

197 Mandating significant wildlife spaces and corridors with every new building proposal. If land is
being converted from agriculture to housing for humans, then it seems only fair that we
account for wildlife as well in that development now.

7/15/2021 2:27 PM

198 PLEASE develop wildlife- friendly green spaces, no mowing etc. The building developments
locally have meant the loss of so many beautiful fields is heartbreaking and only for quick
profit for the building companies. The recent wildlife garden & tree planting in St Peters Way
Ivybridge is a valuable initiative - more please!

7/15/2021 2:19 PM

199 I think you should do as much as possible to implement changes to enhance biodiversity and
to protect our environment, including regulations around new development where possible. I
think this is a great idea. maybe also could offer grants to landowners to rewild some of there
land ?

7/15/2021 1:48 PM

200 Not only letting grass/wildflowers grow where it can without reduction of safety on roads but
also the planting of more indiginous trees or even fruit trees where people can forage

7/15/2021 1:14 PM

201 Plant more native trees. Create a coast to moor forest/wildlife corridor. Stop motocross in
AONB

7/15/2021 12:44 PM

202 I really welcome your proposals and have enjoyed the beginnings of it in the graveyard at
Follaton which is already more beautiful and vibrant. I'd also like the council to think long and
hard about any additional housing and road networks in the area to ensure that wildlife and
biodiversity are considered as a priority and a source of common wealth. This includes
maintaining any wildlife corridors. I wonder too about reducing street lighting at night to the
absolute minimum for safety so that nocturnal animals are less subject to light pollution. I
would ask the council to consider using any powers at their disposal (apologies, I don't know
what falls within your remit) to regulate the release of human sewage, animal effluent and
chemical run off into our waterways so that life there can flourish. Where already regulated,
please enforce the regulations.

7/15/2021 12:23 PM

203 I think the corners of junctions should be mown as it often makes it necessary to pull out a bit
into a main road to be able to see oncoming traffic.

7/15/2021 11:45 AM

Page 134



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

21 / 48

204 It is very important to try to link up green spaces with "Wildlife Corridors" for natural migration
of species to occur easily eg hedgehogs and bats. This will need more thought and planning
than just wilding random pockets of green space. I hope that SHDC will consult with a
conservation/wildlife specialist

7/15/2021 11:38 AM

205 Drive down the Parkway and come off at Sainsbury's roundabout. Plymouth CC have done the
most marvellous job of planting wild flowers. Stunning.

7/15/2021 11:27 AM

206 It must be balanced with providing pleasant open spaces for us. Please stop using pesticides
etc. as this will also help and how can you help stop farming using pesticides that are killing
off our bees. This mass farming will be the end of us if they don't look after biodiversity. Thank
you

7/15/2021 11:27 AM

207 Get on with rewilding as soon as possible 7/15/2021 10:27 AM

208 More wildlife ponds and boggy areas 7/15/2021 9:22 AM

209 I think it is a great initiative, and wish this concern was seen in development planning
applications which seem to be granted for green spaces all the time, further shrinking the
South Hams biodiversity.

7/15/2021 9:08 AM

210 Very pleased the council is thinking about improving biodiversity and reducing the amount of
grass cutting. Some rewilding projects are good, no need to introduce wildflowers and trees as
they appear when the land is improved, also good if there are large areas to introduce animals.
Would like to see a more ambitious target than 10%.

7/15/2021 9:04 AM

211 No 7/15/2021 8:45 AM

212 How many accidents will happen through lake of visibility 7/15/2021 8:41 AM

213 Plant trees wherever possible 7/15/2021 7:42 AM

214 Excellent work - especially if selected cutting maintains/ensures access for walkers. An option
for increasing biodiversity in the area without impact to public spaces would be to assist
houseowners to rewild areas of their own gardens. I have a large garden I would live to manage
this way, but have no support in doing it - advice and initial assistance in setting up would be
wonderful, and I expect a lot of people would be able to contribute financially to such a service.
That would also aid in making the insect highways which are so important.

7/15/2021 7:42 AM

215 It would save the council money to leave verges of long grass and cut at end of Summer only.
Even if no wildflower seeds were planted, the flowers already in the verges would be able to re-
seed themselves.

7/15/2021 6:27 AM

216 Some(a small number) of dog owners might let their dogs defecate in the long grass and not
clean it up. If children wander there, they may contract Toxocara.

7/15/2021 5:58 AM

217 Plant and maintain more, ignore less 7/14/2021 10:40 PM

218 Visibility splays at junctions are often left too long between cuts and become very dangerous.
I'd support some longer grass and wild flowers in some areas in principle , but I'd need to see a
map of the proposed areas first as road safety is far more important than anything else.

7/14/2021 10:35 PM

219 If you are going to rewild areas please do it properly and plant specific Flowers and plants and
keep it maintained. Just leaving verges to grow does nothing, no light is able to get to the floor
to encourage wild flowers, all that can grow is a tangle of grass, ragwort, dock and brambles.
The areas in my village (Yealmpton) which have been left are now full of dog poo. Why can't
the grass areas be kept neat and tidy and bring back Britain in Bloom where specific flowers
and plants can be planted in containers and hanging baskets, thereby making our villages look
lovely AND encouraging all the insect life. Leaving grass areas to grow is a massive copout for
the council as you yet again raise our council tax and continue to massively stop your
services to the taxpayer.

7/14/2021 7:42 PM

220 This initiative is far preferable to facilitating, encouraging and enabling profit hungry developers
from destroying the AONB. SHDC are a bunch of shocking hypocrites.

7/14/2021 7:33 PM

221 Excellent to hear this is being proposed. To me 10% feels low and this should be a minimum
target, but hopefully this will allow for lots of learning and more ambitious targets following this
period.

7/14/2021 7:19 PM

Page 135



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

22 / 48

222 Appreciate being asked and that these are the aims for our local environment 7/14/2021 6:53 PM

223 Hope that verges etc can be sown with wildflower seeds 7/14/2021 6:45 PM

224 Encourage householders to also rewild their gardens. Perhaps a discount of a small amount of
council tax for householders who actively encourage wildlife in their gardens. Provide suitable
seeds for communities to plant in small areas of grass such as that in front of my house in
woodland road ivybridge.

7/14/2021 6:35 PM

225 I worry you are not splitting changes as roads, footpaths etc are already very poor in Ivybridge
(my area ) so I stress you need to be more detailed and complex on all this. And
ruining the rear hedge you have to my  would be awful. So better details would
be supported but this all looks too "simple" and I feel you need to get in much better detail on
all this!!!! More detail from you will get better support from me and many residents! So please
move on from simple stuff you share!!! AMC FRICS, FRSA (in Who's Who) ex CS Director but
retired! I am happy to help / support but so many Councils staff fail to get in proper / needed
data and ideas on all this I fear with my retired ex Parish Council Chair ( ) etc. Why
don't you do bigger ruler plans and details!!

7/14/2021 6:35 PM

226 The area outside my bungalow has never been cut by the council and is now looking like a
right mess and always causes problems within my garden . What exactly are we paying for .
South Hams council dont have a patch on P.C.C. and we pay a lot more !!!!

7/14/2021 5:16 PM

227 It's a great idea and not only important for the protection of our environment and its creatures,
but wild flowers also look lovely 😊

7/14/2021 4:48 PM

228 Stop using chemicals and use organic methods. 7/14/2021 4:41 PM

229 I would like the Council to actively seed as many areas as possible with native wild flower
species including orchids and many other flowers which are rarely seen now.

7/14/2021 4:09 PM

230 The council could join the Devon Rewilding Network right here: https://devon-rewilding-
network.mn.co/

7/14/2021 3:46 PM

231 Plant wildflower seeds and encourage plant species which are attractive to bees etc 7/14/2021 3:22 PM

232 Whilst improving the biodiversity of appropriate areas is very commendable, this must not be
used as an excuse for the council to save money by neglecting our streets and green spaces.
Rewilding, like wildflower meadows, are created by careful management and not by neglect
which would only result in the growth of brambles, bindweed and possibly knotweed. All of
these species would the invade private gardens adjacent to these areas.

7/14/2021 3:12 PM

233 Maybe think about street lighting, do we need these on all night ,confusing moths etc, as they
spend the nights flying around the false moons instead of breeding and pollinating

7/14/2021 2:44 PM

234 We need to stop cutting trees down as it’s not just hurting the wildlife, but they give us oxygen.
Getting rid of so many hedges and trees means that the roads flood quicker as the rain is
absorbed by them. Stop using weed killer so much and pesticides.

7/14/2021 2:33 PM

235 Allow eco micro homes to be sited on areas to be rewilded with a micro business plan for
diversification, so that the owners/tenants can become custodians and stewards thereby
providing a home, small income and care for the environment

7/14/2021 2:14 PM

236 tree planting completely re-wilded spaces funding for community/school projects that address
climate action

7/14/2021 2:13 PM

237 Does my overgrown garden now qualify as a habitat centre? 7/14/2021 2:06 PM

238 I enthusiastically welcome this! I hope it all goes ahead. 7/14/2021 2:03 PM

239 I have a preference for planting wildflowers rather than long grasses. Special consideration
must be given when planting near roadsides to ensure that visibility is not compromised.

7/14/2021 1:56 PM

240 Excellent initiative. Great for humans, wildlife and the soil. 7/14/2021 1:37 PM

241 I want areas set aside and protected in perpetuity from development, preferably creating
corridors for wildlife. I also ask for clear communication with Council contractors so they don't
mow areas set aside, as happens all the time at present.

7/14/2021 12:42 PM

242 Turn suitable green spaces into woodlands. 7/14/2021 12:28 PM

Page 136



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

23 / 48

243 Yes. Whilst welcoming this initiative I feel sure that SHDC could do more to improve our area's
biodiversity. Could the council aim for more than a 10% improvement? How could it incentivise
town and parish councils to do the same on their land? Could the Council ensure that (more)
nature-friendly methods are used by those building new housing in the South Hams? This
could include how the landscaping is maintained, putting up of swallow and bat boxes where
appropriate etc. I feel it is time for SHDC to be much more ambitious in its role of protecting
and enhancing nature. This should be a priority.

7/14/2021 12:15 PM

244 A good start. Thank you. Also, it's good to communicate the plus-points and the results on
wildlife of doing this regularly, so that people understand what good it's doing.

7/14/2021 12:14 PM

245 Planting trees would be a huge benefit. 7/14/2021 11:25 AM

246 Sustainability & food security, planting productive species where ever possible, should be
central to the policy. Every Town, Village & School should have access to wild green space
within walking distance & on safe footpaths as a resource to improve physical health & mental
wellbeing.

7/14/2021 11:13 AM

247 Plant fruit trees where possible. Follow Permaculture ideas and encourage people to use the
land. Houses and Shacks everybody loves and its Creativity, people ,Art and the Land that
count. People are willing to help to make the land usable.

7/14/2021 11:00 AM

248 Re wild as much as possible be a leader in this area 7/14/2021 10:27 AM

249 Plant more trees. Buy empty land for just trees or something. I'm all for more wildlife area, just
as long as it don't look like a unkept dump. Maybe even make cycle wird routes

7/14/2021 10:27 AM

250 More trees please. Even tiny plantations of native deciduous trees and fruit trees could be
helpful for biodiversity and reducing CO2.

7/14/2021 10:25 AM

251 I think it is a marvellous idea. Our fauna and flora need all the help they can get. 7/14/2021 10:24 AM

252 Whilst I agree in principal of Biodiversity it must be done without directly having an adverse
effect play areas. As an example Filham Park in Ivybrige large areas have been left uncut with
and pathways cut through. This park is ideal for family's to go and kick a ball about and play
games but at the moment this isn't possible particularly during the school holidays. please
allow more mown areas and concentrate on the areas that are not suitable for sport activities
for rewilding. Also some of the verges need to be maintained better as some are potentially
dangerous for motorist cyclists and pedestrians, footpaths along main school routes needs
better maintenance parents taking children to school are having to resort to bringing secateurs
to cut back brambles obstructing pathways. Where I live there are bushes between the
footpath and the road which I am told 'belong to nobody' and therefore don't get cut and
completely obscure the crossing point. After a near miss my wife had with a mobility scooter I
took it upon myself to cut down the 6ft section as nobody else were prepared to do it. I have
now been trying since the end of April to get the cuttings removed but have been totally
ignored by SHDC. If you wish to speak to me my mobile is .

7/14/2021 9:54 AM

253 We are lucky enough to have vast tracts of land in Devon which are biodiverse. Farmers are
paid to do this. Public parks an amenity areas, a tiny proportion of the space in Devon, should
be optimised for the users (people). This is a poorly disguised money saving exercise and will
have little or no effect of the overall biodiversity

7/14/2021 9:49 AM

254 Raise your target - aim for 25% - we all need to stretch ourselves - and certainly aiming for
what we think we can achieve is probably just not enough for the crisis we find ourselves. Set
the target high and then look for ways to achieve it - and enrole the public in it.

7/14/2021 9:25 AM

255 cutting large swathes along the A38 is unnecessary and a waste of money. Only the first 6 feet
needs to be cut

7/14/2021 9:19 AM

256 They’re fantastic, much needed! 7/14/2021 9:14 AM

257 Rewilding is brilliant but areas of nature need to be linked to allow true biodiversity. 7/14/2021 9:12 AM

258 I would like the proposals to be more ambitious. E.g. a target of more than 10% increase in
biodiversity, and tree planting

7/14/2021 9:12 AM

259 Encourage all parish councils to follow suit to get some more joined up areas across the South
Hams of rewilded land. Provide some funding for the extra time for cutting and removing grass
to pcs. Provide plenty of information as you go along with the project so that people know what

7/14/2021 9:06 AM

Page 137



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

24 / 48

you're doing and why. Use the blue heart campaign and signage. Promote to primary schools
and offer tours/open days of your arboretum where you are doing rewilding work.

260 Please plant wild flower seeds at the bottom of Fairway avenue, on the corner of woodland
Road. That would look beautiful.

7/14/2021 8:38 AM

261 I think it is very important to increase biodiversity wherever it is possible as even small
changes can make a significant difference. I am trying to do the same in our small garden by
digging a pond and encouraging wildlife where I can.

7/14/2021 8:34 AM

262 None 7/14/2021 8:16 AM

263 Rewilding should be implemented wherever possible. Leaving roadside verges uncut, apart
from junctions etc. where road safety is the priority, allowing plants to flower and go to seed.
This would provide miles of enhanced biodiversity corridor, and improve wildlife food chains. A
reduction in hedge flailing should also be implemented, allowing some hedges to overgrow,
more hedgerow trees, less habitat and wildlife food chain destruction. Increased urban,
suburban tree planting is also vital. This should be implemented over and above general
woodland, forest expansion in rural Britain and fundamental reform of agriculture, marine
fishery policy, reserving much more land and sea for rewilding. Efforts should be made to
rewild watercourses, install leaky dams, to slow flow, reducing flooding. Wetland restoration
should also be a priority in floodplain locations, coupled with serious restrictions now on new
housing, development, farming activity which encourages river pollution, siltation. We are
concerned at the level off new development on the Lower Dart, for example Noss Marina, with
too much pressure now on wildlife, the natural river and coastal environment, in this Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty. Equally the new housing at the top of Dartmouth, should never
have been given the go ahead. Like the Wye Valley, the Dart Valley is at serious risk of
environmental destruction from too much human activity, road traffic, river pollution, wildlife
destruction, modern farming destroying biodiversity. The development of green technology is
not enough without parallel massive rewilding projects, to restore at least 30% of UK land area
for nature. The biodiversity loss crisis and climate change are linked and require equal
emergency action.

7/14/2021 7:43 AM

264 It has been a good start seeing Filham Park and how this is being managed. More planting of
wild flowers will be welcomed. More engagement with the public would be great. Maybe some
more signs and public information?

7/14/2021 7:34 AM

265 We need to be careful about the spread of ticks. Also green spaces used for walking with
coastal views should not be planted with trees

7/14/2021 7:33 AM

266 Do what you are proposing but don't stop at 10% 7/14/2021 7:23 AM

267 Areas of wasteland should be given over for community groups to grow fruit trees. 7/14/2021 7:20 AM

268 I am very pleased that these ideas are being considered Brighton ( Sussex ) have replaced
formal gardens all over the city with magnificent wild flowers and grass , even down centers of
roads and roundabouts , Cutting lower in places for visibility ( for car drivers at relevant
turnings ) I live in , there are two areas there where a very small
amount of wildflowers have been left in the cut grass areas this year. These are so welcomed
and enjoyed by all. I think areas like these which are narrow may not need cutting at the
periphery very much at all. Also the banks surrounding our play park could be cut a little less /
planted with further wild flowers. Supporting pollinators and the biodiversity of the area is
something we all value very much .

7/14/2021 7:19 AM

269 Fully support this, but definitely wish to see that steps are make to ensure that the areas look
appealing and also that foot paths and walkways are accessible and maintained.

7/14/2021 6:26 AM

270 This is a great step forward in preserving a diverse range of wildlife. 7/14/2021 6:26 AM

271 Sightlines on pedestrian crossing s are important to maintain 7/14/2021 6:17 AM

272 Wildflower planting is a great idea that I have seen in the North of England outside some
villages and towns, it certainly looked attractive.

7/14/2021 5:21 AM

273 Good proposals. SHDC could also do much more to properly consider the biodiversity and
other ecological impacts of all proposed developments, and to prioritise these considerations in
all planning decisions.

7/14/2021 1:54 AM

274 Your questions are too binary and simple. I am relaxed about grass cutting but not hedge 7/13/2021 11:18 PM
Page 138



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

25 / 48

cutting. Hence my failure to answer the relevant question.

275 Improvement of wildlife habitat 7/13/2021 11:13 PM

276 Beehives maintained in the wildflower areas, revenue from the honey and continuing pollination
for the plants, extra employment opportunities

7/13/2021 10:52 PM

277 Put measures in place so people can appreciate the benefits to wildlife with a vuew to doing
more.

7/13/2021 10:45 PM

278 Build less houses and keep more green space! 7/13/2021 10:35 PM

279 Need to educate the population about how management for biodiversity is better than formal
parks.

7/13/2021 10:23 PM

280 Tree planting alongside long grass and wildflowers would be welcomed. And trees in large
planters within town centres, perhaps under planted with wildflowers could be a way of making
town centres more biodiverse. Many thanks!

7/13/2021 10:08 PM

281 This is a very good idea. Well done south hams council. If we can help spreading seeds let us
know. Ideas: There’s a place by us south Milton flower farm, worth a visit to see how they work
as the insects were buzzing around. Please consider planting more hedges Less building sites
- we don’t need them, it ruins nature Give everyone a packet of seeds to scatter in their garden

7/13/2021 9:59 PM

282 I think there should be partnerships across councils/ railways and other parties to enhance
areas for wildlife. This climate emergency asks for collaboration. There are many small
pockets of land on peripheries of roads/ parks etc which could be used for planting. At Marsh
Mills, wild flower turf has been laid which not only is fast growing, but also provides a haven for
bees and other pollinators. It would also be good if the council could support/ provide areas for
people to take up bee keeping for instance. Children should be encouraged to do insect
surveys and be involved in how their local land is managed.

7/13/2021 9:55 PM

283 Sounds great. Perhaps hold a review after a year to see if there’s any lessons to learn. I’m
sure there’s some scope for tree planting as well.

7/13/2021 9:44 PM

284 Fantastic idea … give as much space as possible to rewilding 7/13/2021 9:38 PM

285 Switch off/remove some street lights particularly in more rural areas in order to enhance "dark
skies" and save electricity

7/13/2021 9:37 PM

286 Not sure why this needs to go to consultation? It's not a sweeping change you are proposing,
just 10%. Have the courage of your convictions!

7/13/2021 9:32 PM

287 wild planting is the way to go 7/13/2021 9:29 PM

288 manage verges for wild flowers. 7/13/2021 9:26 PM

289 This is a fantastic initiative and a very well communicated plan. I hope this is the start of more
positive steps to allow an increase in biodiversity. People will always complain it look untidy
but that’s not the point. : )

7/13/2021 9:22 PM

290 Verges and boarders etc would be lovely if they were full of wild flowers 7/13/2021 9:04 PM

291 Plant more trees please. Cut less and sow wild flowers . Don’t use sprays or pesticides 7/13/2021 9:01 PM

292 Grass verges for road exits should continue to be cut. 7/13/2021 8:51 PM

293 Look carefully at all planning applications. ... Eg Locks Hill, Kingsbridge. Too late for that
natural wild area.

7/13/2021 8:50 PM

294 Great to see this initiative. I'm not sure why 10% uplift was chosen, in biodiversity. Possibly
could be more ambitious? How is this going to be monitored, will there be surveys of wildlife in
green spaces? Would be great if the projects could be demonstrated to householders and other
landwoners, ie show what can be achieved and what the difficulties/challenges and benefits
are.

7/13/2021 8:45 PM

295 Given the amount of new build taking place biodiversity should be included in the planning
approval process

7/13/2021 8:41 PM

296 As long as road verges are cut so there is no loss of sightlines at junctions, the idea is fine. 7/13/2021 8:37 PM
Page 139



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

26 / 48

297 Long grass and wild flower meadows please! 7/13/2021 8:34 PM

298 Ensure that pesticide use is kept to a minimum and no neonicotinoids are used. Allow the
reintroduction of native species such as beavers.

7/13/2021 8:25 PM

299 Please save Locks Hill. That is one of Kingsbridge’s naturally biodiverse spaces that is losing
its trees, hedges and grass for a company’s profit and little benefit to the community.

7/13/2021 8:14 PM

300 Anything to help the birds, bees and insects 7/13/2021 7:59 PM

301 I fully support these ideas and hope that parish/town councils also make similar commitments
in this area. By doing this type of thing it also helps with the holding excess rain fall.

7/13/2021 7:29 PM

302 I am delighted to know that re wilding is being considered. 7/13/2021 7:01 PM

303 Provided personal safety is not compromised everything possible that can be done to improve
biodiversity should be done. Nature is in crisis and local/district councils need to do what they
can, given that central government only pays lip service to environmental matters.

7/13/2021 6:48 PM

304 Make sure wildflower mixes are appropriate for specialist and generalist species. More flowers
alone are not enough, you need diversity. You also need to think about the configuration of
rewilded areas to make sure habitats are well linked. More tree planting would also be good
and opportunities to get young people/communities involved in conservation/tree planting
activities.

7/13/2021 6:43 PM

305 This is fantastic! 😊 7/13/2021 6:41 PM

306 More specific wildlife habitats. 7/13/2021 6:34 PM

307 Stop ALL use of chemicals 7/13/2021 6:21 PM

308 I feel the council needs to be promoting more tree planting by volunteers and trying to
galvanise communities to develop new woodlands and increase biodiversity. Although I am
fully in favour of ‘rewilding’ I feel the term is too widely used without definition. As a parish
councillor I have heard parishioners talking angrily about rewilding as it seems to infer total
abandonment. I feel the term enhancement for wildlife is more accurate and possibly less
divisive of opinion! Fully support your actions!

7/13/2021 6:17 PM

309 Please try to to increase biodiversity even further to 30%. Wilding of verges is fantastic but at
junctions it can create blind spots.

7/13/2021 6:16 PM

310 More Council owned land can be left in a natural state or planted with trees. 7/13/2021 6:00 PM

311 10% seems a very modest target. Surely we could do better? 7/13/2021 5:56 PM

312 Wherever it is possible to increase biodiversity without causing too much inconvenience to the
locals, this should be automatic council policy. It goes without saying that this would probably
save the Council money.

7/13/2021 5:54 PM

313 It's all very well letting the verges grow without cutting them so often,but if you live in Devon
you know how narrow the Devon lanes are and they are very dangerous to drive along when
you can't see another vehicle coming the other way until the last moment. Also junctions
should be kept short so you can see other vehicles coming either way. There has been quite a
few accidents because drivers cannot see left or right because the grass is so long.Just use
some common sense.

7/13/2021 5:45 PM

314 DO IT!!! xxx 7/13/2021 5:27 PM

315 Plant much more trees 7/13/2021 5:24 PM

316 This should be WAY more than 10% - it should be in all available spaces! And all wildflower
meadows instead of grass. Grass offers the bees no nectar.

7/13/2021 4:47 PM

317 Planting (seeding) more wild flowering perennials in the green areas in a way that links areas
together with other areas )recreation, woodland, verges, highway embankments) as much as
possible so that wildlife can spread naturally. Educate people so they can contribute by wilding
a little of their lawns etc

7/13/2021 4:44 PM

318 The more the better. I would like to see intelligent rewilding, that looks at what might be helpful
in enhancing diversity and encouraging wildlife. I would prefer this approach to a just no hands

7/13/2021 4:37 PM

Page 140



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

27 / 48

on one. Looking for instance at what wild flowers might have flourished in hay meadow, and
other more endangered habitats

319 The ideas are good, but I would suggest you be bolder and commit to a greater area of land to
be re-wilded.

7/13/2021 4:33 PM

320 Don’t use herbicide/pesticides or chemicals ie fertiliser etc on council owned green spaces. 7/13/2021 4:29 PM

321 Tie in the rewilding of spaces with schools to aid education of young people and maybe older
people too through adult education or U3A, etc.. Everyone needs to be on board.

7/13/2021 4:26 PM

322 When planting wildflower meadows please AVOID the "Weedkill, rotavate, and plant every
year" Instead plant correct mixes of plants so that they only need to be cut once, after seeds
have set. Consider selling or donating cut products as hay/haylage to charitable organisations
who need the animal feed

7/13/2021 4:21 PM

323 Great start! Could there be support for landowners/ individuals who also want to rewild?? 7/13/2021 4:19 PM

324 Subject to safety at junctions grass could be left un cut. Also absolutely no more building on
green field sites!

7/13/2021 4:15 PM

325 All areas set aside for wildlife should be dog free as many dog walkers let their dogs off the
lead while ground nesting birds are breeding.

7/13/2021 4:12 PM

326 Hedgehog friendly areas with holes through fences to allow them to move around. Signs would
help people think about doing this themselves. Maximise the long grass, wildflowers and trees
on council property please

7/13/2021 4:05 PM

327 I have said yes to more wild flower planting but I think that in an area like ours wild planting
mostly does it's own thing. It's pretty good to leave it to nature.

7/13/2021 3:49 PM

328 Stop granting building applications for housing that is far too expensive for locals. Be stricter
on offenders who build without permits.

7/13/2021 3:44 PM

329 The more the better, for all our sakes. 7/13/2021 3:43 PM

330 Do more than 10% by 2025!!!! No use of pesticides except for management of Japan
knotweed. Only cut at the right time of year

7/13/2021 3:36 PM

331 More publicity advising people not to use weedkiller and other pesticides either on public
verges or in their own gardens. It contaminates the soil and water courses. Also leading by
example on this.

7/13/2021 3:32 PM

332 Overall an excellent approach to improve our Green Infrastructure. The Council needs to fully
resource this through trained and specialist staff for a connected approach to our partners and
adjacent LPAs

7/13/2021 3:30 PM

333 Show the areas being considered on a map. And show other areas that could potentially
rewilded in the future.

7/13/2021 3:14 PM

334 Need to put signs up to show public that these areas are being rewilded not 'neglected'. 7/13/2021 3:10 PM

335 Maybe you could think more about biodiversity before allowing new developments crowded
with houses and no green spaces. Kingsbridge is turning into one large housing estate :(

7/13/2021 3:05 PM

336 Support proposal as long as it does not take away from existing recreational/green areas for
young and older residents of the South Hams

7/13/2021 3:02 PM

337 Please be more ambitious. 10% by 2025 is not enough. More re wilding please. 7/13/2021 2:44 PM

338 Thank you this is a great idea would love to see more of this! 7/13/2021 2:39 PM

339 The proposals are an excellent idea and we hope they will go ahead. Helps to save money and
the diverse population of flower and fauna. We have applied the same principles to our garden
and it really helps the diversity of wildlife.

7/13/2021 2:39 PM

340 I would like the Council to promote the Plymouth and South Hams local green space policy; in
an effort to get scrub/waste land into a managed/card for condition with improved biodiversity

7/13/2021 2:32 PM

341 Cease using all weed killers on parks and cut grass areas. 7/13/2021 2:30 PM

342 Really positive news that the council is proposing some practical action - just increase the 7/13/2021 2:30 PM
Page 141



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

28 / 48

amount of land that will be left to become more natural please !

343 Yes I would like the council to consider putting in more bike paths. It’s a definite no brainer, it’ll
reduce emissions and also have health benefits. I’m a cyclist who lives in Salcolmbe and
cycles to South Milton and Kingsbridge regularly and feel I’m putting my life in danger cycling
because I have to cycle on the main road or lanes with gravel on and I’m regularly slide on the
gravel.

7/13/2021 2:26 PM

344 We tried something similar with our parish owned ground. Initially there were concerns that
people might not be keen on the lack of tidiness but we have been amazed at how delighted
people have been as the wildflowers appear. Paths are absolutely key as they show that it
hasn't just been abandoned but that it is a deliberate policy. And it has saved the parish a
fortune in strimming and mowing. A definite win win!

7/13/2021 2:25 PM

345 Good proposals - we need more wildflower meadows. Playing in a wildflower meadow by my
home in Yorkshire as a child was idyllic - today's children need to experience this and this
could well contribute to their willingness to value and support wildflower meadows as adults.
The one I played in eventually became a housing estate unfortunately but I have always been
passionate about the restoration of our meadows.

7/13/2021 2:24 PM

346 The more, the better1 7/13/2021 2:14 PM

347 Plant more trees along roads and bee corridors. But don’t use as an excuse to make
everywhere look like a mess

7/13/2021 2:05 PM

348 No, I think the Council’s proposals are excellent! I have tried to do the same in my garden but
without success! Maybe the Council could give us tax payers some advice on how to rewind a
bit of our own gardens…

7/13/2021 2:05 PM

349 Plant more trees - rewind areas. 7/13/2021 2:05 PM

350 Please act PROMPTLY when developers disregard planning laws about preserving the natural
environment and wildlife

7/13/2021 2:00 PM

351 10% is not remotely enough. Also, wildlife areas must be properly connected with wildlife
corridors to allow creatures and insects to move freely. The council should also be totally
committed to zero use of chemicals to control insects, plants and weeds or creatures of any
kind; and committed to zero use of chemical fertilisers. Planning must be tightened up to
ensure that every new home is built to far higher environmental standards - heat pumps, solar
panels, insulation levels, electric charging points, green spaces, grey water recycling, risk of
flooding, educational and medical resources, capacity of local sewerage systems and
proximity to public transport etc.

7/13/2021 2:00 PM

352 Pleased it is happening. 7/13/2021 1:58 PM

353 To me this is a no brainer. Why wouldn't we do all we can to benefit our wildlife and
environment?!

7/13/2021 1:50 PM

354 Enhancing spaces for wildlife is so important for the wellbeing of our area and the people that
live in it.

7/13/2021 1:49 PM

355 Let nature take its course and do not spend ANY of my hard-earned council tax on trendy re-
wilding schemes. Simply do things by reducing interference. There is for example no need to
plant wild flowers (aka weeds in many cases). They simply appear if left.

7/13/2021 1:43 PM

356 Consider the time of year things are being cut. Don't devastate entire eco systems during the
growing season. Leave flowers to go to seed and fruit for the birds.

7/13/2021 1:41 PM

357 Make long-grass and wildflower areas look intentional and neatly framed by selective mowing
and possibly signs stating biodiversity measures are being taken.

7/13/2021 1:40 PM

358 Freeform play equipment dotted around communal areas, not just in playgrounds. For example
the large fallen tree on vire island is not only great for wildlife but such fun for kids to climb on.
A row of large rocks are attractive and fun. Eg the rock at entrance to the car park opposite the
back gate to the Grove school- nearly every child who passed it climbs up and leaps off.

7/13/2021 1:39 PM

359 Plant trees in grass verges to roads especially in built up areas. 7/13/2021 1:38 PM

360 More wild flower meadows and oak trees. But also stricter control of fly tipping ets 7/13/2021 1:34 PM

Page 142



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

29 / 48

361 Rewilding and wildflower beds have been successfully introduced in many other parts of the
country for several years, it’s a ahame we are always the last to make the right changes for
the environment. I would like to see regular visits from Environvent officers, as I believe that
farms are causing the most damage to the environment and the pollution is not policed. SHDC
are responsible for the area and climate change in the area. Is it also time to put a water meter
in every home and make people responsible for the resources they are using, instead of
complaining after the issue has arisen. The droughts that will come in the next few years will
be due to the fillings of swimming pools, hot tubs, lazy spas and families using unlimited
amounts of water unnecessarily. It’s time to make people pay for what they use, police the
problems and don’t persecute those of use who do our best to reduce, reuse, recycle.

7/13/2021 1:34 PM

362 Provide information to homeowners as to how they can increase biodiversity at home. 7/13/2021 1:33 PM

363 Seems an ideal excuse to save money from the council. I think all areas should be kept neat
and tidy

7/13/2021 1:25 PM

364 I think this is definitely going in the right direction, but I do think the council need to stop new
developments for second homes and make a stand against greedy developers who are not
benefiting the locals

7/13/2021 1:22 PM

365 Substantial designated wild areas for every new housing development 7/13/2021 1:19 PM

366 Stop allowing building on Greenfield sites and concentrate on brownfield sites. Clear Totnes
Leat and other similar areas to encourage wildlife back. Implement litter picking schemes and
awareness. Just a few ideas.

7/13/2021 1:19 PM

367 Restricting the building of new developments on green field land would enhance the
biodiversity and support the wildlife more than allowing verges to grow naturally. It is time to
stop developing on our beautiful countryside and look more to saving the beautiful Devon
countryside.

7/13/2021 1:18 PM

368 Given the climate emergency the Council should continue to assess opportunities for
improving the community’s response to that emergency

7/13/2021 1:14 PM

369 I think that Biodiversity should be considered in context with the fact the South Hams has a
high incidence of Lymes Disease. I also think SHDC should take more care of the roadside
litter, spend money on improving Totnes high Street and generally make an effort to beautify
this beautiful area.

7/13/2021 1:04 PM

370 There are ample fields and moors around, don’t let the public areas go to rack and ruin 7/13/2021 1:03 PM

371 I think letting some spaces return to their natural state is a great idea 7/13/2021 12:55 PM

372 Lawns are classist and bad for the ecosystems of bugs, focus on moss instead of grass
seeding for the future

7/13/2021 12:55 PM

373 The critical focus should be to limit the damage done to the natural world through mammoth
housebuilding projects that serve only to destroy and not to enrich either the natural world or
the local human inhabitants. Focusing on rewinding a small area of South Hams land is a
starting point but in collaboration with the planning department, a critical focus needs to be on
limiting the damage of large scale building projects that serve no one other than to fulfil
dubious central government building quotas. If this is not addressed, then, unfortunately, we
are simply applying a tiny sticking plaster to an enormous, gangrenous sore.

7/13/2021 12:53 PM

374 Keep up the good work! 7/13/2021 12:51 PM

375 It's about time we put Nature first. 7/13/2021 12:51 PM

376 I think supporting wildlife and plants is absolutely vital. I think there has to be a balance
between areas near houses looking unkept as this could attract dumping, rubbish and could be
unpleasant for people whose houses are affected. I also think its vital that the verge near
roads are kept cut back so that driver's vision is not impacted. I also think its a bad idea t
have roadside verges covered in tall grass and flowers as it encourages animals such a
rabbits, hedgehogs and badgers to go near the road and often end up killed by vehicles.
Framing cutting would certainly help with all of this and re-assure the public that things are
being managed, not abandoned or unkept.

7/13/2021 12:50 PM

377 If you are so concerned why allow so much building and solar farms on green fields, this does
not make any sense when you state your objectives in this survey!!!

7/13/2021 12:49 PM

Page 143



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

30 / 48

378 Areas left to grow should be managed where brambles, stinging nettles, invasive species etc
take over; use of wildflower seeding including yellow rattle to restrict poor grassland growth.

7/13/2021 12:48 PM

379 Aim for a far higher %. Give incentive (Not financial) for similar approaches in private gardens
... make it acceptable and the norm for part or all a private garden be ' rewilded'. Supply
information on this 're hedges, lawns etc., not just available on a website but in manner it
cannot simply be avoided or ignored. Make it mandatory that trees over x high must have
council permission prior to felling

7/13/2021 12:46 PM

380 Regular upkeep Follaton Park. Overall more greenery in South Hams 7/13/2021 12:46 PM

381 Also any suitable location should be used for allotments to allow people to grow their own food
cutting the carbon footprint for as many as possible especially as there is a waiting list of
people looking for something to do

7/13/2021 12:41 PM

382 10% seems very little to give over to wild flowers 7/13/2021 12:40 PM

383 I think this is a great plan. Please make sure that there is still good visibility on road junctions
(long grass can make junctions more dangerous - in every other respect I completely support
this initiative) thank you.

7/13/2021 12:39 PM

384 We need to reduce CO2 emissions. Most of the other stuff is just to convince the public you
are doing "something". Need to get serious on using the Local Plan (and anything else you can
think of ) to make new housing developments much greener. Need to get behind retrofitting
existing housing stock. Need to maximise PV on all council roofs. Need to exert all possible
pressure the get SW Water to stop polluting our rivers - the make insufficient investment while
making significant profits.

7/13/2021 12:38 PM

385 Stop allowing tree felling by developers. Mature trees create vital and diverse habitats for so
many species. Protecting bat corridors is essential too. Cutti g hedges in council properties
should be paused too. My house is attached to one and we let our hedge grow this year and it
is bursting with bees and butterflies!

7/13/2021 12:35 PM

386 Should not be done where owners walk their dogs as it is easy for the dogs to use the area as
a toilet and then owners find it almost impossible to pick it up.

7/13/2021 12:34 PM

387 Help for hedgehogs to move around safely eg under road channels fill in dangerous flooded
potholes etc

7/13/2021 12:32 PM

388 The trouble with not cutting is brambles (see Cornworthy road near the zebra crossing today
(13 July) - a disgrace - any partially sighted person will have a bramble in their face. Also
stinging nettles everywhere is appalling - tourists must think we are a very poor, lazy area

7/13/2021 12:27 PM

389 Relaxing rules on common ground for the purpose of re-wilding. Supporting Parish Councils
with expert advice when creating Bio-Diverse areas on there own land. Information signs on
projects in the process of re-wilding including the animals likely to take up residence in these
areas. Include Primary School children in projects and processes.

7/13/2021 12:20 PM

390 Refuse building on green field sites and point developers to brown field sites. 7/13/2021 12:16 PM

391 We hope that this will be carried out and any ‘new’ ideas in future months /years will be
considered carefully - this is so important and we are delighted that you are planning to act on
what is suggestef

7/13/2021 12:14 PM

392 Prioritise wildflower areas and encourage mature trees to be kept within the boundaries of
housing developments so that houses are built within and around the existing wildlife, then
enhanced afterwards. Replant native species and remove coniferous woodland. Stop all forms
of pesticide use on public land.

7/13/2021 12:12 PM

393 It's not enough. We badly need wildlife corridors to allow biodiversity to flourish, and all
established areas of grassland, woodland and scrub should be protected for the precious
resource that they are.

7/13/2021 12:11 PM

394 This is long overdue! 7/13/2021 12:10 PM

395 Tree planting with hedges and orchards within housing area green spaces. More vegetation and
trees in new build areas. Stop garden fences extending around the Devon hedges, for example
along Filham Lanes.

7/13/2021 12:08 PM

396 Paignton town centre little park is outstanding with wild flowers… lessen the cutting of roadside 7/13/2021 12:07 PM
Page 144



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

31 / 48

verges, enhance all areas rural and urban with wild flowers, bee habitats and rewilding.

397 As much re-wilding as possible please! 7/13/2021 12:01 PM

398 Plant more trees 7/13/2021 12:00 PM

399 If this goes ahead then local communities and organisations should be engaged and supported
to carry on the good work already going on.

7/13/2021 11:59 AM

400 Publicity to communicate the importance of helping save the natural environment 7/13/2021 11:59 AM

401 Consider installing bee drinking stations where possible. 7/13/2021 11:56 AM

402 It’s important for the ecosystem to have diversity plus having green spaces helps with
flooding.

7/13/2021 11:55 AM

403 Council should encourage/require other landowners, recreation ground owners/operators to
leave at least 1m uncut borders around their properties

7/13/2021 11:46 AM

404 I think this initiative is a great idea. However, it should not be at the expense of safety. Some
of the current measures of leaving verges to grow wild are causing visibility issues in some
locations for road users. Also, there are pavements that are no longer as accessible for
pedestrians, especially those with young children and push chairs.

7/13/2021 11:46 AM

405 Promotion of tree planting and hedgerow reinstatement. Reinstatement of ponds and wetlands
where appropriate. Support for other owners who do "the right thing".

7/13/2021 11:42 AM

406 I very much welcome this approach and would support any further practical measures. 7/13/2021 11:40 AM

407 Brilliant - cannot understand why this has not been done before. It's not rocket science, the
decline in our wildlife has been appalling. The Pandemic has helped in bringing some back;
however much more needs to be done. This is a good start. Well done and get on with it.

7/13/2021 11:40 AM

408 We need need far more green space not less to encourage wild life to live and breed in the
areas

7/13/2021 11:39 AM

409 The council should continue to keep things clear and tidy. Homeowners/ Landlords/ renters of
property around the areas should be encouraged to do more for their communities. Make it like
some group. The council should have a way of vetting the group and support with training in
regards to how to cut trees correctly/ plant / where to plant. Working together is a better option.
Currently the council does areas/ landowners / renters do others. This causes confusion and
also leaves some areas complete and others not. If the council decide to just leave areas
landowners could just decide to take it upon themselves to “tidy up” etc Which is what
currently happens. Stop. Work together. Create both. Healthy and Safe environments. For
everyone and every living thing.

7/13/2021 11:34 AM

410 Make public aware of why re-wilding is important. Insects are under threat and they are
responsible for pollination of many plants. Insects are near the bottom of the food chain.
People say they love nature, have heard birdsong and feed birds, but insects are necessary as
part of the food chain. Birds need abundance of insects at breeding time to feed their young.
The ignorance of the food chain is widespread. Ignorance of the variety of insects is incredible.
I walk most days and see a new insect on every walk, but numbers are declining, so wildlife
further up the food chain is diminishing. I have witnessed and photographed the decline in
Adders due disturbance and climate change. See insect pictures and more -
https://www.flickr.com/photos/55776662@N08/

7/13/2021 11:31 AM

411 Wonderful idea, thank you so much for your commitment to our environment 7/13/2021 11:30 AM

412 Absolutely would like to see a lot of wildflowers on verges / hedges with road and in
roundabouts (safety permitting!)

7/13/2021 11:30 AM

413 Rewilding humans is as important as rewilding for biodiversity ! ... we are inextricably linked
after all - humans are part of the biodiversity. I see the council has a wonderful opportunity
here for making abundant opportunities available for humans to live as close to nature as
possible, for example enabling everyone who wants to, and especially low income households
to purchase a piece of land and live on it in low-impact dwellings in a "greenclean" and
sustainable way, without years of planning procedure and disagreements. This would also
contribute to solving the housing crisis, support mental health, reconnect us back to our "inner
wild" and generally improve things for everyone! ps. the grass verge on the corners of Fork

7/13/2021 11:30 AM

Page 145



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

32 / 48

Cross (on the Plymouth Road between Tigley and Harberton) does need regular cutting or you
can't see cars coming when turning onto the Plymouth Road which is potentially dangerous!

414 Dissuade people using pesticides and gardeners killing slugs and snails! Save water for dry
spells

7/13/2021 11:29 AM

415 Please plant lots of wildflowers!! Anything bee friendly 7/13/2021 11:29 AM

416 Think bigger 7/13/2021 11:26 AM

417 Keep roadsides and intersection verges cut back 7/13/2021 11:25 AM

418 The Roadside Verges must be kept cut on dangerous bends and road junctions. Someone is
liable to be killed if this is not done.

7/13/2021 11:24 AM

419 Wherever it is possible to leave grass to grow longer with mown edges, the more you can do
the better. Also, where possible log piles tucked away will create habitat for hedgehogs and
small mamals and increase habitat for insects, grubs etc which are food for small mammals.
Road verges trimmed at the edge are not only beautiful but great for nature, thank you

7/13/2021 11:24 AM

420 I did not answer yes to new wildflowers as this means more cost What you are suggesting is
good and have been advocating for 40 years and will look better and save you cost. Do make
sure visible site lines are maintained for vehicles and pedestrians. On another note changing
from permanent planting

7/13/2021 11:23 AM

421 Really glad to see you doing this. How about offering wildflower seeds to residents to do their
own bit of re-wilding?

7/13/2021 11:22 AM

422 I supported the no mow May and hope you do it next year. 7/13/2021 11:22 AM

423 Biodiversity is fine as long as it doesn't mean leaving everything in more of a mess than it
already is.

7/13/2021 11:22 AM

424 SHDC own the site at Borringdon Camp which has been closed to the public for over 4 years,
the site is 4.8 hectares. Sparkwell PC have been asking SHDC to join forces so that a proper
plan can be implemented to allow public access, tree planting, wildlife areas etc for at least 2
years. Lets make use of this site

7/13/2021 11:22 AM

425 This is a start Try it and evaluate don't go mad !! 7/13/2021 11:21 AM

426 Country/coastal public footpaths should be kept cut and clear to enable peaceful easy access
to appreciate and enjoy nature and views. The need to almost cut through paths yourself in the
summer months is very frustrating.

7/13/2021 11:20 AM

427 Turtley Corn Mill - we do this in our field adjacent to the pub to allow wildlife and dog walkers to
both benefit and share. We are much complimented - I'm sure you will be too! Saves fuel,
machinery depreciation, labour, protects wildlife, looks great. All winners! Great idea.

7/13/2021 11:19 AM

428 Encourage people to stop cutting down trees and hedges which are a natural home for wildlife.
We need our trees for oxygen! We also need trees and hedges to absorb the massive amount
of rain water running of the fields and flooding the roads!

7/13/2021 11:19 AM

429 you need to get the local media kids out and get all this on film/social media so we can all
enjoy it. And feel free to go to 50%, with new trees too, and advertise if you need help.

7/13/2021 11:17 AM

430 All excellent suggestions and long overdue. You have my full support and I know many others
feel the same. Thank you.

7/13/2021 11:17 AM

431 Go further, faster please. Of course you should rewild these areas and search for more. 7/13/2021 11:13 AM

432 On the right track, but I'd support increasing the target from a mere 10% to something much
bigger.

7/13/2021 11:12 AM

433 Very good idea! 7/13/2021 11:12 AM

434 I think cutting is often done at inappropriate times from the point of view of the animals and
birds depending on, eg, hedges,for their homes! I realise that where hedges and grass
impinges on roads it has to trimmed but this is often done without any thought to the nesting
times etc of birds....it seems the car always wins.Wherever possible I think you should
encourage the bees and insects which are so depleted and love wildflowers and long and
varied grasses.

7/13/2021 11:12 AM

Page 146



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

33 / 48

435 This is an excellent idea which I fully support. 7/13/2021 11:10 AM

436 It is important to keep paths and kerbs clear and not use biodiversity as an excuse for not
doing so. Many paths in Ivybridge are currently difficult to use as they are overgrown.

7/13/2021 11:10 AM

437 Increase the 10 Percent target to 20 percent. Careful with wild growth height affecting visibility
at roundabouts / junctions etc

7/13/2021 11:09 AM

438 I'm delighted that the Council is acting this way. Well done!! 7/13/2021 11:08 AM

439 50 hectres in the whole of south hams is not enough - a real commitment would be to purchase
some land with the specific purpose or rewilding, rather than reduce the opportunity for casual
play, encourage dog owners not to be responsible. It is a cost cutting exercise which will result
in unmanaged areas.

7/13/2021 11:08 AM

440 Areas of long grass does not need framing but mowing path through a large area of long grass
encourages managed access / footfall. Long grass can cause severe issues to some with hay-
fever suffers so may not be appropriate near housing.

7/13/2021 11:08 AM

441 I wish more environmental protections could be insisted upon when considering planning
applications from developers. Seeing the destruction of ancient hedgerows and the felling of
very old but healthy trees as we are seeing on West Alvington Hill, Lock’s Hill and the
Dennings land is heartbreaking.

7/13/2021 11:07 AM

442 oh yes I do keep the green spaces we already have /had re looks hill Kingsbridge do not let
them build on them !! and keep the edges along the roads clean no point having rewilding if it
collects litter in there man power is needed more then seed packets

7/13/2021 11:07 AM

443 Encourage homeowners to be more biodiverse in their own spaces, education for communities
about biodiversity, discuss green corridors and their importance, don't use roundup or similar
weed killer anywhere (ensure your subcontractors are not using it), educate about the
importance of "weeds" and change the dynamic.

7/13/2021 11:06 AM

444 While these measures are important. The Council needs to do more protect existing spaces
from development and other threats, and deal with other pressures such as pollution.

7/13/2021 11:05 AM

445 Great proposal but needs to be addressed in the round - included in a wide long term
review/plan for the whole South Hams area.

7/13/2021 11:05 AM

446 Unless there is a pressing need, can the road verges be allowed to maintain their spring and
summer flush. The No Mow May initiative was good, but the flowers, and the flush was
delayed this year and goes on longer than May. Also, and again where it's compatible with
lines of sight and safety, can some sort of restraint be exercised on flailing hedgerows. Habitat
and nest sites are destroyed just when they are most needed.

7/13/2021 11:05 AM

447 I would ove to discuss further 7/13/2021 11:03 AM

448 Developers should not be allowed / have been allowed to build so many houses on the fields
surrounding our towns.

7/13/2021 11:03 AM

449 Please get this in action as quickly as possible - our wildlife needs it!! 7/13/2021 11:02 AM

450 excellent idea the sooner the better 7/13/2021 7:54 AM

451 Brilliant that you are doing this. 10% increase in biodiversity (as stated at the beginning of the
survey) seems a modest increase ~ why not be more ambitious?

7/13/2021 5:42 AM

452 Encourage home owners to rewild their gardens and to discourage destruction of green spaces
(e.g. concrete/pebbles over grassy areas etc.) That a little effort at home can add up to a lot.

7/12/2021 11:21 PM

453 Incorporate good educational publicity to avoid accusations of cost cutting motives 7/12/2021 9:57 PM

454 In the report by Chris Brook ( Climate Change and Biodiversity- 8/7/21), I note sections 3.4 and
5.5 . If grass cuttings can be removed, ground nutrient levels will tend to fall, discouraging
grass, and favouring flowering species. If the grass removed can be incorporated with other
material, it could make excellent compost. Otherwise, semi-parasitic plants, (such as yellow
rattle) can be used to reduce grass vigour and favour broad-leaved species. I strongly approve
of 'framing cuts' because they demonstrate deliberate action, not neglect. Thankyou for this
encouraging action.

7/12/2021 9:46 PM

Page 147



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

34 / 48

455 Consider ways to help hedgehogs, Ivybridge for example sees so many killed on the roads.
Road signs and hedgehog highways

7/12/2021 9:29 PM

456 Planting of native trees and shrubs should be encouraged. Reduce soil disturbance where
possible. Provide corridors to allow wildlife to move safely between different habitats.

7/12/2021 9:03 PM

457 Our parish Council just pays lip service to biodiversity and doesn't engage with the local
community on environmental issues.

7/12/2021 8:39 PM

458 The more wildflowers - the more chance of wild insects, then bird and so on, to limit or reverse
natures decline. The council should encourage/enforce wildflower planting on non-council
ground as well as their own. A good example is the old railway cutting alongside Middle Green,
South Brent. 4 years ago the tenants asked for active wildflower planting by the maintenance
company (Greenbelt). They have done nothing despite being asked. Initially ALL the grass was
cut short regularly. Eventually we got them to stop cutting some areas and these have very
nice long grass with some wildflowers but active planting would increase variety and support
more wildlife.

7/12/2021 5:33 PM

459 I support all of this - I feel there should be restrictions on farming methods that hinder wildlife
like spraying etc and that planning applications in the country side also keep an eye on how
they will affect wildlife

7/12/2021 3:21 PM

460 10% is a start but seems a bit low. Pathways through meadows are very important to give the
public the idea that it is managed and to allow people to enjoy them to the full. however it’s
important not to make these areas of meadow do not end up like islands - we desperately need
connectivity between these rewilded areas to allow wildlife to move safely. It’s great that
councils are taking this seriously and different departments are talking together to join up the
dots when it comes to our environment.

7/12/2021 2:43 PM

461 Until we see the maps it is difficult to comment on the proposal to have cut paths through the
long grass, but my inclination would be to not cut where it is not necessary. Also I think the
Council should look to actively re-wild more land where this is not used as amenity space.

7/12/2021 2:22 PM

462 Ensure ALL new housing developments include hedgehog pathways between gardens,
birdboxes integral to new buildings, hedgerows protected. Meaadowgrass roofs on new houses,
on top of bus stops, free seeds via schools / library. Reintroduction of native plant species that
have diminished, trees planted along new roads. All roundabouts to have planters /
meadowgrass.

7/12/2021 2:15 PM

463 Please stop building on green fields 7/12/2021 1:38 PM

464 Wildflowers. Bee friendly practices. No glyphosate. 7/12/2021 1:22 PM

465 Long grass looks awful but long grass with wild flowers looks amazing all grass areas should
be wildflower planted and no mow may every year

7/12/2021 1:21 PM

466 This is vital work, so this proposal should only be the first step in improving biodiversity. 7/12/2021 1:10 PM

467 I am very pleased to see these proposals and support them fully. 7/12/2021 12:44 PM

468 create new areas for wildlife and wild flowers 7/12/2021 12:37 PM

469 I think this is really great. Re-wild even more of the councils green space. We really only need
recreation fields and some of the park land cut. Also, when cutting, upgrade to electric
mowers. Go SHDC, save the planet xxxx

7/12/2021 12:36 PM

470 Congratulations on your plans to increase biodiversity. Consider increasing the 10%.
Encourage residents to have wildlife at forefront of their garden/building plans.

7/12/2021 12:23 PM

471 more trees and less cutting! 7/12/2021 12:16 PM

472 Great idea. Many parish councils are trying but facing local complainers. Sadly people rarely
write in support so only complaints are being heard. Please also mention that grass is also
good to grow long not just flowers. No need to disturb and run great grass habitats to plant wild
flowers.

7/12/2021 11:32 AM

473 every few weeks a team from SHDC comes and cuts grass verges near us - it would be great
to see these spaces allowed to grow - but it's not just a question of not cutting - the area will
still need some management eg cutting to allow seeds to disperse and then later removing the
grass

7/12/2021 11:20 AM

Page 148



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

35 / 48

474 I think this is a good start but I encourage you to do more. 10% is a rather low target and lacks
ambition. It is also important that strong protection is in place for these new habitats. Anyone
found damaging or littering these new environments should be held to account. I also
encourage to introduce more wet habitats into your plans, I.e wild ponds and bogs.

7/12/2021 11:17 AM

475 This can and must be done more immediately. By 2025? The time frame set to achieve this is
too long.

7/12/2021 11:00 AM

476 Re-wilding road side verges Tree planting in the right places Green roofs on council buildings
Focus on re-wilding riverbanks

7/12/2021 10:31 AM

477 Anything that can be done to increase biodiversity is to be applauded. Can I suggest providing
spaces for tree planting where appropriate.

7/12/2021 10:09 AM

478 Speak directly to town & parish councils to find out which areas they would like to see included
in the biodiversity plans, they will have areas that you probably haven't considered.

7/12/2021 9:52 AM

479 thoroughly support these proposals, think this issue is important 7/12/2021 9:45 AM

480 Thank you 7/12/2021 9:13 AM

481 Newton and Noss Mayo Parish Council would welcome further support and guidance regarding
environmental issues

7/12/2021 8:45 AM

482 10% does not go far enough, needs to be more ambitious to be meaningfully impactful. Stop
strimming altogether and adopt alternative cut and clear techniques to prevent destruction of
invertebrates and enriching of swards from grass mulch. consider turf stripping in suitable
locations before reseeding with more appropriate mixes and supplementing with wildflower plug
planting Learn from the French who do this all so well on municipal areas

7/12/2021 8:34 AM

483 Don’t forget to use grass verges for bio diversity - leave or plant with wild flowers 7/12/2021 8:05 AM

484 I would like every opportunity sought to green up even tiny urban spaces, replacing
unnecessary hard-standing with wild flower areas by encouraging neighbourhood initiatives.
Cooperation through the Transition Streets movement.

7/12/2021 7:48 AM

485 This seems to be a 'no brainer': not only is it obviously crucial for the environment, when South
Hams should be doing everything it can for this, but it greatly enhances people's pleasure and
wellbeing. Once it's all set up, it also means periods of reduced wear on machinery and less
use of energy (less cost as well as better environmentally) and periods of reduced work mean
those people can be directed to further, more useful things. But 10% is a very low target
(mentioned in some points): why not do much more? Other places have already set a much
higher standard. PLEASE, JUST DO IT!

7/12/2021 7:18 AM

486 A good start but much more needs to be done. Turn bus stops into bee stops, this seems to
be helping in lots of places. Or any council roof.

7/12/2021 12:40 AM

487 Great idea, and I am 100% behind it. 7/12/2021 12:11 AM

488 Plant more trees 7/12/2021 12:10 AM

489 Please look at opportunities to work with existing groups that garden 7/11/2021 11:52 PM

490 Stop building on green spaces on edge of towns eg Locks Hill, Kongsbridge’ 7/11/2021 10:28 PM

491 Please go as far as you are able to create wild spaces and increase diversity. I notice
plymouth is doing a brilliant job and it shows tangeably with more bees and butterflies

7/11/2021 10:28 PM

492 Plant more wild flowers and trees 7/11/2021 9:33 PM

493 More green roof and green space building requirements for new builds as per wildlife trust
guidelines. Green meadow spaces to allow for community eco projects.

7/11/2021 9:32 PM

494 Yes! Let’s do more fir this plant of ours. We start small and the small efforts make a big
difference! We are running out of time to truly make a difference so let’s go SHDC!!!

7/11/2021 9:27 PM

495 As much wild growth in public space as possible - and information/education to help the public
move away from focus on neatness over nature

7/11/2021 9:19 PM

496 Please don’t be tempted to use glyphosate or other herbicides when you don’t immediately get
the species you want. As next step, allotments and small scale organic food production also

7/11/2021 9:10 PM

Page 149



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

36 / 48

enhance biodiversity- it may be beneficial to consider the potential value for food production on
certain sites.

497 Encourage the community to engage in maintainence of pathside verges. Offer training in the
use of the scythe for this purpose. This will help people to engage with the process of
conservation and rewilding.

7/11/2021 8:35 PM

498 I think they could be more ambitious. 10% is not very high. How about green roofs on bus
stops? How about council tree planting?

7/11/2021 7:36 PM

499 Encourage residents to plant wildflowers and not mow lawns until after flowering season. 7/11/2021 7:16 PM

500 We need to devote as much open land to wildflowers and wildlife as possible, including the
council encouraging other owners to do so - there is so much farmland and moorland that is
devoid of wild flora and fauna

7/11/2021 7:13 PM

501 Do more of these proposals! 7/11/2021 7:09 PM

502 Get parish councils to do more, eg rewilding verges 7/11/2021 6:36 PM

503 management of verges to encourage yellow rattle which would inhibit grass growth over a year
or two

7/11/2021 6:12 PM

504 Thoroughly support this new approach and feel that public opinion has shifted significantly to
support this. Apparently 70% of councils have reduced mowing in accordance with this shift in
attitudes

7/11/2021 5:58 PM

505 Keep the ban on glyphosate weed killer and encourage people to understand why and to not
use it them selves in their gardens- promote No Mow May for next year

7/11/2021 5:29 PM

506 Don't cut grass verges on the side of roads too far. 7/11/2021 5:21 PM

507 These proposals are positive, but must go further. Nature should not be forced to exist on the
periphery. There should be an assumption in favour of wild/meadow areas when planning
cutting and other maintenance. The perennial wildflower meadow should be the preferred
option, and cutting justified in each instance.

7/11/2021 5:09 PM

508 Increase the laying of hedges rather than slashing which causes puncture danger to cycles
and traffic

7/11/2021 4:52 PM

509 Please no more houses to be built 7/11/2021 3:51 PM

510 This is a good start. But I feel you could do more to engage citizens by talking about these
things more, and by working closely with groups such as Sustainable South Brent, Moor
Meadows and so forth. This is so urgent that we need to reach as many people as possible -
and we need them to act - in their own gardens, on allotments, on verges (if safe) -
everywhere!

7/11/2021 3:44 PM

511 new wildflower seed may not be necessary, in our experience, dormant seeds are already in
the soil and just need the grass to be reduced in conjunction with a reduction in soil fertility for
them to flourish. Yellow rattle is a grass parasite and a huge help. Important : traffic visibility
should be maintained by selective verge cutting

7/11/2021 3:28 PM

512 Leaving fallen trees in some areas to encourage more biodiversity 7/11/2021 3:26 PM

513 Time for Councils to accept responsibility for more than council tax payers needs. There is a
duty of care for our biodiversity.

7/11/2021 3:26 PM

514 There are a great number of verges in South Hams that are cut excessively (i.e. more than is
required for road safety) and the cuttings are usually left in place. The cuttings then rot,
enriching the soil which suits tall grasses but not much else thus perpetuating the issue (i.e.
visibility on winding roads). Cuttings should be taken away to be composted, thus reducing the
nutrient in the soil and ultimately the height of the sward and allowing wildflowers to find space.
Leaving long grass and creating wildflower meadow will be fantastic for invertebrates but it is
also worth considering their predators - will there be connectivity in the landscape to allow e.g.
hedgehogs and bats to take advantage of the new habitat? Putting bat boxes on/in nearby
buildings and mature trees will help, as will creating gaps in fences and walls for hedgehogs to
get through. Please also consider swift boxes, artificial house martin nests and house sparrow
terraces on any large buildings near to the new habitat. Log piles near to the new habitat will
also benefit overwintering invertebrates and provide shelter for amphibians, reptiles and small

7/11/2021 3:19 PM

Page 150



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

37 / 48

mammals. Please also include signage to explain to people why the grass is being left long.
I've seen on social media that various councils have received complaints about grass being
left long from unenlightened members of the public.

515 The reason for my negative response is that a grassed area at the entrance to my road(Torr
Bridge Park, Yealmpton) has been left to become a total mess. On roadside verges this would
be a totally different matter but I strongly object to this being imposed in the heart of a
residential area which incidentally is surrounded by wild spaces.

7/11/2021 3:11 PM

516 These proposals are excellent and I would like as many public spaces as possible to be
rewilded or made more biodiverse. Thankyou

7/11/2021 3:08 PM

517 The Council needs to take over the management of its road verges from Devon County Council
and adopt Plantlife's policy of 'no mow May' on its floristically rich road verges, such as the
Totnes to Buckfastleigh A road. These are cut when flowers are in full bloom when they are
providing nectar for pollinators.

7/11/2021 2:35 PM

518 I think the % targets are not ambitious enough. Our wildlife needs our help now. You could ask
the local people yo help and make the big jobs into community events. You could start with the
grounds at Follaton House. Thanks for the survey and all the work you do already. Happy to
help

7/11/2021 1:52 PM

519 There need to be 'before' and 'after' surveys to let us know how diversity has improved. 7/11/2021 1:50 PM

520 Grass and wild plant verges alongside roads, pavements and where ever possible and also
around avenue trees. Let's see more lush natural areas where ever we can provided we have
footpaths for walkers and roads where cars need to get through.

7/11/2021 1:46 PM

521 Stop using any kind of herbicides or pesticieds 7/11/2021 1:39 PM

522 Please add plants that help our pollinators wherever possible. 7/11/2021 1:39 PM

523 These proposals are hugely welcomed. I would also welcome guidance on how to deal with
agricultural plastic littering and burning of plastic, which is a routine issue in my area of the
south hams.

7/11/2021 1:05 PM

524 This is a great start. Please don't murder the hedges in the Autumn this year. 7/11/2021 12:43 PM

525 This is a great idea. Please roll it out across the whole of the south hams. ASAP 7/11/2021 11:55 AM

526 Certainly never to use glyphosate / roundup on any plants particularly where humans and
animals will come into contact eg on pavements or along sides of paths / railways etc

7/11/2021 11:50 AM

527 More wil d flower planting on verges of main roads. 7/11/2021 11:25 AM

528 This looks like an obvious think to do with very few or no downsides. I fully support this
initiative.

7/11/2021 11:16 AM

529 Good news that the destruction of habitats and wild plants is being reversed 7/11/2021 11:03 AM

530 Creating meadows is an important part of conservation - there are several informal groups who
have been making progress with this over recent years - Moor Meadows for one - and a link
with such groups would benefit both.

7/11/2021 10:31 AM

531 Aim to refuce traffic emission pollution which compromises the ability of plabts and insects to
interact beneficially with their own more delicate chemical signals

7/11/2021 10:23 AM

532 I’d like to see rewilding plus supporting Council communications about the wildlife through
partnership with existing wildlife, nature and historic environment organisations. Proactive
planting is NOT necessarily the way to go, as there is a danger of ending up with homogeneity
and losing the unique signature that makes a place special (and in any case introduced plants
may not survive without the right balance in the ecosystem). But bravo, yes please, let us all
see more of the wonders of the environment around us and come to understand and respect
them better.

7/11/2021 10:17 AM

533 I believe al roadside verges should be managed this way, where there is no safety concern. 7/11/2021 10:03 AM

534 Leave dying trees that are not a hazard to public. Dead wood, especially if it is ‘standing’, is a
very valuable habitat for many species and is in very short supply. Ash die back is a great
opportunity to leave as much as possible to die naturally where it is. Also tidy is not good for
biodiversity! Thanks for all that you are doing.

7/11/2021 10:03 AM

Page 151



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

38 / 48

535 I think the council should be tackling Himalayan balsam to stopping it spreading. This plant is
so successful it reduces biodiversity and spreads very easily. I think cutting grass and
vegetation around junctions and entries to roundabouts needs to be done more often for safety.
There is scope for better biodiversity along the edges of the a38 and this would look nice for
visitors. Perhaps sharing knowledge and advice to householders and landlowners could help
biodiversity as a whole across the South Hams and not just targeted areas. It would be nice to
see if the wildflower areas would complement the natural biodiversity of that area, and not just
a generic wildflower mix. With coastal areas and moorland areas with various habitats in
between there must be species we want to encourage in some areas but not others. Again this
could be shared with local homeowners and landowners.

7/11/2021 10:01 AM

536 Please leave grass long on road side verges. Swansea City saved a lot of money by having
wildflower borders next to roads and footpaths so they didn’t have to close the roads etc to cut
the grass.

7/11/2021 10:00 AM

537 Whilst leaving any necessary walkways cut at roadsides where formal pavements don’t exist, I
would like to see more than 10% given over to the above suggestions for enhancing
biodiversity. Sounds really worthwhile.

7/11/2021 9:59 AM

538 Tree planting, hedge planting. Planning rules that support sustainable building including
sewage/drainage initiatives (i.e. septic tanks, soakaways on site). The Council should be
pertitioning Government to sort out Planning regulations to stop developers just doing the
'cheap' thing, and not the sustainable thing!

7/11/2021 9:52 AM

539 Whilst I support leaving areas of grass verges to grow long, many verges have not been cut at
all recently which is causing safety issues. I am mainly referring to the verges by longcause
and along Sawpit Lane. The traffic goes so fast along these roads yet the verges are too long
for pedestrians to step onto. By cutting a path on these verges we could improve the safety for
pedestrians

7/11/2021 9:52 AM

540 Please include roadside verges in your plans 7/11/2021 9:46 AM

541 Plant fruit and nut trees 7/11/2021 9:45 AM

542 it's a good idea, but unfortunately we'll soon have to start dumping our recycling on the open
ground as we've only had 2 collections in 11 weeks

7/11/2021 9:42 AM

543 As much wildflower planting as possible in every available space. Not only would this
encourage more wildlife, it would enhance appearance, make our beautiful area even more
attractive and reduce workload and costs.

7/11/2021 9:36 AM

544 Removal of invasive species - especially rhododendron - as these are out-competing native
species.

7/11/2021 9:31 AM

545 Please make similar arrangements for road verges and discuss with other authorities - DCC,
Highways, Parishes etc... Explore other ways of promoting biodiversity, such as tree and
hedgerow planting, orchard creation etc...

7/11/2021 9:07 AM

546 I would like 100% of council land to be sensitively managed fir wildlife and biodiversity.
Borders and paths cut through for access and lots of wildflower planting

7/11/2021 9:06 AM

547 Excellent idea, would like to see an increase in non recreational green spaces being rewilded 7/11/2021 8:58 AM

548 Have a team of experts the public can contact for advice on wilding there own land /gardens. 7/11/2021 8:55 AM

549 I think 10% is nowhere near enough. Please consider revising this upwards. 7/11/2021 8:45 AM

550 Extend the initiative to more than 10% as biodiversity and supporting wildlife are of paramount
importance!

7/11/2021 8:13 AM

551 Mire tree planting. Also many green spaces owned by Devon CC so negotiate with them to
stop cutting these too- just keep sight lines open.

7/11/2021 7:38 AM

552 Make some green spaces that are ONLY for wildlife, and NOT for people. 7/11/2021 7:34 AM

553 I think it is such a brilliant thing to do and when all around us is being compromised, it is such
welcome news, thank you.

7/11/2021 7:13 AM

554 I would like to see more than the suggested 3.5H of wilflowers 7/11/2021 7:03 AM

Page 152



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

39 / 48

555 Ensure that wild areas provide wildlife corridors not just isolated areas. 7/11/2021 6:31 AM

556 Thankyou for making a start on this long overdue project. 7/10/2021 10:29 PM

557 Don’t hold back the naysayers will eventually be in a small minority 7/10/2021 10:18 PM

558 Love the re-wilding in Yealmpton. So important to support insect life and the subsequent
species that rely upon them. Think more should be done.

7/10/2021 9:59 PM

559 On the verges please make sure cars and pedestrians can see whats coming. eg when
crossing the plymouth road outside the top entrance of follaton house you cant see the cars so
have to risk it and run across because the weeds have been keft to grow so I think in some
places they need to be managed.

7/10/2021 9:50 PM

560 Wonderful that the Council into practice. We have a chance to challenge the tradition and
perception of the need to keep spaces short & mown, & to allow the younger generations to
see wildflowers & long grasses as a normal part of how we manage green spaces for nature.

7/10/2021 9:45 PM

561 We need to educate the public in order to reassure those who have lived mainly through the
last few decades of tidy minded approaches to land management. Otherwise nothing is likely
to improve. All efforts should be made to do this. I thoroughly endorse any rewinding and more
sustainable land use. Thank you.

7/10/2021 5:49 PM

562 Sort out pollution by getting on with the cycle path to Littlehempston! 7/10/2021 5:42 PM

563 This is a great iinitiative. I fully support measures to improve biodiversity. 7/10/2021 5:40 PM

564 Eco work should be a priority 7/10/2021 5:32 PM

565 Pollinators (insects) are as much an essential base to the land-based food chain as plankton
are to the oceans. Without them food crops vital to both man and wildlife would perish.
Therefore it is vital to provide these creatures with nectar from flowering wild pants so they in
turn may pollinate both our garden flowers, fruit trees and farm produced vegetables. Can we
really live with ourselves if we only leave a concrete covered desert with sterile short-cut grass
to the younger generation who missed seeing the full beauty of our countryside before the
policy of pasture improvement was introduced along with insect (and other land based life)
harming chemicals. Which polluted land, waterways and every living body in this land to a
greater, or lesser degree Take a look at the photos of flowering meadows on facebook taken
this year - and ask yourself do we not owe it to our citizens to give them back something of
beauty, free to all and available to all - not just those fortunate enough to live in the depth of
our beautiful area of England. These pictures are beautiful evoking memories of a childhood
before short grass and pesticides, our grandchildren need to be aware of the benefit these so
called 'weeds' and the insect life they support give to each of us.

7/10/2021 3:39 PM

566 wildlife corridors across South Hams. Nest boxes on new builds, grass roofs and rewilding 7/10/2021 3:19 PM

567 Ensure SHDC has a well resourced countryside service. Encourage landowners in the South
Hams to manage their land for biodiversity

7/10/2021 3:04 PM

568 More spaces left to wildlife around the towns. Also wild foods and herbs. I recently walked
along the river stour in Dorset where the council have planted herbs and salads- tree spinach,
artichokes, nut trees and Berry bushes mixed with wild and bee friendly flowers. It was very
beautiful and looked cared fir but not over managed- I’d live to see this approach taken on by
south hams.

7/10/2021 2:51 PM

569 Let’s do this! It’s starting to look wilder in Totnes due to the TTC taking initiative on this too.
Well done.

7/10/2021 2:41 PM

570 Community orchards if suitable spaces available. Encouraging the joining up of isolated woods
and copses.

7/10/2021 2:30 PM

571 What about planting some trees as well where you can there’s a charity called moor trees that
could help with that.

7/10/2021 2:07 PM

572 A good start. Please keep going! 7/10/2021 2:04 PM

573 I fully support all efforts to increase biodiversity and reduce use of fossil fuels in management
of our shared council owned spaces. Thank you for continuing to make these positive steps
forwards.

7/10/2021 1:57 PM

Page 153



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

40 / 48

574 A very positive step in the right direction. More of this please! 7/10/2021 1:25 PM

575 Trimming of hedges could be done more sensitively with a view to minimising its impact on
hedgerow plant and animal species.

7/10/2021 1:24 PM

576 It needs to be joined up thinking. It should not just be a token gesture. Wildlife areas do better
if they are connected to other areas/corridors. I don’t think they really work if they are in
isolation. Obviously they will need managing. These spaces do need cutting back at the right
times to ensure survival of native plants and species and don’t just turn into a mass of nettles
or brambles. Proper advice from plant and wildlife experts needs to be considered.

7/10/2021 1:20 PM

577 In terms of increasing biodiversity, I would advocate that the Planning Department demand that
property developers do not destroy natural Devon hedgebanks (even though they replace them
afterwards with a modern equivalent) having destroyed the rare habitat.

7/10/2021 1:14 PM

578 Keep increasing chances for biodiversity please. 7/10/2021 12:36 PM

579 Great news please get going on this ASAP there is no time to lose - we do this on our own
land here in the South Hams

7/10/2021 12:36 PM

580 The mindset of a few individuals shouldn't really be allowed to derail our response to an
ecological crisis. It's a balancing act, but provided there are areas for leisure which fulfil their
function, space and habitat should be given to organisms we rely on for pollination. There is a
noticeable generational divide but we need to look to the future and trying to avert a much
greater difficulty than untidiness. The obsession with taming "nature" has led us to the brink of
ecological collapse, which will bite us hard in return. These small decisions are part of the UK's
response to a global crisis. Please don't revert to a damaging set of aesthetic but time-hungry,
expensive ideals around green spaces, which have had their time. Thank you.

7/10/2021 12:05 PM

581 The proposal looks to create wilding on approx 25% of available land. Why wait until 2025 for
10% why not aim for 25% by next year or at least stop mowing will create the most
immediately.

7/10/2021 11:25 AM

582 Keep on please with the green living. Our planet needs this care and support more than ever.
We need to learn the balance of humanity and the environment as we've tipped the scales with
the demands of humanity for too long and there planet has suffered greatly as a result of those
consequences. We must all change to embrace our natural environments more for us all to live
a more balanced life for our beautiful green and blue planets. Otherwise our future generations
of all species will suffer greatly and for the worst. Thanks for helping to encourage that
biodiversity.

7/10/2021 11:06 AM

583 Could your staff offer advice to other landowners considering re-wilding/initiatives to encourage
biodiversity?

7/10/2021 10:33 AM

584 The not cutting of verges needs to be balanced against road safety. Areas close to junctions
still need to be managed, as do bushes & hedges. Also, biodiversity can’t be an excuse for
lazy gardening/gardening on the cheap. More attention to in town areas and kerbside without
use of chemicals.

7/10/2021 10:22 AM

585 The proposal is very much needed to go ahead with increasing biodiversity. I would however
point out that leaving rubbish and plastic on verges and even including it in the strimming is
not good for creating a wildlife or biodiverse environment. What is saved on mowing these
areas should be spent on firstly educating people NOT to throw their rubbish out of the car
window and using extra funds saved by using it to clear our verges of rubbish before they
strim. Thank you

7/10/2021 9:49 AM

586 10%by 2025 isn't enough. Great to see this socket being on the agenda, I believe the bar
needs to be set high- the time for messing around is over. Can more be done to approach this
in an asset based community development way? People are keen to help when given space,
opportunity to do so and - most importantly - are trusted Thank you for all your work

7/10/2021 9:33 AM

587 Keep on with the biodiversity. It is so important to nature and our mental well-being. 7/10/2021 9:31 AM

588 plant hedges and trees with berries for birds, mammals and insects 7/10/2021 9:26 AM

589 In favour of anything that protects the environment. 7/10/2021 9:08 AM

590 Great plan! Let's hope we can change people's mindsets so they will enjoy the beauty of
wildflowers and grasses. When planning the sites ensure there are wild corridors to link them.

7/10/2021 8:20 AM

Page 154



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

41 / 48

Could the farmers/land mangers be encouraged to let their hedges grow? Hopefully the ELMs
proposals will help in this area.

591 It’s a vital step towards a sustainable world 7/10/2021 8:10 AM

592 Less hedge cutting except in areas where it may endanger motorists and or pedestrians 7/10/2021 7:12 AM

593 The council should aim to include much more than 10% rewilded . Use the 10% as a starting
position and then increase

7/10/2021 6:57 AM

594 Provide more community space for growing food for the community, not just the token 6 plots
offered by Baker Estates for the 80 new houses in Dartington. Local wildlife ponds.

7/10/2021 12:14 AM

595 More rewilding please. Thanks so mych 7/9/2021 10:26 PM

596 I’d love to know more about local species that are threatened with extinction and also those
that we have lost. Are there iconic species that the people of the South Hams are particularly
fond of and feel are important to the area?

7/9/2021 9:51 PM

597 Re wild our towns and countryside. 7/9/2021 9:32 PM

598 If this scheme is successful, it would be good to see it rolled out to the rest of the open
spaces that you manage

7/9/2021 9:27 PM

599 As long as verges at junctions blind corners are kept short from a safety point then there ideas
are great

7/9/2021 9:17 PM

600 Lovely to see some “no mow May” in Dartmouth. It’s going to take tome and lots of education
to change the way we see green spaces - having a sign up saying “ no mow may” and
explaining it in Dartmouth made a positive difference to my perception!

7/9/2021 9:05 PM

601 I’m all for this. We have a large patch of grass on the Plymouth Rd whereI live near the council
offices. Would be amazing to see it transformed into a wild flower verge!

7/9/2021 9:01 PM

602 I'd like to see complete ban on weedkillers. Also planting around towns with only low
nutrient/water tolerant plants, bee and insect friendly where possible. Also a policy of leaving
dead trees to rot in place (so called 'stump gardens'). I'd like to see public buildings encourage
nesting of birds like swallows and house martins.

7/9/2021 8:57 PM

603 Each location should be assessed for its existing characteristics and what species it does
and/or could support. Although we wholeheartedly support rewinding, if we simply turn
everything into wildflower meadows, that in itself can be a monoculture for some species. But
we do support your proposals as being a good move forward.

7/9/2021 8:56 PM

604 More areas of grassland/scrub mosaic to give structural diversity 7/9/2021 8:50 PM

605 These proposals are merely token gestures. There needs to be a radical change of emphasis
about how land is managed for biodiversity and wildlife if humans are going to redress the
balance in time to avert the imminent catastrophe we're headed towartds.

7/9/2021 8:46 PM

606 The relaxing of cutting regimes on council land is a wonderful idea. It will save taxpayers
money as well as improving the area for both people and wildlife

7/9/2021 8:42 PM

607 Leaving areas for wildlife and biodiversity should enable funds to be spent elsewhere and
enhance the look and feel of the area. Great to see a foreword thinking plan

7/9/2021 8:41 PM

608 Great this is happening. No more non environmental property developer enriching house
building please.. keep land for nature, biodiversity and so that we can all breathe clean air.
Allow only eco building of affordable houses for local people.

7/9/2021 8:10 PM

609 A concern is that if edges of long grass are cut will animals be at risk of harm? If not left uncut
these borders may need checking first Prehapes by volunteers who could survey the wild life
and plants. I agree with the initial plot size but where practical prehapes increase slightly at a
later date. Edges between walls and paths could be left where this does not cause slip and trip
hazards.

7/9/2021 8:07 PM

610 Promote the outcomes of the initiative to the community and schools etc so that more people
understand the benefits and don’t think that the natural state of things is cut grass and neat
row of panspermia and daffodils!

7/9/2021 8:06 PM

611 This is great news. The more the better! 7/9/2021 7:44 PM
Page 155



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

42 / 48

612 Your just trying to cut costs based on one single unpublished masters dissertation. Hardly
conclusive evidence.

7/9/2021 7:39 PM

613 I would like to see every area left for wildlife meadows or trees, except sport fields and some
verges, where visibility for traffic might be an issue. I sincerely hope the proposed planting of
"wildflowers" mean native species only as they need all the help they can get. Many so called
"wildflower seed mixes are not native.

7/9/2021 7:33 PM

614 I am very supportive of this initiative but feel you could be far more ambitious than 10%
(appreciating there are areas needed for sports etc..). Even having smaller areas of
wildflowers, strips etc.. can provide wildlife corridors. Key is to go for diversity of planting. I
would also like to see the council pledge to stop using any chemical fertilisers or herbicides
and focus on soil health of all its land in order to re-build organic matter in the soil. When
considering the tree planting, it would be brilliant to look at some of the forest garden options
which could provide crops or food or other benefits. The council has a real opportunity to lead
the way and show how individuals can make a difference in their gardens too.

7/9/2021 7:29 PM

615 There are many small green areas around housing developments, whether council or private, it
would be good to see the Council work with communities to encourage bio-diversity, and
support the communities in their understanding of what can be achieved (and that biodiversity
is not always tidy!).

7/9/2021 7:11 PM

616 Never use glyphosate. Let the weeds grow in Totnes, especially the Mexican fleabane. 7/9/2021 6:57 PM

617 Fantastic initiative which will really help with public education and changing mindsets. Thank
you SHDC.

7/9/2021 6:32 PM

618 Where you allow planning permission needs looking at. Also there should be stipulations in
planning to leave green wildlife corridors.

7/9/2021 6:28 PM

619 Well done for these proposals, it is a start but I feel you can go further. In total you are only
going to rewild 25% of your green areas. I would aim for more. I would also hope to encourage
some areas of tree planting and where you suggest creating wildflower meadows make sure if
seeding to use only local seeds and those of species native and local to your area. Nice
though it is to see lots of annuals like poppy/corn cockle/ cornflowers. They’re not that local.
Chat to the moor meadows group, they will have good advice and experience around meadow
development

7/9/2021 6:00 PM

620 I’d love to see you encourage more rewilding and if possible be even more ambitious as we are
in a climate and nature emergency with so many species on the brink of collapse, while we
continue to develop fields and put the economy first (I appreciate people need housing, but we
don’t ‘need’ more second homes). It’s widely accepted the goal should be at least 30% (of land
and sea) for nature by 2030. Could the council commit to giving over at least 30% of their land
to rewilding, hedgerows, ponds, orchards, meadows, and other biodiversity boosting habitats?
Thank you for considering these ideas

7/9/2021 5:48 PM

621 All spraying to be stopped. Look at alternatives such as hot water (steam pressure) salt etc. 7/9/2021 5:44 PM

622 Also look into creating habitats for wild creatures like hedgehogs, voles, foxes etc. 7/9/2021 5:34 PM

623 Bi 7/9/2021 5:14 PM

624 Excellent set of proposals for the sake of us all I hope all are implemented asap. Thank you. 7/9/2021 5:12 PM

625 To encourage and allow bird boxes to be put in place on council property. In particular to
address the need for swift boxes on existing properties or even better the installation of
unobtrusive swift bricks on any new building . For any advice please feel free to contact me at

7/9/2021 5:12 PM

626 I support this intent completely. It is vital to encourage wildlife and plant biodiversity. Uncut
grass looks wonderful, especially if it is a mix of grasses. Cut back on weedkiller and
pesticides use as well. Get advice from PAN UK. And go for pesticide free towns through PAN.
Refuse planning applications that do have adaptations for CO2 reduction and biodiversity.

7/9/2021 5:00 PM

627 I think this is a fantastic idea and i really commend you for taking this initiative - we are facing
a biodiversity crisis and we all urgently need to change the way we live and manage our land.
Thanks so much for undertaking this work.

7/9/2021 4:54 PM

628 Community owned and managed spaces for biodiversity - e.g. through local wildlife trust 7/9/2021 4:43 PM
Page 156



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

43 / 48

groups. Eliminate pesticide usage Use the Plantlife Good Verge Guide to dictate verge mowing
regime. Set target for 30% of land and sea to be protected locally for wildlife by 2030, in line
with national and international commitments from our government. Aim for at least 20%
biodiversity net gain from all new developments in the local area. Strengthen the local plan to
take spatial biodiversity information into account when allocating housing (e.g. the nature
recovery network and biodiversity opportunity areas) Embed Wilbelt (see wildlife trusts) within
local planning to ensure there is space for nature's recovery locally and reaching the goal of
30% of land and sea restored for nature by 2030.

629 Encourage Housing associations to do the same on their land 7/9/2021 4:39 PM

630 Include more relaxed hedge management too. Plant trees. 7/9/2021 4:34 PM

631 There is diverse wildlife already extant in the area...the only threat is the rampant housing
developments being approved locally.

7/9/2021 4:32 PM

632 The council should also look at planting more fruit trees and bushes and berries on council
land to provide food for birds and animals and enable local people to engage with where food
come from by foraging and eating from a local seasonal and sustainable source.

7/9/2021 4:25 PM

633 Limit grass cutting to once a year and only where absolutely necessary. No more second
homes built or sold. All remaining housing stock and development for full time south hams
residents to avoid the need for anymore greenfield developments. Free education and
subsidised resources for anyone who wants to rewild their own land. Stop farmers flailing the
hedges so brutally. There is scarcely anything left of them, especially after the winter cut.
Active engagement of residents with rewilding schemes - webcams, infrared cameras on
nests/burrows etc so people can see what we are protecting. Read the comments on the
Facebook page this survey was linked from.

7/9/2021 4:03 PM

634 I am running a successful bird box project in our Parish. This is very simple and promotes
community involvement. Materials are sustainably sourced. We have professional RSPB
guidance. With some basic funding this could be further piloted and launched more widely
across the South Hams.

7/9/2021 3:56 PM

635 Bravo! excellent proposals. 7/9/2021 3:47 PM

636 As a village (loddiswell) we are fully supportive of rewilding and it has been a discussion point
lately. I agree with rewilding, but we need to be mindful of the rise in tick bites and limes
disease increases if we just cut paths through long grass. Also the things that are out
competing, like cow parsley, balsam etc must be cut back too.

7/9/2021 3:23 PM

637 Really important that the council do this, setting an example and inspiring others to do the
same! This has been so long coming… we must all do what we can and do it now!! Thanku

7/9/2021 3:12 PM

638 I would like to see more small copse areas planted and let to rewild 7/9/2021 3:08 PM

639 Information boards about benefits of wild flower meadows 7/9/2021 2:55 PM

640 In Newton Ferrers I have already turned my two small patches of grass into wild grass
meadows, now 18 inches high, and to accommodate the hunting of my small wall lizard
population the surround of my paved patio has been left to grow mosses medium weeds and to
my surprise self seeded buttercups and sisirhynchium. See the roundabouts in Eastbourne
which are a joy.

7/9/2021 2:54 PM

641 I would urge the council to stop using harmful herbicides on verges and pavements. It’s
wonderful to see SHDC proactively taking steps to support our desperately fragile ecosystems,
but if it continues to use these poisonous charcoal to combat weeds, it’s giving with one hand
and taking away with the other.

7/9/2021 2:42 PM

642 You must prioritise wildlife rich meadows and areas over development.This is your watch, do
not dispose of our natural heritage, at any price

7/9/2021 2:41 PM

643 The council could also think about increasing its use of vertical spaces e.g. green walls 7/9/2021 2:23 PM

644 We have a small group of residents in Riverside Road in Dittisham who are keen to rewind the
verge at their own expense but we need the council’s support to ensure car parking is slightly
restricted in order to do this. We have asked the Parish Council for their support too. Please

7/9/2021 2:09 PM

Page 157



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

44 / 48

can we explored this with the Highways authority. Regards 

645 Please begin by educating schoolchildren and the general public about how essential it is to
help enhance biodiversity Please scatter wildflower seeds to all road verges and roundabouts
Please assess town and village trees and put in place many more Preservation Orders Plant
as many young trees as you can Community bee hives?

7/9/2021 2:01 PM

646 This initiative has my wholehearted support, well done and thank you. I would urge the council
to also reduce or eliminate the use of herbicides and insecticides on its estate.

7/9/2021 2:00 PM

647 I have written to the council to put forward these ideas in the past and I am very glad they are
being acted upon. I do feel there is far too much hedge cutting. Birds and animals need hedges
and trees for protection and food during the winter weather. This needs to be considered too.

7/9/2021 1:58 PM

648 Persuade the farmers to do the same on the peripheries of their land. They will find that they
need to use less pesticides in the process. I used to live in West Sussex and the Arundel
estate practice this with great sucsess.

7/9/2021 1:58 PM

649 It's welcome but it's not nearly ambitious enough in order to address the widespread loss of
biodiversity. The default should be that all Council land is managed primarily for nature. And
the change needs to happen at scale and pace - we need leadership from the Council so that
its land management acts as an exemplar that others can follow.

7/9/2021 1:58 PM

650 stop giving planning permission to homes that do not meet local need, are not built to carbon
targets and destroy biodiversity

7/9/2021 1:57 PM

651 Consultation and communication are important 7/9/2021 1:33 PM

652 I fully support this action; it is long overdue. 7/9/2021 1:30 PM

653 Please plant more trees as well as rewinding. Please explore micro foresting - richly bio
diverse forests that can be as small as a tennis court

7/9/2021 1:30 PM

654 No - apart from it’s a very good initiative and I hope it is implemented in full 7/9/2021 1:26 PM

655 Consultation with the public is of paramount importance. How will SHDC promulgate their plans
before taking a decision to proceed?

7/9/2021 1:22 PM

656 They sound fabulous, well done! Having seen the rewilding work carried out at Dittiscombe
Farm outside Slapton, could I recommend that you talk to  about what
they've learned over the 24 years they've been working to fully rewild Dittiscombe valley?

7/9/2021 1:12 PM

657 The areas that are already left wild are full of rubbish and look a mess! Stop building new
houses, every bit of space available you either build on or it is a rubbish collection point. Our
country and countryside needs tidying up and our green spaces farmed to feed us all. This will
all provide jobs which in turn will improve mental health. What is the meaning of rural - this
word will be extinct soon.

7/9/2021 1:09 PM

658 I think that this is an excellent idea. I am very much in favour of not mowing verges (where it
does not impede visibility) and amenity spaces. The introduction of more wildflowers too
(native species, preferably with a local provenance only though). The preservation of and
creation of wildlife corridors reduction in the use of pesticides and weedkillers. Also signage to
educate people about the wildlife and need to preserve it. I have just suggested to our village
that we "re wild" our verges and have been met with a very enthusiastic response, it would be
lovely to see this across the whole of the South Hams.

7/9/2021 1:07 PM

659 To support such proposals locally, I would need absolute clarity as to (i) how much if any
money would be saved by who by not cutting grass; (ii) what would be done with any money
saved; and (iii) who exactly would be responsible for the ongoing management and
maintenance of uncut grass, towards ensuring that any local responsibilities truly have the
knowledge, will, manpower and respect for others, such that these uncut areas of grass are not
imposed by an active minority against tradition and expectation, for example in churchyards
and cemeteries, nor that uncut areas of grass are allowed to become seed banks for
recognised weeds that then infect neighbouring properties.

7/9/2021 1:07 PM

660 Plant more trees 7/9/2021 1:03 PM

661 These are great questions and great start but I think a 10% increase by 2025 in biodiversity in
green spaces is not enough of a stretch target.

7/9/2021 12:41 PM

Page 158



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

45 / 48

662 I think any other opportunities that might present themselves to create more wildflower and
tree planting should be seized with both hands and have my full support.

7/9/2021 12:29 PM

663 No 7/9/2021 12:28 PM

664 Please adopt the policy that 'unless there's a reason NOT to, all public land should be
managed more sympathetically for nature through a combination of allowing some areas of
grass to grow longer/hedge&tree planting and wildflower seeding etc

7/9/2021 12:23 PM

665 I ticked no to pathways mainly because of the disturbance if the segments are small but I
don’t object to a few paths in large areas. It would probably keep people off the wilding bits.
Could the council co-ordinate a template for activities for community groups? Perhaps there is
one? I was thinking about citizen scientist observations at a community level that fed Devon
data bases and that sort of thing.

7/9/2021 12:09 PM

666 Excellent idea. Read Rewilding by Isabella Tree for more ideas. 7/9/2021 12:08 PM

667 Ensure that the areas are managed by people trained in ecology and diversity. Explain to the
general public that the area will not always be in bloom and/or ‘beat and tidy’ and that nature is
messy. Educate youngsters and old folk alike about the value of long grasses for invertebrates
and for small fauna.

7/9/2021 11:57 AM

668 Put some more areas into wild areas 7/9/2021 11:48 AM

669 Planting herbs and fruit trees 7/9/2021 11:43 AM

670 Carefully consider what varieties of wildflower you plan to use to maximise benefits for the
local wildlife.

7/9/2021 11:39 AM

671 Regularly check and clear litter and rubbish. Stop trying to kill trees and shrubs with strimmers.
Natural rain water drainage..

7/9/2021 11:23 AM

672 Excellent proposals. This approach should also be introduced into building planning locally:
require developers to provide wild green spaces, tree planting, to pay towards local rewilding.
2) Please try to ensure rewilded spaces are publically accessible and blended with recreation
and social opportunities as well as green job creation.

7/9/2021 11:22 AM

673 Based on personal observation and scientific studies I believe we are in ecological crises and
public policy should acknowledge this and do everything in its power to address this. All
Council policies should hold the need to restore ecosystems wherever possible at their core
and acknowledge that rewilding is, in essence, something that should be nature led rather than
human engineered. Public spaces, building control, traffic design etc should all be oriented to a
baseline of protection of our environment and an intention of increasing biodiversity both in
quality and in scope across the South Hams.

7/9/2021 11:20 AM

674 This is a brilliant initiative. Thank you. You could engage with local sustainability groups and/or
parish and town councils - provide them with maps of the land you own and ask them to come
up with proposals. You might be able to re-route funds which you would have spent on that
land to help fund the project which the group comes up with if appropriate. Exeter are doing
this where community groups take on some road verges - perhaps that approach could be
trialled here. You own quite a few car parks - perhaps there's an opportunity there. All in all -
this is great and I bet this is Phase 1 of a longer term approach. The point is to start - which
you are doing. Thank you.

7/9/2021 11:09 AM

675 Yes please to anything you can do to support declining biodiversity 7/9/2021 11:04 AM

676 amazing idea! support support support! 7/9/2021 10:57 AM

677 I think it's an excellent idea - well done to all of you for doing this! This crisis is very real and
any actions you can take to help climate and biodiversity are essential and should not be
prevented by those who still want to see flat deserts of cut grass. I would also encourage you
to ensure that any new wildflower meadows are full of local, native species and not annual
meadow mixes.

7/9/2021 10:57 AM

678 Planting native trees would be helpful too. 7/9/2021 10:55 AM

679 Long grass and hedges must not stop the safe view at road junctions. Stop digging up fields
for housing otherwise we will have nowhere to plant wild flowers.

7/9/2021 10:40 AM

Page 159



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

46 / 48

680 It’s great to see the Council is finally taking action, now stop building on every inch of land. 7/9/2021 10:30 AM

681 A good start and also do some PR & publicity to explain and encourage other landowners and
gardeners

7/9/2021 10:22 AM

682 Leaving uncut grass looks a real mess. 7/9/2021 10:04 AM

683 This is long overdue. Let Mother Nature rule again 7/9/2021 9:30 AM

684 Reduce close cutting of grass in cemeteries - in particular Shadycombe Cemetery in Salcombe
- to allow wildlife to thrive. Frequency of cutting should be reduced, and when
mowing/strimming does take place it should leave a taller sward. Currently such close mowing
is done that grass root systems are damaged and all nectar providing small flowers are
decimated - this removes food for insects and ground cover for small mammals and
reptiles/amphibians. Currently this has impacted slow work populations there, and we have lost
the buzzards which used to feed there, and their presence would keep destructive seagulls and
corvids away.

7/9/2021 9:11 AM

685 These are good ideas which have obvious benefits. The Council should also engage &
encourage other landowners to improve their land management, especially that of hedgerows.

7/9/2021 9:03 AM

686 Next housing developments should come with substantial new plantings so that new residents
have the woods and meadows they need for their mental and physical health. Hedges on
public land should be managed less brutally, cut every other year or ideally laid by volunteers

7/9/2021 8:46 AM

687 excellent initiative which, if successful could be expanded further, Side benefit could be
reduction of maintenance costs. Some of this could be used to promote the idea of rewilding
on private property, providing nest boxes on public plots, insect (incl bee) nests - bee hives
and organised sessions for the public to learn about conservation

7/9/2021 8:29 AM

688 Brilliant idea. I think the aesthetic argument is a tricky one ( I think it looks beautiful but that’s
very subjective) but you cannot argue with the benefits for nature and our environment. I also
think it’s a decision for future generations ( so should be selfless)

7/9/2021 8:12 AM

689 I would love to see part of the field at KEVICC turned into a wildlife park rather than housing. I
would also like to see the council give incentive for landlords in places like the Totnes
industrial estate to improve biodiversity by not mowing and planting instead. I’m mindful that
contractors need work and fear that rewilding means doing nothing - the council should ensure
that this is about changing job specs to maintaining, planting and caring for green spaces
rather than mowing and strimming them to the detriment of wildlife and nobody loses their jobs.

7/9/2021 7:20 AM

690 Thank you for considering this action. Go as far as possible and then go much further! The
crisis we are facing is terrifying. Anyone complaining about things looking untidy needs to be
deterred by clear information on why it’s happening. Torbay’s recent planting of wildflower beds
instead of formal planting looked beautiful and were very well received.

7/9/2021 5:27 AM

691 Its a great idea, I would just like to see it happen across more of Council land if at all possible. 7/9/2021 3:44 AM

692 It all sounds great. Thank you for supporting this initiative. But please do keep learning and
growing and teaching.

7/9/2021 12:22 AM

693 10 % is not a big enough target. We should end this obsession with 'neatess' and where growth
does not damage infrastructure it shoukd be encouraged.

7/8/2021 11:25 PM

694 I find it sad that two entire fields at Locks Hill in Kingsbridge which had become a mini nature
preserve over time have been completely stripped out for a new development. At the same
time, SHDC are talking about rewilding small areas.

7/8/2021 11:13 PM

695 How about introducing some beavers? 7/8/2021 10:21 PM

696 I think it would be wonderful for the council to do more for nature and I thoroughly support its
efforts to do so.

7/8/2021 10:18 PM

697 Many of the gardens in the South Hams are lacking any kind of biodiversity due to them being
second homes. There needs to be a hike in council tax for second homes and the resulting
money should go towards biodiversity projects here.

7/8/2021 9:59 PM

698 Replicating tradition wild flower meadow habitat an annual cut late summer, and using yellow
rattle to impoverish the soil.

7/8/2021 9:46 PM

Page 160



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

47 / 48

699 The uncut areas need to include wildflowers. In many places where the grass is uncut, it
provides little benefit as there is little for wildlife. Where grass is going to be left to grow,
please encourage wildflower growth.

7/8/2021 9:42 PM

700 No spraying of weeds and a lot less grass cutting. Green roofs on bus shelters. 7/8/2021 9:23 PM

701 Plant wild flowers, hoever council does need to enforce homeowners with hedges along paths
to keep them cut back, too many paths are impassable and when long grass verges are wet
hard to walk on a path

7/8/2021 9:20 PM

702 Stop allowing developers to plough up beautiful land then SDHC wouldn’t have to spend money
planting wild flowers. Biodiversity is already there. Locks Hill in Kingsbridge would have been a
great start. You are allowing the developers to laugh at you and completely disrespect the
community.

7/8/2021 9:10 PM

703 Increase wildflower seeding in suitable areas. Some places need grass to be cut more
frequently such as road junctions in rural areas where visibility is a safety issue. Prohibit
HGVs using “ unsuitable for HGVs” lanes as they damage trees and hedgerows. The proposals
are insignificant compared to the extra houses being built without any regard to the loss of
grassland, hedgerows and trees.

7/8/2021 9:00 PM

704 Proper wild space does not have signs telling you what to do or where or where you can go.
Please don't spoil the "wildness" by horrible signs. The parks and public gardens if my
childhood were full of signs telling me to "Keep off the grass". Can we please move forward a
create an environment where we trust people to treat it well. Signs do not stop those without
respect and ruin the world for those who really appreciate the wildness.

7/8/2021 8:22 PM

705 Must be usable space - so path cutting is a great solution. It will still need management -
invasive species removal etc. So cost savings may not come to be realised

7/8/2021 8:17 PM

706 I think this style of rewilding/allowing grass to grow looks really nice when I've seen it in other
areas and it would be great to see it here

7/8/2021 8:12 PM

707 Please make sure that the paths cut through the grass are wide and flat enough for a
wheelchair user/ those with other mobility aids to safely maneuver through. It would also be
good to include benches if the paths are long, so that those who need to rest more frequently
can enjoy the wild areas too

7/8/2021 8:09 PM

708 I think the council should push developers of new homes to enhance biodiversity. I live in the
Harford mews development in Ivybridge and there are few of the trees planted that are shown
on the plans. There are green spaces but they are just short grass where some could easily by
wildflowers, community orchards etc. There should be more community green spaces where
residents can connect better with nature. Also more walking and cycle paths to connect people
with green spaces

7/8/2021 8:03 PM

709 I think verges along roads should continue to be maintained and kept short to ensure visibility
and safety of road users and pedestrians. However other than that there's loads of areas of
land and parks etc. where improving biodiversity is a great aim. I also think you should
consider projects to encourage locals to use the space they own to improve the biodiversity
and planting. You don't need much space to install a pond or plant a shrub or some wildflowers.
It would be interesting if you conducted wildlife surveys in the local area before, after and 5
years after to see the real impact it has had

7/8/2021 7:43 PM

710 Please incorporate footpaths and traffic free cycle routes in your plans for wild spaces as well
desperately need ways to connect with the countryside on foot and by bike. Particularly where
I live in Churchstow which does not have a single public footpath running from it and is penned
in by roads.

7/8/2021 7:39 PM

711 There are many areas such as grass verges where public do not walk and can be left for wild
flowers

7/8/2021 7:23 PM

712 Great plan. Now to turn down plans for housing on green field areas ... (actual meadows). 7/8/2021 7:08 PM

713 Even small spaces can make a big difference to wildlife. In my opinion, allowing spaces to
become a little wilder rather than cut formally short is definitely the right choice - it can look so
much more beautiful too!

7/8/2021 6:53 PM

714 That Kingsbridge in Bloom be consulted as they do wonders around town too and the
Community Garden volunteers. Need ponds too...perhaps raised ones or bog gardens for toads

7/8/2021 6:52 PM

Page 161



South Hams' Biodiversity Survey

48 / 48

etc and Hedgehog feeding stations and nestboxes in the Parks wild areas under hedges and
trees.

715 I’m so pleased to see the South Hams tackling this issue and leading the way with Plymouth.
Please continue to require developers to achieve ambitious net gains on their projects. I have
a suggestion for a local project to me in Ivybridge, the long verges on Cornwood Road in
Ivybridge could be planted with wildflowers to provide habitat from the a38 to the moor, mirror
the lovely Devon hedges and provide a more pleasing look for visitors.

7/8/2021 6:08 PM

716 Please continue to cut areas around junctions as it makes it hard to see oncoming traffic Very
excited to see wildflowers growing next spring

7/8/2021 4:57 PM

717 All verges and roundabouts etc should be left uncut and only trimmed when there is a hazard
to road users or pedestrians. Cut a path through a verge if required rather than cutting the
whole thing. Bring in more wetlands and ponds for wildlife. Take over the "lake" and Filham and
let it be used for wildlife as currently its a resource enjoyed by a select few and badly managed
as a fishery. Enourage residents to grow their grass long and provide free wildflower seed.

7/8/2021 4:27 PM

718 I would like to see stronger protection for existing trees and hedges. 7/8/2021 4:20 PM

719 Pass spare seeds on to residents who may want some. 7/8/2021 4:15 PM

720 I would welcome the proposals to leave verges uncut unless they provide a safety hazard to
road users.

7/8/2021 3:20 PM

721 More hedges: New and existing hedges protected. Wildlife corridors introduced. 7/8/2021 3:16 PM

722 You are not going far enough, it should be rewilding 100% except where it interferes with road
junction visibility.

7/8/2021 3:14 PM

723 Having watched the Wild about Devon webinar I'm interested in helping but dont have to skills
or knowledge to know where to start, more information of how people can help in individual
areas would be good.

7/8/2021 3:01 PM

Page 162


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Public Question Time
	6 Executive Forward Plan
	7 Response to the Housing Crisis
	Appendix 1 – Downsizing policy
	Appendix 2 – Letter to Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, Michael Gove MP.
	Appendix 3a – Previous report to Executive on Housing Company
	Appendix 3b – Previous report to Executive on Housing Company

	8 Tenancy Strategy Review 2020/21
	Appendix 1: Tenancy Strategy 2016
	Appendix 2: Reviewed Tenancy Strategy 2021
	1.	Introduction 
	2.	Corporate Priorities
	3.	The Local Housing Market
	Affordable Housing Stock

	Our expectations on Affordable and Social Rent
	5.	Charge no more than 2 weeks rent in advance
	6.	Types of Tenancy 
	Our expectations on the Type of Tenancies 
	Our expectations on Tenancy Renewal 

	7.	Co-operate with the Councils to make the best use of stock
	8.	Disposal of Affordable Housing 
	Our expectations on Disposal 
of Affordable Housing 
	Registered Providers Tenancy Policies 

	9.	Equal Opportunities
	10.	Monitoring and Review 
	Appendix 1 - Local Housing Allowance Rates 
	Appendix 2 - 
Registered Providers 
Tenancy Policies 
	Advice if you are worried about paying rent in advance

	Appendix 3: Summary of consultation responses

	9 Planning Improvement Plan - Phase 2 Resources
	10 Write-Off Report
	11 Enhancing Biodiversity on Council Green Spaces - Consultation Feedback
	Appendix 1 – South Hams Biodiversity Survey results


	Contents 3: 
	Page 1: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 

	Forward Page 3: 
	Page 1: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 

	Back page 3: 
	Page 1: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 

	Contents 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 

	Forward Page 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 

	Back page 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 



